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March 22, 2013
Dear Fellow Stockholders:

As we reflect on 2012, we are pleased to report that we continued our positive earnings growth year over year and continued
to expand our operational footprint. From the outset, we designed Preferred Apartment Communities as a multifamily REIT
that we believed would be transparent to our stockholders, that would seek to minimize financial risk, and that would enable
us to pursue a variety of capital raising avenues to support our multifamily acquisition program. Having quickly deployed
the net proceeds from our IPO in 2011, we focused on paying dividends to all of our stockholders out of net cash provided by
operating activities, managing financial risk, and enhancing our brand, "A Preferred Apartment Community" in the
marketplace.

For 2012, our net cash provided by operating activities was $4,178,941, compared to aggregate dividends declared on our
Common Stock and Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock of $3,302,779. Since our IPO, we've increased our Common
Stock annualized dividend 16% to $0.58 per share. We will continue to focus on our operating results as we grow our
company both organically and through acquisitions, which should allow us to continue to raise our Common Stock dividends.

Although we did not acquire any multifamily communities during 2012, we did acquire three communities in January 2013
representing a total of 928 additional units to our portfolio. We financed the acquisitions using equity raised from a $40
million private placement of Series B Preferred Stock that automatically converts into our Common Stock following
stockholder approval of the conversion at our May 9, 2013 annual meeting of stockholders, and the balance from refinancing
the debt on each of the properties with seven-year, nonrecourse mortgage financing. None of the mortgage financings are
cross-collateralized with each other or have any upstream guaranties to Preferred Apartment Communities or our operating
partnership.

In addition, during the past year we entered into three new mezzanine loan investments with third parties pursuant to which
we received options to acquire at prenegotiated prices the multifamily communities being constructed with the proceeds from
these loans. Our pipeline now consists of options to acquire an aggregate of 792 multifamily units under construction,
together with another 342 units planned to be developed in connection with a land acquisition bridge loan we funded in 2012
and for which we expect to receive an option to purchase. We believe the purchase price set forth in each option agreement
reflects a discount to the fair market value of the community to be acquired based upon our net operating income and
capitalization rate projections for that community.

As we previously have indicated, one of our objectives is to increase the market capitalization of our company. In this
regard, we continue to move forward with our $150 million Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock and Warrant Unit offering.
We are pleased to report that, as of the date of this letter, approximately 65% of the warrants that have been issued in
connection with this offering are now in-the-money, subject to a one-year vesting period following the respective issuance
dates of the warrants. We also paid our executive officers and independent directors solely in equity-based compensation for
their services during 2012 to better align their interests with those of all of our stockholders.

We believe we achieved great results for our stockholders for 2012 and look forward to advancing these efforts in 2013. On
behalf of our board of directors and our management team, we truly thank you for your continued support, trust and
confidence in Preferred Apartment Communities.

Very truly yours,

A i00d-

John A. Williams Leonard A. Silverstein
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer President and Chief Operating Officer
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PART I

ThisAnnual Report onForm 10-K contai nsforward-looking statementswithinthemeaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act. Our actual results could differ materially from those set forth in each forward-looking statement. Certain factors
that might cause such a difference are discussed in this report, including in the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements’
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should also review Item 1A., “Risk Factors,” for a discussion of
variousrisksthat could adversely affect us. Unlessthe context otherwise requires or indicates, referencesto the " Company”, "we",
"our" or "us' refersto Preferred A partment Communities, Inc., aMaryland corporation, together with its consolidated subsidiaries,
including Preferred A partment Communities Operating Partnership, L.P,, or our Operating Partnership.

Item 1. Business
Development of the Company

Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc. was formed as a Maryland corporation on September 18, 2009, and has elected
to betaxed asarea estateinvestment trust, or REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the"Code"), effective
with itstax year ended December 31, 2011. The Company was formed primarily to acquire and operate multifamily propertiesin
sel ect targeted marketsthroughout the United States. Aspart of our business strategy, we may enter into forward purchase contracts
or purchase options for to-be-built multifamily communities, and we may make mezzanine loans, provide deposit arrangements
or provide performance assurances, as may be necessary or appropriate, in connection with the construction of multifamily
communitiesand other properties. Asasecondary strategy, we may acquire or originate senior mortgage loans, subordinated loans
or mezzanine debt secured by interests in multifamily properties, membership or partnership interests in multifamily properties
and other multifamily related assets and invest not more than 10% of our total assets in other real estate related investments, as
determined by our external manager and advisor, Preferred A partment Advisors, LLC, or our Manager, aDelawarelimited liability
company and arelated party. We have no employeesof our own; our Manager providesall managerial and administrative personnel
touspursuant tothe Third Amended and Restated M anagement Agreement, dated May 13, 2011, among the Company, the Operating
Partnership and the Manager, or the Management Agreement. Our Manager is controlled by John A. Williams, our Chairman of
the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer.

At December 31, 2012, we owned three multifamily communities with atotal of 765 unitsin three states. We aso held
six rea estate loans, four of which are mezzanine loans which partially finance the construction of new multifamily communities
that contain exclusive options to purchase the to-be-developed properties and two of which are bridge loans. If we ultimately
exercise al the purchase options, the transactions would add another 792 units to our portfalio.

We completed our initial public offering, or the IPO, on April 5, 2011. Our common stock, par value $.01 per share, or
Common Stock, istraded on the NY SE MKT exchange under the symbol APTS.

Our consolidated financial statementsinclude the accounts of the Company and the Operating Partnership. The Company
controls the Operating Partnership through its sole general partnership interest and plans to conduct substantially all its business
through the Operating Partnership.

On November 18, 2011, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, declared effective our registration statement
on Form S-11 (registration number 333-176604), as the same may be amended from time to time, or Registration Statement, for
our offering of a minimum of 2,000 and a maximum of 150,000 Units, with each Unit consisting of one share of our Series A
redeemabl e preferred stock, or SeriesA Preferred Stock, and onewarrant, or Warrant, to purchase 20 shares of our Common Stock.
The offering described aboveis described herein asthe Primary Series A Offering and is offered by the deal er manager thereof on
a “reasonable best efforts’ basis. On August 16, 2012, we filed a registration statement on Form S-11 (registration number
333-183355) for afollow-on offering of an additional 850,000 Units, or our Follow-On Offering, which registration statement has
not yet been declared effective by the SEC. The terms of the Follow-On Offering and features of the Units in our Follow-On
Offering are substantially the same as the Primary Series A Offering.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K shall not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy the securities
offered by the Company pursuant to the Registration Statement, nor shall there be any offer or sale of these securities in any
jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities
laws of any such jurisdiction. The offering will be made only by means of a prospectus, as the same may be supplemented from
time to time, which is a part of the Registration Statement.



Financial Information About Segments

We evaluate the performance of our business operations and allocate financial and other resources by assessing the
financial results and outlook for future performance across two distinct segments: multifamily communities and real estate related
financing.

Our multifamily communities segment includes the results of business operations from our three owned residential
multifamily communities, which contributed approximately $10.2 million and $6.9 million to our consolidated revenues for the
twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

Our financing segment consists of the financia results from our portfolio of mezzanine loans, bridge loans and other
financial instrumentswhich partially finance the devel opment, construction and prestabilization carrying costs of new multifamily
communities and other real estate and real estate related assets. The financing segment contributed approximately $2.3 million
and $0.3 million to our consolidated revenues for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively.

Thefinancial measuresrequired by Item 101 of Regulation S-K to be presented in Item 1 areincluded in the Company's
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto in Item 15 of thisAnnua Report on Form 10-K.

Investment Strategy

We seek to maximize returnsfor our stockhol ders by taking advantage of the current environment in thereal estate market
created by the financial crisis and downturn in the United States economy. As the real estate market and economy continue to
stabilizeandimprove, weintend to empl oy efficient management techni questo grow incomeand createasset value. Our investment
strategy may include, without limitation, the following:

e acquiring assets where assets or the owners of assets are overleveraged and/or owners may be struggling to meet current
debt service obligations on such assets, or, in certain circumstances, where owners are financial institutions or conduits
under either legal or economic compulsion to sell;

e acquiring assetsin opportunistic, performing and stable markets throughout the United States;

e acquiring multifamily properties which we believe will generate sustainable and growing cash flow from operations
sufficient to allow usto cover the dividendsthat we expect to declare and pay and which we believe will have the potential
for capital appreciation; and

«  taking advantage of markets where new multifamily development has been below historical averages during the last few
years.

It isour policy to acquire our target assets primarily for income, and only secondarily for possible capital gain. As part
of our business strategy, we may enter into forward purchase contracts or purchase optionsfor to-be-built multifamily communities
and we may make mezzanine loans, provide deposit arrangements, or provide performance assurances, as may be necessary or
appropriate, in connection with the construction of multifamily communities and other properties. As a secondary strategy, we
also may acquire or originate senior mortgage loans, subordinate loans or mezzanine debt secured by interests in multifamily
properties, membership or partnership interestsin multifamily properties and other multifamily related assets and invest not more
than 10% of our total assetsin other real estate related investments, as determined by our manager as appropriate for us.

We also may invest in real estate related debt, including, but not limited to, newly or previously originated first mortgage
loans on multifamily properties that meet our investment criteria, which are performing or non-performing, newly or previously
originated mezzanine loans on multifamily properties that meet our investment criteria (second or subsequent mortgages), which
are performing or non-performing, and tranches of securitized loans (pools of collateralized mortgaged-backed securities) on
multifamily properties that meet our investment criteria, which are performing or non-performing.

Any asset acquisitions from affiliated third parties have been, and will continueto be, subject to approval by our conflicts
committee comprised of independent directors.

Our Manager's investment committee will periodically review our investment portfolio and its compliance with our
investment guidelinesand policies, and provide our board of directorsan investment report at the end of each quarter in conjunction
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with itsreview of our quarterly results. Our investment guidelines, the assetsin our portfolio, the decision to utilize leverage, and
the appropriate levels of leverage are periodically reviewed by our board of directors as part of their oversight of our Manager.
Our board of directors may amend or revise our investment guidelines without a vote of the stockholders.

Our Financing Strategy

We intend to finance the acquisition of investments using various sources of capital, as described in the section entitled
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources’
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Included in the “Significant Developments’ discussion are details
regarding our Primary Series A Offering, our Follow-On Offering, and our private placement of our Series B Preferred Stock,
which was completed in January 2013.

We intend to utilize leverage in making our investments. The number of different investments we will acquire will be
affected by numerousfactors, including the amount of funds availableto us. By operating on aleveraged basis, wewill have more
funds available for our investments. Thiswill alow usto make more investments than would otherwise be possible, resulting in
alarger and more diversified portfolio. Seethe“Risk Factors’ sectionin Item 1.A of thisAnnua Report on Form 10-K for more
information about the risks related to operating on aleveraged basis.

Weintendto target leverage level s (secured and unsecured) between 50% and 65% of thefair market value of our tangible
assets (including our real estate assets, real estate loans, notes receivable, accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents) on
aportfolio basis. As of December 31, 2012, our outstanding debt (both secured and unsecured) was approximately 44.5% of the
value of our tangible assets on a portfolio basis based on our estimates of fair market value at December 31, 2012. Neither our
charter nor our by-laws contain any limitation on the amount of leverage we may use. Our investment guidelines, which can be
amended by our board without stockholder approval, limit our borrowings (secured and unsecured) to 75% of the cost of our
tangibleassetsat thetimeof any new borrowing. Thesetargets, however, will not apply toindividual real estateassetsor investments.
The amount of leverage we will place on particular investments will depend on our Manager's assessment of a variety of factors
which may include the anticipated liquidity and price volatility of the assets in our investment portfolio, the potentia for losses
and extension risk in the portfolio, the availability and cost of financing the asset, our opinion of the creditworthiness of our
financing counterparties, the health of the U.S. economy and the health of the commercial real estate market in general. Inaddition,
factors such as our outlook on interest rates, changes in the yield curve slope, the level and volatility of interest rates and their
associated credit spreads, the underlying collateral of our assetsand our outlook on credit spreadsrel ative to our outlook oninterest
rate and economic performance could all impact our decision and strategy for financing thetarget assets. At the date of acquisition
of each asset, we anticipate that the investment cost for such asset will be substantially similar to its fair market value. However,
subsequent events, including changesin the fair market value of our assets, could result in our exceeding these limits. Finally, we
intend to acquire al our propertiesthrough separate single purpose entities and we intend to finance each of these properties using
debt financing techniques for that property alone without any cross-collateralization to our other multifamily communities or any
guarantees by us or our Operating Partnership. We intend to have no long-term unsecured debt at the Company or Operating
Partnership levels, except for our $15.0 million line of credit.

The leverage may be obtained from a variety of sources including (but not limited to) Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation (Freddie Mac), Federal Nationa Mortgage Association (Fannie Mage), commercial banks, credit companies, insurance
companies, pension funds, endowments, financial services companies and other institutions who wish to provide debt financing
for our assets.

Our secured and unsecured aggregate borrowings are intended by usto be reasonablein relation to our net assets and will
be reviewed by our board of directors at least quarterly. In determining whether our borrowings are reasonable in relation to our
net assets, we expect that our board of directorswill consider many factors, including without limitation, the lending standards of
government-sponsored enterprises, such asFannieM ag, Freddie M ac and other companiesfor loansin connectionwith thefinancing
of multifamily properties, the leverage ratios of publicly traded and non-traded REI Tswith similar investment strategies, whether
we have positive leverage (in that, the board will compare the capitalization rates of our properties to the interest rates on the
indebtedness of such properties) and general market and economic conditions. Thereis no limitation on the amount that we may
borrow for any single investment or the number of mortgages that may be placed on any one property.

Marketing and Branding Strategy

Our Manager intends to brand all apartment communities owned by usas*“ A Preferred Apartment Community”, to make

“A Preferred Apartment Community” atrademarked logo and ultimate tagline for each of our communities that we believe will

signify certain brand and management standards, and intends to obtain all rights to the trademarks, including federal registration
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of the trademarks with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, to secure such brand in connection with such branding.
However, there can be no assurance that such trademarks will be issued. This strategy will allow each individual community to
be part of a centralized marketing and advertising campaign, in addition to property level marketing and advertising. These
campaigns will enhance further the individual property's presence in the marketplace, allowing them to be perceived as premier
over other properties within the marketplace.

On September 17, 2010, we entered into a trademark license and assignment agreement pursuant to which we granted
an exclusive, worldwide, fully-paid, royalty-free license of all our trademarks to our Manager and agreed to assign all of our
trademarksto our Manager upon the applications related to our trademarks being successfully converted to use based applications
with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. Pursuant to this agreement, in March 2012, we assigned these trademarks
to our Manager and concurrently entered into aroyalty-free license agreement for these trademarkswith usaslicensee. Similarly,
in March 2012, our Manager entered into aroyalty-free license agreement with us as licensee with respect to all other intellectual
property of the Manager. The license agreements will terminate automatically upon termination of the Management Agreement,
or upon amaterial breach of alicense agreement that remains uncured for more than 30 days after receipt of notice of such breach.
Following such termination, we will be required to enter into a new arrangement with our Manager in order to continue our rights
tousetheintellectual property. There can be no assurancethat we will be ableto enter into such arrangements on terms acceptable
tous.

Upon the acquisition of additional communities, we plan to implement at each an innovative and unique marketing and
branding strategy by implementing the PAC Concierge, PAC Rewards and PAC Partners programs.

ThePAC Conciergeprogramisacomplimentary servicefor residentsdesigned to offer themthetypeof personal concierge
services that one might expect at a high end resort. The concierge services are provided by a professionaly trained third party
team ready to provide services such as running errands and making dinner reservations, golf tee times and travel arrangements,
aswell as many other services. Our concierge serviceis available to our residents 24/7 by telephone, email or web access through
our unique resident web portal.

The PAC Rewards program allows residents to accumulate and redeem rewards points for services and upgrades, such
as painting an accent wall, carpet cleaning or installing a ceiling fan or kitchen backsplash. Residents may accumulate Preferred
Rewards, for example, when they sign their lease, pay their rent online, enroll in our direct debit/automatic payment program,
renew their leases, or when aresident's referral signsanew lease.

The PAC Partners program establishes reciprocal relationships between a Preferred Apartment Community and
neighborhood businesses to provide our residents with benefits such as discounts, perks and other incentives as an enticement to
frequent those businesses and to support the local community.

Environmental Regulation

We are subject to regulation at the federal, state, and municipal levels and are exposed to potential liability should our
properties or our actions result in damage to the environment or to other persons or properties. These conditions include the
presence or growth of black mold, the presence or use of lead based paint or asbestos, potential leakage of underground storage
tanks, breakage or leaks from sewer lines, and risks pertaining to waste handling. The potential costs of compliance, property
damage restoration, and other costs we could be liable for could be found against us without regard to our fault or knowledge of
such conditions.

In the course of acquiring and owning real estate assets, we engage an independent environmental consulting firm to
perform alevel 1 environmental assessment (and if appropriate, alevel 2 assessment) to identify and mitigate these risks as part
of our due diligence process. We believe these assessment reports provide areasonable basis for discovery of potential hazardous
conditions prior to acquisition. Should any potential environmental risks or conditions be discovered during our due diligence
process, the potential costsof remediationwill be assessed carefully and factored into the cost of acquisition, assuming theidentified
risks and factors are deemed to be manageabl e and within reason. Some risks or conditions may be identified that are significant
enough to cause us to abandon the possibility of acquiring agiven property. Asof December 31, 2012, we have no knowledge of
any material claims made or pending against us with regard to environmental damage for which we may be found liable, nor are
we aware of any potential hazardsto the environment related to any of our propertieswhich could reasonably be expected to result
in amateria loss.



Competition

The multifamily housing industry is highly fragmented and we competefor residentswith alarge number of other quality
apartment communitiesin our target marketswhich areowned by public and private companies, including other REITs. The number
of competitive multifamily propertiesin aparticular market could adversely affect our ability tolease our multifamily communities,
as well as the rents we are able to charge. In addition, other forms of residential properties, including single family housing and
town homes, provide housing alternatives to potential residents of quality apartment communities. The factors we focus on to
compete for residents in our multifamily communities include our high level of resident service, the quality of our apartment
communities(including our landscapi ng and amenity offerings) and thedesirability of our locations. Resident | easesat our apartment
communities are priced competitively based on levels of supply and demand within our target markets and we believe our
communities offer acompelling value to prospective residents.

Available Information

The Company makes available all reportswhich arefiled or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange
Act as soon as reasonably practicable after such material has been filed with, or furnished to, the SEC for viewing or download
free of charge at the Company's website, www.pacapts.com. You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the
SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549, or you may obtain information by calling the SEC
at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an internet address at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy statements and
information statements, and other information, which you may obtain free of charge.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the following risk factors should be
considered carefully in evaluating us and our business. Our business, operating results, prospects and financial condition could
be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face,
but do represent those risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that, as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we deem immaterial also may harm our business.

This “Risk Factors™ section contains references to our “capital stock™ and to our “stockholders.” Unless expressly stated
otherwise, the references to our ““capital stock™ represent our common stock and any class or series of our preferred stock, while
the references to our “stockholders™ represent holders of our common stock and any class or series of our preferred stock.

Risks Related to an Investment in Our Company

Our limited operating history may affect our ability to generate sufficient operating cash flows to make or sustain distributions
to our stockholders and the returns to our stockholders would be adversely affected.

We were incorporated on September 18, 2009, and our Manager was organized on May 18, 2010. Thus, we and our
Manager are both relatively recently formed entities with relatively limited operating histories, and we both may be unable to
successfully operate our businesses or achieve our investment objectives. The past performance of other real estate investment
programs sponsored by our sponsor, John A. Williams, or our Sponsor, or his affiliates may not be indicative of the performance
we may achieve. We have limited income and operating cash flow from which we can make distributions to you. We may not be
able to conduct our business as planned and/or successfully carry out our business as planned.

You should consider our prospectsinlight of therisks, uncertaintiesand difficultiesfrequently encountered by companies
like ours that do not have a substantial operating history, many of which may be beyond our control. Therefore to be successful
in this market, we must among other things:

e identify and acquire investments that further our investment strategy;

e dltract, integrate, motivate and retain qualified personnel to manage our day-to-day operations;

¢ respond to competition both for investment opportunities and potential investors in our Company; and
e build and expand our operations structure to support our business.

We cannot guarantee that we will succeed in achieving these goals, and our failure to do so could limit our ability to
make or sustain distributions to our stockholders and the returns to our stockholders would be adversely affected.
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We differ from prior programs sponsored by our Sponsor in a number of respects, and therefore, the past performance of
those programs may not be indicative of our future results.

The past performance of prior investment programs sponsored by our Sponsor, is not necessarily indicative of our future
results and you should not rely on such past performance to predict our future results. Our business is different in a number of
respectsfrom the operations of prior programsand our portfolioisunlikely to mirror the portfolios of the prior programs, resulting
in returnsto our stockholders that vary from those generated by those prior programs. The prior programs of our Sponsor, which
were generally conducted through privately held entities, were not subject to the up-front commissions, fees and expenses
associated with public offerings, thelimitationsonleverageassociated with apublic program, or to many of thelawsand regul ations
to which we are and will be subject. Further, Post Properties, Inc., apublicly held REIT founded by our Sponsor, operated under
substantially different investment guidelines and economic conditions than we face in our business. As aresult of all these and
other factors, you should not assume that your investment will generate returns, if any, comparable to those experienced by
investors in the prior programs sponsored by our Sponsor or his affiliates.

Our ability to grow the Company and execute our business strategy may be impaired if we are unable to secure adequate
financing.

Our ability to grow the Company and execute our business strategy depends on our access to an appropriate blend of debt
financing, including unsecured lines of credit and other forms of secured and unsecured debt, and equity financing, including
common and preferred equity. Currently, we do not have any agreements or letters of intent in place for any debt financing sources
other than our $15.0 million revolving line of credit facility, or the Credit Facility, which we intend to amend by increasing the
amount available. Recently, domestic and international financial markets have experienced unusual volatility and uncertainty.
Liquidity has tightened in overall financial markets, including the debt and equity capital markets. The dislocation in the credit
markets has had a negative effect on the ability of purchasers of real estate to obtain financing. Consequently, there is greater
uncertainty regarding our ability to access the credit markets in order to attract financing on reasonable terms. Debt or equity
financing may not be available in sufficient amounts, on favorable terms or at all. Returns on our assets and our ability to make
acquisitions could be adversely affected by our inability to secure financing on reasonable terms, if at all. Additionally, if weissue
additional equity securities to finance our investments instead of incurring debt (through our Primary Series A Offering or other
offerings), the interests of our existing stockholders could be diluted.

We may suffer from delays in locating suitable investments, which could adversely affect the return on your investment.

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to make distributions to our stockholders is dependent upon our
Manager's performance in the acquisition of, and arranging of financing for, investments, as well as our property manager's
performance in the selection of residents and the negotiation of leases. The current market for propertiesthat meet our investment
objectives is highly competitive, as is the leasing market for such properties. The more proceeds we raise in current and future
offerings of our securities, the greater our challenge will be to invest all the net offering proceeds on attractive terms. You will
not have the opportunity to evaluate the terms of transactions or other economic or financial data concerning our investments.
You must rely entirely on the oversight of our board of directors, the management ability of our Manager and the performance
of our Manager and property manager. We cannot be sure that our Manager will be successful in obtaining suitable investments
on financially attractive terms.

Additionally, as a public company, we are subject to ongoing reporting requirements under the Exchange Act. Pursuant
to the Exchange Act, we may be required to file with the SEC financial statements of properties we acquire and investments we
makein real estate-related assets. To the extent any required financial statements are not available or cannot be obtained, we will
not be able to acquire the investment. As aresult, we may be unable to acquire certain properties or real estate-related assets that
otherwisewould beasuitableinvestment. Wecoul d suffer delaysin our investment acqui sitionsdueto thesereporting requirements.

Furthermore, if we acquire properties prior to, during, or upon completion of construction, it will typically take several
months following completion of construction to rent available space. Therefore, you could suffer delays in the receipt of
distributions attributable to those particular properties.

Delays we encounter in the selection and acquisition of investments could adversely affect your returns. In addition, if
we are unable to invest the proceeds of any offering of our securitiesin real properties and real estate-related assetsin atimely
manner, wewill hold the proceeds of those offeringsin an interest-bearing account, invest the proceedsin short-term, investment-
grade investments, which generate lower returns than we anticipate with our target assets, or, ultimately, liquidate. In such an
event, our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the returns to our stockholders would be adversely affected.
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We face competition from other apartment communities and housing alternatives for tenants, and we face competition from
other acquirers of apartment communities for investment opportunities, both of which may limit our profitability and returns
to you.

The residential apartment community industry is highly competitive. This competition could reduce occupancy levels
and revenuesat our apartment communities, whichwoul d adversely affect our operations. Weface competition from many sources,
including from other apartment communities both in the immediate vicinity and the geographic market where our apartment
communities are and will be located. Overbuilding of apartment communities may occur. If overbuilding does occur, this would
increase the number of apartment units available and may decrease occupancy and unit rental rates.

Furthermore, apartment communities we acquire most likely compete, or will compete, with numerous housing
alternativesin attracting tenants, including single- and multi-family homes available to rent or purchase. Competitive housing in
aparticular area and the increasing affordability of single- and multi-family homes available to rent or buy caused by declining
mortgage interest rates and government programs to promote home ownership could adversely affect our ability to retain our
tenants, lease apartment units and increase or maintain rental rates.

The competition for apartment communities may significantly increase the price we must pay for assets we seek to
acquire, and our competitors may succeed in acquiring those assets themselves. In addition, our potential acquisition targets may
find our competitorsto be more attractive because they may have greater resources, may bewilling to pay more for the properties
or may have a more compatible operating philosophy. In particular, larger apartment REITs may enjoy significant competitive
advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost of capital and enhanced operating efficiencies. In addition, the
number of entities and the amount of funds competing for suitable investment properties may increase. This competition will
result inincreased demand for these assets and therefore increased pricespaid for them. Because of an increased interest in single-
property acquisitions among tax-motivated individual purchasers, we may pay higher pricesif we purchase single propertiesin
comparison with portfolio acquisitions. If we pay higher prices for our properties, our business, financial condition and results
of operations and our ability to pay distributions to you may be materialy and adversely affected.

The cash distributions our stockholders receive may be less frequent or lower in amount than you expect.

Our board of directorswill determine the amount and timing of distributions. In making this determination, our directors
will consider al relevant factors, including the amount of cash available for distribution, capital expenditure and reserve
requirements and general operational reguirements. We cannot assure you that we will continue to generate sufficient available
cash flow to fund distributionsnor can we assureyou that sufficient cash will beavailableto makedistributionsto our stockhol ders.
With limited prior operations, it is more difficult for us to predict the amount of distributions our stockholders may receive and
we may be unable to pay, maintain or increase distributions over time. Our inability to acquire properties or real estate-related
investments may have a negative effect on our ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to pay distributions.

Further, if the aggregate amount of our distributionsin any given year exceeds our earnings and profits (as determined
for U.S. federal income tax purposes), the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the excess amount will be either (i) areturn of
capital, or (ii) again from the sale or exchange of property to the extent that astockholder'stax basisin our Common Stock equals
or isreduced to zero as the result of our current or prior year distributions.

Upon the sale of any individual property, holders of our Series A Preferred Stock and our Series B Preferred Stock (or
collectively, the Preferred Stock), each do not have a priority over holders of our Common Stock regarding return of capital.

Holders of our Preferred Stock do not have aright to receive areturn of capital prior to holders of our Common Stock
upon the individual sale of a property. Depending on the price at which such property is sold, it is possible that holders of our
Common Stock will receive areturn of capital prior to the holders of our Preferred Stock, provided that any accrued but unpaid
dividends have been paid in full to holders of Preferred Stock. It is also possible that holders of our Common Stock will receive
additional distributions from the sale of a property (in excess of their capital attributable to the asset sold) before the holders of
Preferred Stock receive areturn of their capital.

There is no clawback for distributions with respect to the special limited partnership interest (except in limited circumstances),
and such distributions are payable upon the sale of an asset even if stockholders have not received a return of their entire
investment.

Our Manager has aspecial limited partnership interest in our Operating Partnership entitling it to distributions from our
Operating Partnership equal to 15% of any net sale proceeds from an asset (which equal's the proceeds actually received by us
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from the sale of such asset after paying off outstanding debt related to the sold asset and paying any seller related closing costs,
including any commission paid to our Manager in connection with the sale of the asset, |ess expenses all ocable to the sold asset)
remaining after the payment of (i) the capital and expenses alocable to all realized investments (including the sold asset), and
(i) a 7% priority annual return on such capital and expenses; provided, however, that all accrued and unpaid dividends on our
Preferred Stock have been paid in full. This distribution with respect to the special limited partnership interest is payable upon
the sale of an asset even if our stockholders have not received areturn of their capital, but only after the holders of our Preferred
Stock have received payment in full of all accrued and unpaid dividends on our Preferred Stock. There is no clawback for
distributionswith respect to the special limited partnership interest except in limited circumstances. Asaresult, distributionswith
respect to the special limited partnership interest may be payable upon the sale of an asset even if our stockholders have not
received areturn of their entireinvestment, provided that any accrued but unpaid dividends have been paid to holders of Preferred
Stock.

Your percentage of ownership may become diluted if we issue new shares of stock or other securities, and issuances of additional
preferred stock or other securities by us may further subordinate the rights of the holders of our Common Stock.

We may make redemption payments under the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock in shares of our Common Stock.
Although the dollar amounts of such payments are unknown, the number of sharesto beissued in connection with such payments
may fluctuate based on the price of our Common Stock. Any salesor perceived salesin the public market of sharesof our Common
Stock issuable upon such redemption payments could adversely affect prevailing market prices of shares of our Common Stock.
Theissuance of Common Stock upon such redemption payments also may have the effect of reducing our net income per share
(or increasing our net loss per share). |n addition, the existence of SeriesA Preferred Stock may encourage short selling by market
participants because the existence of redemption payments could depress the market price of shares of our Common Stock.

Our board of directorsisauthorized, without stockholder approval, to cause usto issue additional shares of our Common
Stock or to raise capital through the issuance of additional preferred stock (including equity or debt securities convertible into
preferred stock or our Common Stock), options, warrants and other rights, on such terms and for such consideration as our board
of directorsin its sole discretion may determine. Any such issuance could result in dilution of the equity of our stockholders. Our
board of directors may, inits sole discretion, authorize us to issue Common Stock or other equity or debt securities (a) to persons
from whom we purchase multifamily communities, as part or al of the purchase price of the community, or (b) to our Manager
in lieu of cash payments required under the Management Agreement or other contract or obligation. Our board of directors, in
its sole discretion, may determine the value of any Common Stock or other equity or debt securities issued in consideration of
multifamily communities acquired or services provided, or to be provided, to us.

Our charter also authorizes our board of directors, without stockholder approval, to designate and issue one or more
classesor seriesof preferred stock in addition to the Preferred Stock (including equity or debt securities convertibleinto preferred
stock) and to set or change the voting, conversion or other rights, preferences, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other
distributions and qualifications or terms or conditions of redemption of each class or series of shares so issued. If any additional
preferred stock is publicly offered, the terms and conditions of such preferred stock (including any equity or debt securities
convertible into preferred stock) will be set forth in a registration statement registering the issuance of such preferred stock or
equity or debt securities convertibleinto preferred stock. Because our board of directors hasthe power to establish the preferences
and rights of each class or series of preferred stock, it may afford the holders of any series or class of preferred stock preferences,
powers, and rights senior to the rights of holders of common stock or the Preferred Stock. If we ever create and issue additional
preferred stock or equity or debt securities convertibleinto preferred stock with adistribution preference over our Common Stock
or the Preferred Stock, payment of any distribution preferences of such new outstanding preferred stock would reduce the amount
of funds available for the payment of distributions on our Common Stock and our Preferred Stock. Further, holders of preferred
stock are normally entitled to receive a preference payment if we liquidate, dissolve, or wind up before any payment is made to
the common stockholders, likely reducing the amount common stockholders would otherwise receive upon such an occurrence.
In addition, under certain circumstances, the issuance of additional preferred stock may delay, prevent, render more difficult or
tend to discourage amerger, tender offer, or proxy contest, the assumption of control by aholder of alarge block of our securities,
or the removal of incumbent management.

Stockholders have no rights to buy additional shares of stock or other securitiesif weissue new shares of stock or other
securities. We may issue common stock, convertible debt, preferred stock or warrants pursuant to a subsequent public offering
or aprivate placement, or to sellers of propertieswe directly or indirectly acquireinstead of, or in addition to, cash consideration.
Stockholders who do not participate in any future stock issuances will experience dilution in the percentage of the issued and
outstanding stock they own. In addition, depending on the terms and pricing of any additional offerings and the value of our
investments, you also may experience dilution in the book value and fair market value of, and the amount of distributions paid
on, your shares of our Common Stock or Preferred Stock.
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Breaches of our data security could materially harm our business and reputation.

We collect and retain certain personal information provided by our residents. While we have implemented a variety of
security measures to protect the confidentiality of this information and periodically review and improve our security measures,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to prevent unauthorized access to this information. Any breach of our data
security measures and loss of thisinformation may result in legal liability and costs (including damages and penalties), as well
as damage to our reputation, that could materially and adversely affect our business and financial performance.

If any of our public communication are held to be in violation of federal securities laws relating to public communications,
we could be subject to potential liability.

From time to time, we or our representatives make public statements relating to our business and its prospects. Such
communications are subject to federal securitieslaws. If any of our public communications are held by acourt to bein violation
of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and a claim for damages is brought against us in
connection therewith by one or more of our stockholdersthat purchased shares of our stock on the basis of such communications
beforereceiving acopy of aprospectus as supplemented to date, and potentially other stockholders, we could be subject to liability
in connection with the shares we sold such persons during such period. Such stockholders would have a period of 12 months
following the date of any violation determined by a court to have occurred to bring a Section 5 claim. Our liability in a Section
5 claim could include statutory interest from the date of such stockholder's purchase, in addition to possibly other damages
determined by a court. In the event that any of our communications are claimed to have been made in violation of Section 5 of
the Securities Act, we expect that we would vigorously contest such claim. Nevertheless, we could not give any assurance asto
any court's ultimate determination with respect to any such claim. Accordingly, thereisarisk that we could be subject to potential
liability with respect to any Section 5 claim brought against us, and such liability may adversely affect our operating results or
financial position.

The properties we acquire may not produce the cash flow required to meet our REIT minimum distribution requirements, and
we may decide to borrow funds to satisfy such requirements, which could adversely affect our overall financial performance.

We may decide to borrow fundsin order to meet the REIT minimum distribution requirements even if our management
believesthat the then prevailing market conditions generally are not favorable for such borrowings or that such borrowingswould
not be advisable in the absence of certain tax considerations. If we borrow money to meet the REIT minimum distribution
requirement or for other working capital needs, our expenses will increase, our net income will be reduced by the amount of
interest we pay on the money we borrow and we will be obligated to repay the money we borrow from future earnings or by
selling assets, any or all of which may decrease future distributions to our stockholders.

To maintain our status as a REIT, we may be forced to forego otherwise attractive opportunities, which may delay or hinder
our ability to meet our investment objectives and may reduce your overall return.

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must satisfy certain tests on an ongoing basis concerning, among other
things, the sources of our income, the nature of our assets and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. We may be required
to make distributions to stockholders at times when it would be more advantageous to reinvest cash in our business or when we
do not have funds readily available for distribution. Compliance with the REIT regquirements may hinder our ability to operate
solely on the basis of maximizing profits and the value of your investment.

There is no public market for our Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred Stock, referred to collectively as Preferred
Stock, or Warrants, and we do not expect one to develop.

Thereis no public market for our Preferred Stock or Warrants, and we currently have no plan to list these securitieson a
securities exchange or to include these shares for quotation on any national securities market. We cannot assure you as to the
liquidity of any trading market that may develop for our Preferred Stock or Warrants. Additionally, our charter containsrestrictions
on the ownership and transfer of our securities, and these restrictions may inhibit the ability to sell the Preferred Stock or Warrants
promptly or at all. Furthermore, the Warrantswill expirefour yearsfrom the date of issuance. If aholder isableto sell the Preferred
Stock or Warrants, they may only be able to sell them at a substantial discount from the price paid. Accordingly, you may be
required to bear the financial risk of your investment in the shares of Preferred Stock indefinitely.



We will be required to terminate the Unit offering if our Common Stock is no longer listed on the NYSE MKT or another
national securities exchange.

The Preferred Stock is a“covered security” under the Securities Act and therefore is not subject to registration in the
various states in which it may be sold due to its seniority to our Common Stock, whichislisted on the NY SE MKT exchange. If
our Common Stock is no longer listed on the NY SE MKT or another appropriate exchange, we will be required to register the
offering of our Unitsin any statein which we subsequently offer the Units. Thiswould require the termination of the Unit offering
and could result in our raising an amount of gross proceeds that is substantially less than the amount of the gross proceeds we
expect to raise if the maximum offering is sold. This would reduce our ability to purchase additional properties and limit the
diversification of our portfolio.

TheWarrantsarenot “ covered securities,” under the SecuritiesAct. The Warrants are subject to state registration in those
states that do not have any exemption for securities convertible into alisted security and the offering must be declared effective
in order to sell the Warrants in these states.

There is not a broad market for our Common Stock and shares of our Common Stock are thinly traded, which may cause our
Common Stock to trade at a discount and make it difficult for a holder to sell our Common Stock.

Our Common Stock tradeson the NY SE MKT under the symbol "APTS." Listing onthe NY SE MKT or another national
securitiesexchangedoesnot ensureabroad market for our Common Stock. Our Common Stock isthinly traded and hassubstantially
less liquidity than the average trading market for many other publicly-traded companies. Therefore, investors have limited
opportunitiesto sell their shares of Common Stock in the open market. Limited trading of our Common Stock also contributesto
more volatile price fluctuations, which could affect your ability to sell your shares and could depress the market price of your
shares. Accordingly, a broad market for our Common Stock may not develop, or if developed, be maintained, the market for our
Common Stock may not be liquid, the holders of our Common Stock may be unable to sell their shares of our Common Stock,
and the prices that may be obtained following the sale of our Common Stock (including upon the exercise of our Warrants, the
redemption of our Series A Preferred Stock, or the conversion of our Series B Preferred Stock) may not reflect the underlying
value of our assets and business.

Our ability to redeem shares of Preferred Stock for cash may be limited by Maryland law.

Under Maryland law, a corporation may redeem stock as long as, after giving effect to the redemption, the corporation
isableto pay its debts asthey become duein the usual course (the equity solvency test) and itstotal assets exceed itstotal liabilities
(the balance sheet solvency test). If the Company isinsolvent at any timewhen aredemption of shares of Preferred Stock isrequired
to be made, the Company may not be able to effect such redemption for cash.

Each series of the Preferred Stock is a senior security, and ranks prior to our Common Stock with respect to dividends and
payments upon liquidation.

Therightsof the holders of shares of our Preferred Stock rank senior to therights of the holders of shares of our Common
Stock as to dividends and payments upon liquidation. Unless full cumulative dividends on our shares of Preferred Stock for all
past dividend periods have been declared and paid (or set apart for payment), we will not declare or pay dividends with respect
to any shares of our Common Stock for any period. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our Company, the holders of
shares of our Preferred Stock are entitled to receive a liquidation preference of Stated Value, $1,000 per share, plus all accrued
but unpaid dividends, prior and in preference to any distribution to the holders of shares of our Common Stock or any other class
of our equity securities.

The Preferred Stock will be subordinate in right of payment to any corporate level debt that we incur in the future, and your
interests could be diluted by the issuance of additional preferred stock, and by other transactions.

The Preferred Stock will be subordinatein right of payment to any corporate level debt that we incur in the future. Future
debt weincur may include restrictions on our ability to pay dividends on our Preferred Stock. Theissuance of additional preferred
stock on a parity with or senior to the Preferred Stock would dilute the interests of the holders of the Preferred Stock, and any
issuance of preferred stock senior to the Preferred Stock or of additional indebtedness could affect our ability to pay dividendson,
redeem or pay the liquidation preference on the Preferred Stock. While the terms of the Preferred Stock limit our ability to issue
shares of a class or series of preferred stock senior in ranking to the Preferred Stock, such terms do not restrict our ability to
authorize or issue shares of a class or series of preferred stock with rights to distributions or upon liquidation that are on parity
with the Preferred Stock or to incur additional indebtedness. The Preferred Stock does not contain any provision affording the
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holders of the Preferred Stock protection in the event of a highly leveraged or other transaction, including a merger or the sale,
lease or conveyance of al or substantially all of our assets or business, that might adversely affect the holders of the Preferred
Stock.

We will be able to call our shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock for redemption under certain
circumstances without your consent.

We will have the ability to call the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock after ten years following the date of
original issuance of such shares of Series A Preferred Stock. At that time, we will have the right to redeem, at our option, the
outstanding shares of SeriesA Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at 100% of the Stated Value per share, plus any accrued and
unpaid dividends. We havetheright, in our sole discretion, to pay the redemption price in cash or in equal value of our Common
Stock, based upon the volume weighted average price of our Common Stock for the 20 trading days prior to the redemption.

We have the right to redeem, at our option, the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price per share of the Series B Preferred Stock equal to (i) if the redemption occurs on or prior to January 16, 2014,
the greater of (A) 105% of the liquidation preference plus all accrued and unpaid dividends, and (B) 105% of the value of that
number of shares of Common Stock into which such share of Series B Preferred Stock would have been convertible immediately
prior to the day fixed for redemption, which value shall be cal cul ated on the volume wei ghted average price of our Common Stock
for the 20 trading days prior to the day fixed for redemption; or (ii) if the redemption occurs after January 16, 2014, the greater of
(A) 100% of the liquidation preference plus all accrued and unpaid dividends; and (B) 100% of the value of that number of shares
of Common Stock into which such share of Series B Preferred Stock would have been convertible immediately prior to the day
fixed for redemption, which value shall be calculated on the volume weighted average price of the Common Stock for the 20
trading days prior to the day fixed for redemption.

There are restrictions on a stockholder's ability to transfer or resell the Series B Preferred Stock.

The Series B Preferred Stock was offered and sold pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act
and applicable state securitieslaws. Therefore, astockhol der may only transfer or resell the SeriesB Preferred Stock in atransaction
registered under or exempt fromtheregistration requirementsof the SecuritiesAct and applicabl estate securitieslaws. Additionally,
our charter contains restrictions on the ownership and transfer of our securities, and these restrictions may inhibit the ability to
sell the Series B Preferred Stock promptly or at all.

If the Series B Preferred Stock does not convert into Common Stock, there may be adverse consequences.

The Series B Preferred Stock will only convert into Common Stock following a vote of holders of the Common Stock
approving such conversion and the issuance of Common Stock upon such conversion. If the Series B Preferred Stock does not
convert into Common Stock, aholder of Series B Preferred Stock may be required to retain the shares of Series B Preferred Stock
for alonger period than expected. There can be no guarantee that the conditions necessary to occur for the conversion of the Series
B Preferred Stock to Common Stock occur in atimely manner or at all. Additionally, the automatic conversion of the Series B
Preferred Stock into Common Stock may be delayed until we receive NY SE MKT approval for our listing application for the
shares of Common Stock into which the Series B Preferred Stock converts. In addition, the failure of the Series B Preferred Stock
to convert into Common Stock by May 16, 2013 would result in an escal ation of the dividend rate payable on the Series B Preferred
Stock to 15% per annum, which may have adverse consequences for us and result in fewer funds available for the acquisition of
properties and other real-estate related investments and to conduct our operations or pay dividends on our Common Stock.

Risks Related to Our Organization, Structure and Management

We are dependent upon our Sponsor, our Manager and their affiliates to conduct our operations, and therefore, any adverse
changes in the financial health of our Sponsor, our Manager or their affiliates, or our relationship with any of them, could
hinder our operating performance and the return on your investment.

Wearean externally advised REIT, which meansthat our Manager provides our management team and support personnel
and administers our day-to-day business operations. We are dependent on our Sponsor, our Manager and their affiliatesto manage
our operations and acquire and manage our portfolio of real estate assets. Our Manager will make all decisions with respect to the
management of our Company, subject to the oversight of our board of directors. Our Manager will depend upon the fees and other
compensation that it will receive from usin connection with the purchase, management and sale of our investments to conduct its
operations. Any adverse changesin the financial condition of, or our relationship with, our Sponsor, our Manager or their affiliates
could hinder their ability to successfully manage our operations and our portfolio of investments.
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In April 2010, RBC Bank (USA) filed a lawsuit against, among others, Mr. Williams alleging that heisliable to RBC
Bank (USA) for breach of certain guaranties executed by Mr. Williamsin favor of RBC Bank (USA) in connection with certain
real estateloans. The claimsagainst Mr. Williamsin theselegal proceedings, if adversely determined against Mr. Williams, would
have a material adverse effect on Mr. Williams' net worth. Mr. Williams has informed us of his belief that he has meritorious
defenses against these claims and plans to pursue such defenses vigorously. On October 13, 2011, Mr. Williams entered into a
term sheet for a Settlement Agreement with RBC Bank (USA), pursuant to which his alleged guaranties in favor of the bank
would bereleased, resulting in no material adverse effect to Mr. Williams. There can be no assurance, however, that the Settlement
Agreement will be executed.

On July 8, 2011, Caterpillar Financial Services Corporation (“ Caterpillar”) commenced an action against Mr. Williams
in the Superior Court of Fulton County, Georgia. In this action, Caterpillar seeksto recover $1,238,208.51, plus accrued interest,
legal fees and costs, under apersonal guaranty given by Mr. Williams in connection with aloan by Caterpillar to VMV, Ltd. Mr.
Williams is the 100% indirect owner of VMV, Ltd. Mr. Williams has informed us of his belief that he has meritorious defenses
to Caterpillar's claims and that he intends to vigorously contest them.

These claims against Mr. Williams, if adversely determined against him, could have a material adverse effect on Mr.
Williams' net worth.

Our success is dependent on the performance of our Manager.

We rely on the management ability of our Manager, subject to the oversight and approval of our board of directors.
Accordingly, if our Manager suffersor isdistracted by adversefinancial or operational problemsin connection with itsoperations
or the operations of our Sponsor unrelated to us, our Manager may be unable to allocate time and/or resources to our operations.
If our Manager is unable to allocate sufficient resourcesto oversee and perform our operations for any reason, we may be unable
to achieve our investment objectives or to pay distributions to you.

If our Manager loses or is unable to retain or replace key personnel, our ability to implement our investment strategies could
be hindered, which could adversely affect our ability to make distributions and the value of your investment.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of certain of our executive officers and other key
personnel of our Manager. In particular, we depend on the skills and expertise of John A. Williams, the director of our investment
strategies. Neither wenor our Manager hasan employment agreement with any of our or itskey personnel, including Mr. Williams,
and we cannot guarantee that all, or any, of such personnel, will remain affiliated with us or our Manager. If any of our key
personnel wereto cease their affiliation with our Manager, our operating results could suffer. Further, we do not currently nor do
weintend to maintain key person life insurance that would provide us with proceeds in the event of the death or disability of Mr.
Williams or any of our key personnel.

Webelieve our future success depends upon our Manager'sability to hireand retain highly skilled managerial, operational
and marketing personnel. Competition for such personnel isintense, and we cannot assure you that our Manager will be successful
in attracting and retaining such skilled personnel. If our Manager loses or is unable to obtain the services of key personnel, our
ability to implement our investment strategies could be delayed or hindered, and the value of your investment in our Company
may decline.

Furthermore, our Manager may retainindependent contractorsto providevariousservicesfor us, including administrative
services, transfer agent services and professional services. Such contractors have no fiduciary duty to our Manager or usand may
not perform as expected or desired. Any such services provided by independent contractors will be paid for by us as an operating
expense.

Payment of fees and cost reimbursements to our Manager and its affiliates will reduce cash available for investment and
payment of distributions.

Our Manager and its affiliateswill perform servicesfor usin connection with, among other things, the offer and sale of
our securities, including the performance of legal, accounting, and financial reporting in connection therewith, the selection and
acquisition of our investments, the management and leasing of our properties, the servicing of our mortgage, bridge, mezzanine
or other loans, the administration of our other investments and the disposition of our assets. They will be paid substantial fees
and cost reimbursementsfor these services. Thesefeesand reimbursementswill reducetheamount of cash avail ablefor investment
or distributions to our stockholders.
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If our Sponsor, our Manager or their affiliates waive certain fees due to them, our results of operations and distributions may
be artificially high.

From time to time, our Sponsor, our Manager and/or their affiliates may agree to waive or defer all or a portion of the
acquisition, asset management or other fees, compensation or incentives due to them, pay general administrative expenses or
otherwise supplement stockholder returnsin order to increase the amount of cash available to make distributionsto stockhol ders.
If our Sponsor, our Manager and/or their affiliates choose to no longer waive or defer such fees, compensation and incentives or
to cease paying general administrative expenses or supplementing stockholder returns, our results of operations will be lower
than in previous periods and your return on your investment in our Company could be negatively affected.

The Maryland General Corporation Law prohibits certain business combinations, which may make it more difficult for us to
be acquired.

Under the Maryland General Corporation Law, “business combinations’ between a Maryland corporation and an
“interested stockholder” or an affiliate of an interested stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on
whichtheinterested stockhol der becomesan interested stockhol der. These business combinationsincludeamerger, consolidation,
share exchange or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities.
An interested stockholder is defined as: (i) any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the then
outstanding voting stock of the corporation; or (ii) an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-
year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding
voting stock of the corporation.

A person is not an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in advance the transaction
by which the person otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, the board of
directors may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions
determined by the board.

After theexpiration of thefive-year period described above, any business combinati on between the Maryland corporation
and an interested stockholder must generally be recommended by the board of directors of the corporation and approved by the
affirmative vote of at least:

e 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of the then outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation; and

« two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation, other than shares held by the
interested stockhol der with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination isto be effected, or held by an affiliate
or associate of the interested stockholder.

These super-majority vote regquirementsdo not apply if the corporation'scommon stockhol dersreceive aminimum price,
as defined under the Maryland General Corporation Law, for their sharesin the form of cash or other consideration in the same
form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its shares. The Maryland General Corporation Law also permitsvarious
exemptions from these provisions, including business combinations that are exempted by the board of directors before the time
that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Pursuant to the statute, our board of directors has adopted a
resol ution exempting any business combination with our Manager or any of its affiliates. Consequently, the five-year prohibition
and the super-majority vote requirements will not apply to business combinations between us and our Manager or any of its
affiliates. As aresult, our Manager or any of its affiliates may be able to enter into business combinations with us that may not
beinthe best interest of our stockholders, without compliance with the super-majority vote requirements and the other provisions
of the statute. The business combination statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the
difficulty of consummating any offer.

Stockholders have limited control over changes in our policies and operations.

Our board of directors determines our major policies, including with regard to financing, growth, debt capitalization,
REIT qualification and distributions. Our board of directors may amend or revise these and other policies without a vote of the
stockholders. Holders of our Preferred Stock have limited to no voting rights. Under our charter and the Maryland General
Corporation Law, holders of our Common Stock generally have aright to vote only on the following matters:

e theé€lection or removal of directors;
e the amendment of our charter, except that our board of directors may amend our charter without stockholder approval
to:
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= change our name;
= changethe name or other designation or the par value of any class or series of stock and the aggregate par value
of our stock;
o increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock that we have the authority to issue;
e increase or decrease the number of shares of any class or series of stock that we have the authority to issue; and
o effect certain reverse stock splits;
e our ligquidation and dissolution; and
e our being a party to a merger, consolidation, sale or other disposition of all or substantially all our assets or statutory
share exchange.

All other matters are subject to the discretion of our board of directors.
As a holder of preferred stock, you have extremely limited voting rights.

You have no vating rights as a holder of Series A Preferred Stock and your voting rights as a holder of Series B Preferred
Stock areextremely limited. Holdersof the SeriesB Preferred Stock generally haveno votingrights, unlesstheir preferred dividends
arein arrears for six or more quarterly periods (whether or not consecutive) and then only with respect to the election of two
additional directors. Whenever such a preferred dividend default exists, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock, voting asasingle
class with the holders of any other class or series of the preferred stock having similar voting rights, have the right to elect two
additional directorsto our board of directors. Thisright continues until all dividends accumulated on the Series B Preferred Stock
have been fully paid or authorized and declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof set apart for payment. The term of
office of each director elected by the holders of Series B Preferred Stock expires upon cure of the preferred dividend default.
Holders of Series B Preferred Stock also have limited approval and consent rights with respect to the issuance of our capital stock
that is senior to the Series B Preferred Stock.

Our authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock may prevent a change in our control.

Our charter authorizes ustoissue additional authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock or preferred stock, without
stockholder approval, up to 415,066,666 shares. In addition, our board of directors may, without stockholder approval, amend
our charter from timeto timeto increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of our stock or the number of shares of stock
of any class or seriesthat we have authority to issue and classify or reclassify any unissued shares of Common Stock or preferred
stock and set the preferences, rights and other terms of the classified or reclassified shares. Asaresult, our board of directors may
establish a class or series of shares of Common Stock or preferred stock that could delay or prevent a merger, third party tender
offer or similar transaction or achangeinincumbent management that might involveapremium pricefor our securitiesor otherwise
be in the best interest of our stockholders.

Because of our holding company structure, we depend on our operating subsidiary and its subsidiaries for cash flow and we
will be structurally subordinated in right of payment to the obligations of such operating subsidiary and its subsidiaries.

We are a holding company with no business operations of our own. Our only significant asset isand will be the general
and limited partnership interests in our Operating Partnership. We conduct, and intend to conduct, al our business operations
through our Operating Partnership. Accordingly, our only source of cashto pay our obligationsisdistributionsfrom our Operating
Partnership and its subsidiaries of their net earnings and cash flows. We cannot assure you that our Operating Partnership or its
subsidiarieswill beableto, or be permitted to, make distributionsto usthat will enable usto make distributionsto our stockholders
from cash flows from operations. Each of our Operating Partnership's subsidiariesis or will be adistinct legal entity and, under
certain circumstances, legal and contractual restrictionsmay limit our ability to obtain cash from such entities. In addition, because
we are a holding company, your claims as stockholders will be structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and
obligations of our Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries. Therefore, in the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation or
reorganization, our assets and those of our Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries will be able to satisfy your claims as
stockholders only after al our and our Operating Partnership's and its subsidiaries' liabilities and obligations have been paid in
full.

Our ability to redeem shares of Preferred Stock may be limited by Maryland law.

Under Maryland law, a corporation may redeem stock as long as, after giving effect to the redemption, the corporation
isableto pay itsdebts asthey becomeduein the usual course (the equity solvency test) and itstotal assetsexceed itstotal liahilities
(the balance sheet solvency test). If the Company isinsolvent at any time when redemption of shares of SeriesA Preferred Stock
or Series B Preferred Stock is required to be made, the Company may not be able to effect such redemption.
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Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to recover on claims against our directors and officers are limited, which could
reduce your and our recovery against them if they negligently cause us to incur losses.

TheMaryland General Corporation Law providesthat adirector hasno liability in such capacity if he performshisduties
in good faith, in amanner he reasonably believesto bein our best interests and with the care that an ordinarily prudent personin
alike position would use under similar circumstances. A director who performs hisor her dutiesin accordance with the foregoing
standards should not be liable to us or any other person for failure to discharge his or her obligations as a director.

In addition, our charter provides that our directors and officers will not be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary
damages unlessthedirector or officer actually received animproper benefit or profitin money, property or services, or isadjudged
tobeliableto usor our stockholdersbased on afinding that hisor her action, or failureto act, wasthe result of activeand deliberate
dishonesty and was material to the cause of action adjudicated in the proceeding. Our charter also requires us, to the maximum
extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify and, without requiring a preliminary determination of the ultimate entitlement
to indemnification, pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding to any individual who
isapresent or former director or officer and who is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or
her servicein that capacity or any individual who, while adirector or officer and at our request, serves or has served as a director,
officer, partner, trustee, member or manager of another corporation, real estate investment trust, limited liability company,
partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise and who is made or threatened to be made a party to
the proceeding by reason of his or her servicein that capacity. With the approval of our board of directors, we may provide such
indemnification and advance for expenses to any individual who served a predecessor of the Company in any of the capacities
described above and any employee or agent of the Company or a predecessor of the Company, including our Manager and its
affiliates.

We a so are permitted to purchase and we currently maintain insurance or provide similar protection on behalf of any
directors, officers, employeesand agents, including our Manager and itsaffiliates, against any liability asserted which wasincurred
in any such capacity with us or arising out of such status. This may result in us having to expend significant funds, which will
reduce the available cash for distribution to our stockholders.

If we internalize our management functions, the holders of our previously outstanding Common Stock could be diluted, and
we could incur other significant costs associated with internalizing and being self-managed.

In the future, our board of directors may consider internalizing the functions performed for us by our Manager by
acquiring our Manager's assets. The method by which we could internalize these functions could take many forms. There is no
assurance that internalizing our management functions will be beneficial to us and our stockholders. Such an acquisition could
also result in dilution of our stockholders if common stock or securities convertible into common stock are issued in the
internalization and could reduce earnings per share and funds from operations per share. For example, we may not realize the
perceived benefits or we may not be able to properly integrate a new staff of managers and employees or we may not be able to
effectively replicate the services provided previously by our Manager or its affiliates. Internalization transactions involving the
acquisition of managers affiliated with entity sponsors have also, in some cases, been the subject of litigation. Evenif theseclaims
are without merit, we could be forced to spend significant amounts of time and money defending claims which would reduce the
amount of time and funds available for us to invest in properties or other investments and to pay distributions. All these factors
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and ability to pay distributions.

Your investment return may be reduced if we are required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company
Act.

We are not registered, and do not intend to register ourselves or any of our subsidiaries, as an investment company under
the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the Investment Company Act. If we become obligated to register the
company or any of our subsidiaries as an investment company, the registered entity would have to comply with a variety of
substantive requirements under the Investment Company Act imposing, among other things, limitations on capital structure,
restrictions on specified investments, prohibitions on transactions with affiliates and compliance with reporting, record keeping,
voting, proxy disclosure and other rules and regulations that would significantly change our operations.

We intend to conduct our operations, directly and through wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries, so that we
and each of our subsidiaries are exempt from registration as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. Under
Section 3(a)(1)(A) of the Investment Company Act, acompany is not deemed to be an “investment company” if it neither is, nor
holdsitself out as being, engaged primarily, nor proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading
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in securities. Under Section 3(a)(1)(C) of the Investment Company Act, acompany is not deemed to be an “investment company”
if it neither is engaged, nor proposes to engage, in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities
and does hot own or propose to acquire “investment securities’ having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets
(exclusive of government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis.

We believe that we and mogt, if not all, of our wholly owned and mgjority owned subsidiaries will not be considered
investment companies under either Section 3(a)(1)(A) or Section 3(a)(1)(C) of the Investment Company Act. If we or any of our
wholly owned or majority owned subsidiarieswould ever inadvertently fall within oneof the definitionsof “investment company,”
weintend to rely on the exception provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act. Under Section 3(c)(5)(C), the
SEC staff generally requires a company to maintain at least 55% of its assets directly in qualifying assets and at least 80% of
qualifying assetsin a broader category of real estate related assets to qualify for this exception. Mortgage-related securities may
or may not constitute qualifying assets, depending on the characteristics of the mortgage-related securities, including the rights
that we have with respect to the underlying loans. The Company's ownership of mortgage-related securities, therefore, islimited
by provisions of the Investment Company Act and SEC staff interpretations.

The method we use to classify our assets for purposes of the Investment Company Act will be based in large measure
upon no-action positions taken by the SEC staff in the past. These no-action positions were issued in accordance with factual
situations that may be substantially different from the factual situations we may face, and a number of these no-action positions
wereissued more than 20 years ago. No assurance can be given that the SEC staff will concur with our classification of our assets.
In addition, the SEC staff may, in the future, issue further guidance that may require usto re-classify our assets for purposes of
qualifying for an exclusion from regulation under the Investment Company Act. If we are required to re-classify our assets, we
may no longer be in compliance with the exclusion from the definition of an “investment company” provided by Section 3(c)(5)
(C) of the Investment Company Act.

A change in the value of any of our assets could cause us or one or more of our wholly owned or majority owned
subsidiaries to fall within the definition of “investment company” and negatively affect our ability to maintain our exemption
from regulation under the Investment Company Act. To avoid being required to register us or any of our subsidiaries as an
investment company under the Investment Company Act, we may be unable to sell assets we would otherwise want to sell and
may need to sell assets we would otherwise wish to retain. In addition, we may have to acquire additional income- or loss-
generating assets that we might not otherwise have acquired or may have to forgo opportunitiesto acquire interestsin companies
that we would otherwise want to acquire and would be important to our investment strategy.

As part of our Manager's obligations under the Management Agreement, our Manager will agree to refrain from taking
any action which, in its sole judgment made in good faith, would subject us to regulation under the Investment Company Act.
Failureto maintain an exclusion from registration under the I nvestment Company Act would require usto significantly restructure
our business plan. For example, because affiliate transactions are generally prohibited under the Investment Company Act, we
would not be able to enter into transactions with any of our affiliatesif we are required to register as an investment company, and
wemay berequired toterminate our Management Agreement and any other agreementswith affiliates, which could haveamaterial
adverse effect on our ability to operate our business and pay distributions. If we were required to register us as an investment
company but failed to do so, we would be prohibited from engaging in our business, and criminal and civil actions could be
brought against us. In addition, our contracts would be unenforceable unless a court required enforcement, and a court could
appoint areceiver to take control of us and liquidate our business.

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

Our Manager, our executive officers and their affiliates may face competing demands relating to their time, and if inadequate
time is devoted to our business, your investment may be negatively impacted.

Werely on our executive officers and the executive officers and employees of our Manager and its affiliates for the day-
to-day operation of our business. These persons al so conduct or may conduct in the future day-to-day operations of other programs
and entities sponsored by or affiliated with our Manager or Sponsor. Because these persons have or may have such interestsin
other real estate programs and engage in other business activities, they may experience conflicts of interest in allocating their
time and resources among our business and these other activities. The amount of time that our Manager and its affiliates spend
on our business will vary from time to time and is expected to be more while we are raising money and acquiring investments.
During times of intense activity in other programs and ventures, they may devote less time and fewer resources to our business
than are necessary or appropriate to manage our business. We expect that as our real estate activities expand, our Manager will
attempt to hire additional employeeswho would devote substantially all their time to our business. Thereis no assurance that our
Manager will devote adequate time to our business. If our Manager, our Sponsor or any of their respective affiliates suffersor is
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distracted by adverse financial or operational problemsin connection with its operations unrelated to us, it may allocate lesstime
andresourcesto our operations. If any of theforegoing eventsoccur, thereturnson our investments, our ability to makedistributions
to stockholders and the value of your investment may suffer.

Our Manager, our executive officers and their affiliates may face conflicts of interest, and these conflicts may not be resolved
in our favor, which could negatively impact your investment.

Our executive officers and the employees of our Manager, our Sponsor and their respective affiliates on which we rely
could makesubstantial profitsasaresult of investment opportunitiesall ocated to entitiesother than us. Asaresult, theseindividuals
could pursue transactions that may not be in our best interest, which could have a materia adverse effect on our operations and
your investment. Our Manager and its affiliates may, in the future, be engaged in other activities that could result in potential
conflicts of interest with the services that they will provide to us. In addition, our Sponsor or his affiliates may compete with us
for the acquisition and/or refinancing of properties.

Our Manager and its affiliates will receive substantial fees from us, which could result in our Manager and its affiliates taking
actions that are not necessarily in the best interest of our stockholders.

Our Manager and its affiliateswill receive substantial feesfrom us, including distributions with respect to our Manager's
special limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership, which entitles our Manager to receive aparticipation in net sales
proceeds. Further, our Manager will receive an asset management fee based on the total value of our assets, and its affiliates will
receive fees based on our revenues, which, in each case, could incent our Manager to use higher levels of leverage to finance
investments or accumulate assets to increase fees than would otherwise be in our best interests. These fees could influence our
Manager's advice to us, aswell as the judgment of the affiliates of our Manager who serve as our officers and directors. Among
other matters, the acquisition or disposition fees and other possible fees payable to affiliates of our Manager in connection with
its services for the seller or buyer, could affect the judgment of our Manager or its affiliates with respect to property acquisitions
from, or the making of investments in, other programs sponsored by our Sponsor. Therefore, considerations relating to their
compensation from other programs could result in decisions that are not in the best interests of our stockholders, which could
hurt our income and, as a result, our ability to make distributions to stockholders and/or lead to a decline in the value of your
investment.

Property and asset management services are being provided by our Manager or its affiliates, which may impact our sale of
properties and, as a result, affect your investment.

Our Manager is controlled by our Sponsor, and is thus subject to an inherent conflict of interest. Specifically, because
our Manager or its affiliates will receive significant feesfor property and asset management of our properties, our Manager may
faceaconflict of interest when determining whether we should sell properties, including under circumstances where the Manager
or its affiliates would no longer manage the property after the transaction. As a result of this conflict of interest, we may not
dispose of properties when it would be in our best interests to do so.

Properties acquired from affiliates of our Manager may be at a price higher than we would pay if the transaction were the
result of arm's-length negotiations.

The prices we pay to affiliates of our Manager for our properties may be equal to the prices paid by them, plusthe costs
incurred by them relating to the acquisition and financing of the properties, or if the priceto usisin excess of such cost, substantial
justification for such excess may exist and such excess may be reasonable and consistent with current market conditions as
determined by amajority of our independent directors. Substantial justification for ahigher price could result from improvements
to aproperty by the affiliate of our Manager or increases in market value of the property during the period of time the property
isowned by the affiliate as evidenced by an appraisal of the property. In the event we were to acquire properties from one of our
our affiliates, our proposed purchase prices will be based upon fair market values determined in good faith by our Manager,
utilizing, for example, independent appraisals and competitive bidding if the assets are marketed to the public, with any actual
or perceived conflicts of interest approved by independent members of the Conflicts Committee of our Board of Directors. These
prices may not be the subject of arm's-length negotiations, which could mean that the acquisitions may be on termslessfavorable
to usthan those negotiated in an arm's-length transaction.When acquiring properties from our Manager and its affiliates, we may
pay more for particular properties than we would have in an arm's-length transaction, which would reduce our cash available for
other investments or distribution to our stockholders.
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We may purchase real properties from persons with whom affiliates of our Manager have prior business relationships, which
may impact the purchase terms, and as a result, affect your investment.

If we purchase properties from third parties who have sold, or may sell, properties to our Manager or its affiliates, our
Manager may experience a conflict between our current interests and itsinterest in preserving any ongoing business rel ationship
with these sellers. As aresult of this conflict, the terms of any transaction between us and such third parties may not reflect the
terms that we could receive in the market on an arm's-length basis. If the terms we receive in atransaction are less favorable to
us, our results from operations may be adversely affected.

The absence of arm's-length bargaining may mean that our agreements may not be as favorable to you as they otherwise
could have been.

Any existing or future agreements between us and our Sponsor, our Manager or any of their respective affiliates were
not and will not be reached through arm's-length negotiations. Thus, such agreements may require usto pay more than we would
if we were using unaffiliated third parties. The Management Agreement, the operating partnership agreement of our Operating
Partnership and the terms of the compensation to our Manager and its affiliates or distributions to our Manager were not arrived
at through arm's-length negotiations. The terms of the Management Agreement, the operating partnership agreement of our
Operating Partnership and similar agreements may not solely reflect your best interest and may be overly favorable to the other
party to such agreementsincluding in terms of the substantial compensation to be paid to or the potential substantial distributions
to these parties under these agreements.

Our Manager and its affiliates receive fees and other compensation based upon our investments, which may impact operating
decisions, and as a result, affect your investment.

John A. Williams controls our Manager. In addition, Mr. Williamsis our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of our Manager. Asaresult, Mr. Williams has adirect interest in all feespaid
to our Manager and isin a position to make decisions about our investments in ways that could maximize fees payable to our
Manager anditsaffiliates. Somecompensationispayableto our Manager whether or not thereiscash availableto makedistributions
to our stockholders. To the extent this occurs, our Manager and its affiliates benefit from us retaining ownership and leveraging
our assets, whileour stockholders may be better served by the sale or disposition of, or lack of leverage on, the assets. For example,
because asset management fees payable to our Manager are based on total assets under management, including assets purchased
using debt, our Manager may have an incentive to incur a high level of leverage in order to increase the total amount of assets
under management. In addition, our Manager'sahility to receivefeesand rei mbursements depends on our revenuesfrom continued
investmentinreal propertiesandreal estate-rel ated investments. Therefore, theinterest of our Manager anditsaffiliatesinreceiving
fees may conflict with the interest of our stockholdersin earning a return on an investment in our Common Stock or Preferred
Stock.

We may compete with other entities affiliated with our Sponsor for investments and tenants.

Our Sponsor or hisaffiliates have sponsored existing programswith investment objectives and strategies similar to ours,
and may sponsor other similar programs in the future. Our Sponsor and his affiliates are not prohibited from engaging, directly
or indirectly, in any other business or from possessing interestsin any other business ventures, including venturesinvolved in the
acquisition, development, ownership, management, leasing or sale of real estate. Our Sponsor and/or one or more of his affiliates
may simultaneously owe fiduciary duties to us and one or more of these business ventures. If our Sponsor or his affiliates breach
their fiduciary or contractual obligationsto us, or do not resolve conflicts of interest, we may not meet our investment objectives,
which could reduce our expected cash available for distributions to you.

Our Sponsor and/or his affiliates may own and/or manage propertiesin the same geographical areasin which we expect
to acquirereal estate assets or may compete with usfor acquisitions of these assets. Our properties may compete for tenants with
other properties owned and/or managed by our Sponsor and his affiliates. Our Sponsor may face conflicts of interest when
evaluating acquisitions as well as tenant opportunities for our properties and other properties owned and/or managed by our
Sponsor and his affiliates, and these conflicts of interest may have anegativeimpact on our ability to acquire suitable investments
and attract and retain tenants for our properties.

If we invest in joint ventures, the objectives of our partners may conflict with our objectives.

In accordance with our acquisition strategies, we may make investments in joint ventures or other partnership
arrangements between us and affiliates of our Sponsor or with unaffiliated third parties. We also may purchase properties in
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partnerships, co-tenancies or other co-ownership arrangements. Such investments may involve risks not otherwise present when
acquiring real estate directly, including, for example:

e joint venturers may share certain approval rights over major decisions;

e aco-venturer, co-owner or partner may at any time have economic or business interests or goals which are or which
become inconsistent with our business interests or goals, including inconsistent goals relating to the sale of properties
held in the joint venture or the timing of termination or liquidation of the joint venture;

e aco-venturer, co-owner or partner in an investment might become insolvent or bankrupt;

e wemay incur liabilities as aresult of an action taken by our co-venturer, co-owner or partner;

e aco-venturer, co-owner or parther may bein aposition to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary
to our policiesor objectives, including our policy with respect to qualifying and maintaining our qualification asa REIT;

e disputes between us and our joint venturers may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and
prevent our officersand directorsfrom focusing their timeand effort on our business and result in subjecting the properties
owned by the applicable joint venture to additional risk; or

e under certain joint venture arrangements, neither venture partner may have the power to control the venture, and an
impasse could be reached which might have a negative influence on the joint venture.

Theseeventscould resultin, among other things, exposing ustoliabilitiesof thejoint ventureinexcessof our proportionate
share of theseliabilities. The partition rights of each owner in ajointly owned property could reduce the value of each portion of
the divided property. Moreover, there is an additional risk neither co-venturer will have the power to control the venture, and
under certain circumstances, an impasse could be reached regarding matters pertaining to the co-ownership arrangement, which
might have a negative influence on the joint venture and decrease potentia returns to you. In addition, the fiduciary obligation
that our Sponsor or our board of directors may owe to our partner in an affiliated transaction may make it more difficult for us
to enforce our rights.

If we have aright of first refusal or buy/sell right to buy out a co-venturer, co-owner or partner, we may be unable to
finance such a buy-out if it becomes exercisable or we may be required to purchase such interest at a time when it would not
otherwise be in our best interest to do so. If our interest is subject to a buy/sell right, we may not have sufficient cash, available
borrowing capacity or other capital resources to allow usto elect to purchase an interest of a co-venturer subject to the buy/sell
right, in which case we may be forced to sell our interest as the result of the exercise of such right when we would otherwise
prefer to keep our interest. Finally, we may not be able to sell our interest in ajoint venture if we desire to exit the venture.

General Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate
Economic conditions may adversely affect the multifamily real estate market and our income.

A multifamily property'sincome and value may be adversely affected by international, national and regional economic
conditions. Currently, although the U.S. real estate market has shown recent signs of improvement, international markets are
experiencing increased levels of volatility due to acombination of many factors, including decreasing values of home prices and
commercia real estate, limited access to credit markets, increased energy costs, high unemployment rates, the debt crisisin the
United States and Europe, and recovery from the recent national and global recession. If such conditions persist, the multifamily
real estate industry may experience a significant decline in business caused by areduction in overal renters. The current weak
yet stabilizing economy and persistently high unemployment rates also may have an adverse effect on our operationsif they cause
the tenants occupying the multifamily properties we acquire to cease making rent paymentsto us.

In addition, local real estate conditions such as an oversupply of properties or a reduction in demand for properties,
availability of “for sale€” properties, competition from other similar properties, our ability to provide adequate maintenance,
insurance and management services, increased operating costs (including real estate taxes), the attractiveness and |ocation of the
property and changes in market rental rates, may adversely affect a property's income and value. The continued rise in energy
costs could result in higher operating costs, which may adversely affect our results from operations. In addition, local conditions
in the markets in which we own or intend to own properties may significantly affect occupancy or rental rates at such properties.
Therisksthat may adversely affect conditionsin those marketsinclude: layoffs, business closings, relocations of significant local
employers and other events negatively impacting local employment rates and the local economy; an oversupply of, or alack of
demand for, apartments; a decline in household formation; the inability or unwillingness of residentsto pay rent increases; and
rent control, rent stabilization and other housing laws, which could prevent us from raising rents.

19



We cannot predict if the current recovery in the multifamily real estate market will continue. Therefore, to the extent
that there are adverse economic conditions in the multifamily market, such conditions could result in a reduction of our income
and cash available for distributions and thus affect the amount of distributions we can make to our stockholders.

Our investments in real estate-related investments will be subject to the risks typically associated with real estate, which may
have a material effect on your investment.

Our loans held for investment generally will be directly or indirectly secured by alien on real property, or the equity
interests in an entity that owns real property, that, upon the occurrence of a default on the loan, could result in our acquiring
ownership of the property. We will not know whether the values of the properties ultimately securing our loans will remain at or
abovethelevels existing on the dates of origination of those loans. If the values of the underlying properties decline, our risk will
increase because of the lower value of the security associated with such loans. In this manner, real estate values could impact the
values of our loan investments. Any investments in mortgage-related securities, collateralized debt obligations and other real
estate-related investments (including potential investments in real property) may be similarly affected by real estate property
values. Therefore, our investments will be subject to the risks typically associated with real estate.

The value of real estate may be adversely affected by a number of risks, including:

e naturd disasters, such as hurricanes, earthquakes and floods;

e acts of war or terrorism, including the consequences of terrorist attacks, such as those that occurred on September 11,
2001;

e adverse changesin national and local economic and real estate conditions;

e an oversupply of (or a reduction in demand for) space in the areas where particular properties are located and the
attractiveness of particular propertiesto prospective tenants;

« changesin governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policiesand zoning ordinances and the related costs of compliance
therewith and the potential for liability under applicable laws;

e costs of remediation and liabilities associated with environmental conditions affecting properties; and

e the potential for uninsured or underinsured property |osses.

The value of each property is affected significantly by its ability to generate cash flow and net income, which in turn
depends on the amount of rental or other income that can be generated net of expenses required to be incurred with respect to the
property. Many expenditures associated with properties (such as operating expenses and capital expenditures) cannot be reduced
when there is a reduction in income from the properties. These factors may have a material adverse effect on the ability of the
borrowersto pay their loans, as well as on the value that we can realize from assets we own or acquire.

Natural disasters could significantly reduce the value of our properties and your investment.

Natural disasters, including hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, wildfiresand floods, could significantly reducethevalue
of our properties. While we will attempt to obtain adequate insurance coverage for natural disasters, insurance may be too
expensive, may have significant deductibles, or may not properly compensate us for the long-term loss in value that a property
may suffer if the areaaround it suffersasignificant natural disaster. Asaresult, we may not be compensated for the lossin value.
Any diminution in the value of our properties or properties underlying an investment that is not fully reimbursed will reduce our
profitability and adversely affect the value of your investment.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may affect the real estate industry generally and our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We cannot predict the severity of the effect that potentia futureterrorist attacks would have on us. We may suffer losses
asaresult of the adverse impact of any future attacks and these losses may adversely impact our performance and the value of
our real estate. The events of September 11, 2001 created significant uncertainty regarding the ability of real estate owners to
obtain insurance coverage protecting against terrorist attacks at commercially reasonable rates. We may not be able to obtain
insurance against the risk of terrorism because it may not be available or may not be available on terms that are economically
feasible. The terrorism insurance that we obtain may not be sufficient to cover loss for damages to our properties as a result of
terrorist attacks. The inability to obtain sufficient terrorism insurance or any terrorisminsurance at all could limit our investment
optionsassomemortgagelendersinsist that specific coverage agai nst terrorism be purchased by commercial ownersasacondition
of providing loans. We intend to obtain terrorism insuranceif required by our lenders, but the terrorism insurance that we obtain
may not be sufficient to cover loss for damages to our properties as a result of terrorist attacks. In addition, where insurance
against the risk of terrorism is not available or is not available on terms that are economically feasible, we may be required to
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provide other financial support, either through financial assurances or self-insurance, to cover potential losses. We cannot assure
you that we will have adequate coverage for such losses.

Compliance with the governmental laws, regulations and covenants that are applicable to our properties, including permit,
license and zoning requirements, may adversely affect our ability to make future acquisitions or renovations, resultin significant
costs or delays and adversely affect our growth strategy.

Our properties are subject to various covenants and local laws and regulatory requirements, including permitting and
licensing requirements. Local regulations, including municipal or local ordinances, zoning restrictions and restrictive covenants
imposed by community devel opers, may restrict our useof our propertiesand may require usto obtain approval fromlocal officias
or community standards organizations at any time with respect to our properties, including prior to acquiring a property or when
undertaking renovations of any of our existing properties. Among other things, these restrictions may relate to fire and safety,
seismic, asbestos-cleanup or hazardous material abatement reguirements. \We cannot assure you that existing regulatory policies
will not adversely affect us or the timing or cost of any future acquisitions or renovations, or that additional regulations will not
be adopted that would increase such delays or result in additional costs. Our growth strategy may be materially and adversely
affected by our ability to obtain permits, licenses and zoning approvals. Our failure to obtain such permits, licenses and zoning
approvals could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our costs associated with and the risk of failing to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, or ADA, may affect cash
available for distributions.

Our properties are generally expected to be subject to the ADA. Under the ADA, al places of public accommodation
arerequired to comply with federal requirementsrelated to access and use by disabled persons. The ADA has separate compliance
reguirements for “ public accommodations’ and “commercial facilities’ that generally require that certain buildings and services
be made accessible and available to people with disabilities. The ADA's requirements could require removal of access barriers
and could result in theimposition of injunctiverelief, monetary penalties or, in some cases, an award of damages. We will attempt
to acquire properties that comply with the ADA or place the burden on the seller or athird party to ensure compliance with such
laws. However, we cannot assure you that we will be able to acquire properties or alocate responsibilities in this manner. If we
cannot, our funds used for compliance with these laws may affect cash available for distributions and the amount of distributions
to our stockholders.

The multifamily communities we acquire must comply with Title 111 of the ADA, to the extent that such properties are
“public accommodations’ and/or “commercial facilities’, as defined by the ADA, which could require removal of structural
barriers to handicapped access in certain public areas of our multifamily communities where such removal isreadily achievable.
The ADA considers only the portions of multifamily housing communities that are open to the public (such asthe leasing office)
to be public accommodations or commercial facilities.

We must comply with the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988, or the FHAA, and failure to comply may affect cash available
for distributions.

We must comply with the FHAA, which requires that apartment communities first occupied after March 13, 1991 be
accessible to handicapped residents and visitors. Compliance with the FHAA could require removal of structural barriers to
handicapped accessin acommunity, including the interiors of apartment units covered under the FHAA. Recently there hasbeen
heightened scrutiny of multifamily housing communities for compliance with the requirements of the FHAA and the ADA and
an increasing number of substantial enforcement actions and private lawsuits have been brought against apartment communities
to ensure compliance with these requirements. Noncompliance with the FHAA could result in the imposition of fines, awards of
damages to private litigants, payment of attorneys fees and other costs to plaintiffs, substantial litigation costs and substantial
costs of remediation.

Rising expenses could reduce cash flow and funds available for future acquisitions, which may materially affect cash available
for distributions.

Our properties may be subject to increases in tax rates, assessed property values, utility costs, operating expenses,
insurance costs, repairs and maintenance, administrative and other expenses. Some of the leases on our properties may require
thetenantsto pay al or aportion of utility costs; however, significant utility costs are borne by us. Such increased expenses could
adversely affect funds available for future acquisitions or cash available for distributions.
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Failure to generate sufficient cash flows from operations may reduce distributions to stockholders.

We intend to rely primarily on our cash flow from operations to make distributions to our stockholders. The cash flow
from equity investments in our multifamily properties depends on the amount of revenue generated and expenses incurred in
operating our properties. Therevenue generated and expensesincurred in operating our properties depends on many factors, some
of which are beyond our control. For instance, rents from our properties may not increase as expected or the real estate-related
investments we purchase may not generate the anticipated returns. If our investments do not generate revenue sufficient to meet
our operating expenses, debt service and capital expenditures, our cash flowsand ability to make distributionsto our stockholders
will be adversely affected.

If we purchase assets at a time when the multifamily real estate market is experiencing substantial influxes of capital investment
and competition for properties, the real estate we purchase may not appreciate or may decrease in value.

The multifamily real estate market may experience substantial influxes of capital from investors. This substantial flow
of capital, combined with significant competition for the acquisition of real estate, may result in inflated purchase pricesfor such
assets and compression of capitalization rates. To the extent we purchase real estate in such an environment, we are subject to
the risk that, if the real estate market subsequently ceases to attract the same level of capital investment, or if the number of
companies seeking to acquire such assets decreases, our returns will be lower and the value of our assets may not appreciate or
may decrease significantly below the amount we paid for such assets.

We may be unable to sell a property if or when we decide to do so, which could adversely impact our ability to make distributions
to our stockholders.

In connection with the acquisition of a property, we may agree on restrictions that prohibit the sale of that property for
a period of time or impose other restrictions, such as a limitation on the amount of debt that can be placed or repaid on that
property. Even absent such restrictions, the real estate market is affected by many factors that are beyond our control, including
general economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and supply and demand. We cannot predict whether we will
be able to sell any property for the price or on the terms set by us, or whether any price or other terms offered by a prospective
purchaser would be acceptable to us. We cannot predict the length of time needed to find awilling purchaser and to close the sale
of aproperty or real estate-related asset. If we are unable to sell a property or real estate-related asset when we determine to do
so, it could have a significant adverse effect on our cash flow and results of operations. As a result, we may not have funds to
make distributions to our stockholders.

We may have difficulty selling real estate investments, and our ability to distribute all or a portion of the net proceeds from
such sale to our stockholders may be limited.

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid, and as a result, we will have a limited ability to vary our portfolio in
response to changes in economic or other conditions. We also will have alimited ability to sell assetsin order to fund working
capital and similar capital needs. When we sell any of our properties, we may not realize a gain on such sale. We may elect not
to distribute any proceeds from the sale of properties to our stockholders; for example, we may use such proceeds to:

e purchase additional properties;

e repay debt, if any;

«  buy out interests of any co-venturers or other partnersin any joint venture in which we are a party;

e create working capital reserves; or

e make repairs, maintenance, tenant improvements or other capital improvements or expenditures to our remaining
properties.

We may not make a profit if we sell a property, which could adversely impact our ability to make cash distributions to our
stockholders.

The prices that we can obtain when we determine to sell a property will depend on many factors that are presently
unknown, including the operating performance, tax treatment of real estate investments, demographic trends in the area and
available financing. There is arisk that we will not recover all or a portion of our investment in a property. Accordingly, your
ability to recover al or any portion of your investment under such circumstances will depend on the amount of funds so realized
and claims to be satisfied therefrom.
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Our ability to sell our properties also may be limited by our need to avoid a 100% penalty tax that isimposed on gain
recognized by a REIT from the sale of property characterized as dealer property. In order to ensure that we avoid such
characterizationwemay berequiredto hold our propertiesfor aminimum period of timeand comply with certain other requirements
inthelnternal Revenue Codeof 1986, asamended, or the Code, or possibly hold somepropertiesthroughtaxable REI T subsidiaries,
or TRSs, that must pay full corporate-level income taxes.

We may incur liabilities in connection with properties we acquire.

Our anticipated acquisition activities are subject to many risks. We may acquire properties that are subject to liabilities
or that have problems relating to environmental condition, state of title, physical condition or compliance with zoning laws,
building codes, or other legal requirements. In each case, our acquisition may be without any, or with only limited, recourse with
respect to unknown liabilities or conditions. As aresult, if any liability were asserted against us relating to those properties or
entities, or if any adverse condition existed with respect to the properties or entities, we might have to pay substantial sums to
settle or cure it, which could adversely affect our cash flow and operating results. However, some of these liabilities may be
covered by insurance. In addition, we intend to perform customary due diligence regarding each property or entity we acquire.
Wealsowill attempt to obtain appropriate representations and undertakingsfrom the sellers of the propertiesor entitiesweacquire,
although it is possible that the sellers may not have the resources to satisfy their indemnification obligations if a claim is made.
Unknown ligbilities to third parties with respect to properties or entities acquired might include, without limitation:

e liabilitiesfor clean-up of undisclosed environmental contamination;

e claims by tenants or other persons dealing with the former owners of the properties;

< liabilitiesincurred in the ordinary course of business; and

« claimsfor indemnification by general partners, directors, officers and others indemnified by the former owners of the
properties.

Such liabilities could cause losses that adversely affect our ability to make distributionsto our stockholders.

The costs of compliance with environmental laws and other governmental laws and regulations may adversely affect our
income and the cash available for any distributions.

All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal, state and local lawsand regulations
relating to environmental protection and human health and safety. Examples of Federal laws include: National Environmental
Policy Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, the Solid Waste Disposal Act as
amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Federal Clean Air Act,
the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act and the Hazard Communication
Act. Theselawsand regulationsgenerally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and removal of underground
and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of solid and hazardous material's, and the
remediation of contamination associated with disposals. Some of these laws and regul ations may imposejoint and several liability
on residents, owners or operators for the costs of investigation or remediation of contaminated properties, regardless of fault or
the legality of the original disposal. In addition, the presence of these substances, or the failure to properly remediate these
substances, may adversely affect our ability to sell or rent the property or to use the property as collateral for future borrowing.

There also may be potential liability associated with lead-based paint arising from lawsuits alleging personal injury and
related claims. The existence of lead paint is especially aconcern in residential units. A structure built prior to 1978 may contain
lead-based paint and may present a potential for exposure to lead, however, structures built after 1978 are not likely to contain
lead-based paint.

Property values also may be affected by their proximity to electric transmission lines. Electric transmission lines are one
of many sources of electro-magnetic fields, or EMFs, to which people may be exposed. Research completed regarding potential
health concerns associated with exposure to EMFs has produced inconclusive results. Notwithstanding the lack of conclusive
scientific evidence, some states now regulate the strength of electric and magnetic fields emanating from electric transmission
lines, and other states have required transmission facilities to measure for levels of EMFs. On occasion, lawsuits have been filed
(primarily against electric utilities) that allege personal injuries from exposure to transmission lines and EMFs, as well as from
fear of adverse health effects dueto such exposure. Thisfear of adverse health effectsfrom transmission lines has been considered
both when property values have been determined to obtain financing and in condemnation proceedings. We may not, in certain
circumstances, search for electric transmission lines near our properties, but are aware of the potential exposure to damage claims
by persons exposed to EMFs.
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Recently, indoor air quality issues, including mold, have been highlighted in the media and the industry is seeing mold
claims from lessees rising. Due to such recent increase in mold claims and given that the law relating to mold is unsettled and
subject to change, we couldincur lossesfrom claimsrelating to the presence of, or exposureto, mold or other microbial organisms,
particularly if we are unable to maintain adequate insurance to cover such losses. We al so may incur unexpected expensesrelating
to the abatement of mold on properties that we acquire.

Limited quantities of asbestos-containing materials can be present in various building material s such as floor coverings,
ceiling texture material, acoustical tiles and decorative treatment. Environmental laws govern the presence, maintenance and
removal of asbestos. Theselaws could be used to impose liability for release of, and exposure to, hazardous substances, including
asbestos-containing materias, into the air. Such lawsrequire that ownersor operators of buildings containing asbestos (i) properly
manage and maintai n the asbestos, (ii) notify and train those who may comeinto contact with asbestos, and (iii) undertake special
precautions, including removal or other abatement, if asbestos would be disturbed during renovation or demolition of abuilding.
These laws may alow third parties to seek recovery from owners or operators of real properties for personal injury associated
with exposure to asbestos fibers. As the owner of our properties, we may be liable for any such costs.

Compliance with new or more stringent laws or regul ationsor stricter interpretation of existing lawsmay require material
expenditures by us. We cannot assure you that future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose any material environmental
liahility, or that the current environmental condition of our properties will not be affected by the operations of residents, existing
conditions of the land, operationsin the vicinity of the properties, or the activities of unrelated third parties. In addition, there are
various local, state and federal fire, health, life-safety and similar regulations that we may be required to comply with. Failureto
comply with applicable laws and regulations could result in fines and/or damages, suspension of personnel of our Manager and/
or other sanctions.

Discovery of previously undetected environmentally hazardous conditions may adversely affect our operating results.

Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or
operator of real property may be liable for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on, under or in
such property. The costs of removal or remediation could be substantial. These laws often impose liahility whether or not the
owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of the hazardous or toxic substances.

Environmental laws also may impose restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be
operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures. Environmental laws provide for sanctions in the event of
noncompliance and may be enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, by private parties. Certain
environmental laws and common law principles govern the presence, maintenance, removal and disposal of certain building
materials, including asbestos and lead-based paint (which are both discussed above).

The cost of defending against such claims of liability, of compliance with environmental regulatory requirements, of
remediating any contaminated property, or of paying persona injury claims could materially adversely affect our business, assets
or results of operations and, consequently, amounts available for distribution to you.

We cannot assure you that properties which we acquire will not have any material environmental conditions, liahilities
or compliance concerns. Accordingly, we have no way of determining at thistime the magnitude of any potential liability towhich
we may be subject arising out of environmental conditions or violations with respect to the properties we may purchase.

We may suffer losses that are not covered by insurance.

If we suffer losses that are not covered by insurance or that are in excess of insurance coverage, we could lose invested
capital and anticipated profits. We intend to obtain comprehensive insurance for our properties, including casualty, liability, fire,
extended coverage and rental loss customarily obtained for similar properties in amounts which our Manager determines are
sufficient to cover reasonably foreseeable losses, and with policy specifications and insured limits that we believe are adequate
and appropriate under the circumstances. Material losses may occur in excess of insurance proceeds with respect to any property
as insurance proceeds may not provide sufficient resources to fund the losses. However, there are types of losses, generally of a
catastrophic nature, such as losses due to acts of war, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, pollution, environmental matters, mold or
terrorism which are either uninsurable, not economically insurable, or may be insured subject to limitations, such as large
deductibles or co-payments.
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In addition, many insurance carriers exclude asbestos-related claimsfrom standard policies, price asbestos endorsements

at prohibitively high rates or add significant restrictionsto such coverage. Because of our inability to obtain specialized coverage
at ratesthat correspond to our perceived level of risk, wemay not obtain insurance for acts of terrorism or ashestos-related claims.
We will continue to evaluate the availability and cost of additional insurance coverage from the insurance market. If we decide
in the future to purchase insurance for terrorism or asbestos, the cost could have a hegative impact on our results of operations.
If an uninsured loss or aloss in excess of insured limits occurs on a property, we could lose our capital invested in the property,
aswell asthe anticipated future revenues from the property and, in the case of debt that isrecourse to us, would remain obligated
for any mortgage debt or other financial obligations related to the property. Any loss of this nature would adversely affect us.
Although we intend to adequately insure our properties, we cannot assure that we will successfully do so.

We may be unable to secure funds for future capital improvements, which could adversely impact our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.

When residents do not renew their leases or otherwise vacate their space, in order to attract replacement residents, we
may be required to expend funds for capital improvements to the vacated apartment units and common areas. In addition, we
may require substantial funds to renovate a multifamily community in order to sell it, upgrade it or reposition it in the market. If
we have insufficient capital reserves, we will have to obtain financing from other sources. Wetypically establish capital reserves
inanamount we, in our discretion, believeisnecessary. A lender also may require escrow of capital reserves separately maintained
from any reserves we establish. If these reserves or any reserves otherwise established are designated for other uses or are
insufficient to meet our cash needs, we may haveto obtain financing from either affiliated or unaffiliated sourcesto fund our cash
reguirements. We cannot assure you that sufficient financing will be available or, if available, will be available on economically
feasible terms or on terms acceptable to us. Moreover, certain reserves required by lenders may be designated for specific uses
and may not be availablefor capital purposessuch asfuture capital improvements. Additional borrowing will increase our interest
expense, therefore, our financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders may be adversely affected.

We may not have control over costs arising from rehabilitation of properties.

We may elect to acquire properties which require rehabilitation. In particular, we may acquire “affordable” properties
that we will rehabilitate and convert to market rate properties. Consequently, we may retain independent general contractorsto
perform the actual physical rehabilitation work and will be subject to risksin connection with a contractor's ability to control the
rehabilitation costs, the timing of completion of rehabilitation, and a contractor's ability to build and rehabilitate in conformity
with plans and specifications.

Short-term apartment leases expose us to the effects of declining market rent, which could adversely impact our ability to
make distributions to our stockholders.

We expect that most of our apartment leases will be for terms of thirteen months or less. Because these leases generally
permit the residents to leave at the end of the lease term without any penalty, our rental revenues may be impacted by declines
in market rents more quickly than if our leases were for longer terms.

The profitability of our acquisitions is uncertain.

We intend to acquire properties selectively. Acquisition of properties entails risks that investments will fail to perform
in accordance with expectations. In undertaking these acquisitions, we will incur certain risks, including the expenditure of funds
on, and the devotion of management'stimeto, transactionsthat may not cometo fruition. Additional risksinherent in acquisitions
include risks that the properties will not achieve anticipated occupancy levels and that estimates of the costs of improvementsto
bring an acquired property up to our standards may prove inaccurate.

Competition with third parties in acquiring properties and other assets may reduce our profitability and the return to our
stockholders.

We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including individuals, corporations,
bank and insurance company investment accounts, other REITS, real estate limited partnerships, and other entities engaged in
real estate investment activities. Many of these entities have significant financial and other resources, including operating
experience, allowing them to compete effectively with us. Competitors with substantially greater financial resources than us may
be able to accept more risk than we can effectively manage. In addition, those competitors that are not REITs may be at an
advantage to the extent they can utilize working capital to finance projects, while we (and our competitors that are REITSs) will
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be required by the annual distribution provisions under the Code to distribute significant amounts of cash from operationsto our
stockholders.

We will face competition from other apartment communities and the affordability of single-family homes, which may limit
our profitability and the returns to our stockholders.

Themultifamily apartment industry ishighly competitive. Thiscompetition could reduce occupancy level sand revenues
at our multifamily communities, which would adversely affect our operations. Our competitors include those in other apartment
communities both in the immediate vicinity where our multifamily communities will be located and the broader geographic
market. Such competition also may result in overbuilding of apartment communities, causing an increase in the number of
apartment units avail able and potentially decreasing our occupancy and apartment rental rates. We al so may be required to expend
substantial sums to attract new residents. The resale value of the property could be diminished because the market value of a
particular property will depend principally upon the value of the leases of such property. In addition, increases in operating costs
due to inflation may not be offset by increased apartment rental rates. Further, costs associated with real estate investment, such
asutilitiesand maintenance costs, generally are not reduced when circumstances cause areduction inincome from theinvestment.
These events would cause a significant decrease in cash flow and could cause us to reduce the amount of distributions to our
stockholders.

Moreover, theresidential apartment community industry ishighly competitive. Thiscompetition could reduce occupancy
levels and revenues at our apartment communities, which would adversely affect our operations. We expect to face competition
from many sources, including from other apartment communities both in the immediate vicinity and the broader geographic
market where our apartment communities will be located. Overbuilding of apartment communities may occur. If so, this will
increase the number of apartment units available and may decrease occupancy and apartment rental rates. In addition, increases
in operating costs dueto inflation may not be offset by increased apartment rental rates. We may be required to expend substantial
sums to attract new residents.

Additionally, the large amount of foreclosed homes available at very attractive prices, aong with the low residential
mortgage interest rates currently available and government sponsored programs to promote home ownership, has resulted in a
record high level on the National Association of Realtor's Housing Affordability Index, an index used to measure whether or not
atypical family could qualify for a mortgage loan on atypical home. The foregoing factors may encourage potentia renters to
purchase residences rather than renting an apartment, thereby causing adeclinein the pool of available rentersfor our properties.

Some or all of our properties have incurred, and will incur, vacancies, which may result in reduced revenue and resale value,
a reduction in cash available for distribution and a diminished return to our stockholders.

Our properties have incurred, and will incur, vacancies. If vacancies of a significant level continue for along period of
time, we may suffer reduced revenues resulting in lower cash distributions to our stockholders. In addition, the resale value of
the property could be diminished because the market value of a particular property will depend principally upon the value of the
leases of such property.

We are dependent on a concentration of our investments in a single asset class, making our profitability more vulnerable to
a downturn or slowdown in the sector or other economic factors.

We expect to concentrate our investments in the multifamily sector. As aresult, we will be subject to risks inherent in
investments in a single type of property. A downturn or slowdown in the demand for multifamily housing may have more
pronounced effects on the cash available for distribution or on the value of our assets than if we had more fully diversified our
investments.

We rely significantly on two repayment guarantors of our mezzanine loan investments and, therefore, are subject to credit
concentration that makes us more susceptible to adverse events with respect to such guarantors.

Asof December 31, 2012, the repayment under our mezzanine loan investmentson Trail 1, Summit |1, Crosstown Walk,
City Park and City Vista (as subsequently defined in the Results of Operations section of Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Results of Operations within this Annual Report on Form 10-K) each were guaranteed by the two named principals of the
borrowers, W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard A. Denny. These loans totaled approximately $30.0 million, or approximately 24.4%
of our assets as of December 31, 2012. If it were necessary to enforce a guaranty of completion or a guaranty of repayment, our
rights under such enforcement arelimited by rights held by the senior lender pursuant to intercreditor agreementswe havein place.
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Therefore, the failure to perform by the borrowers and such guarantorsislikely to have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and financia condition.

We are subject to geographic concentrations that make us more susceptible to adverse events with respect to certain geographic
areas.

We are subject to geographic concentrations, the most significant book values of which are as follows as of December 31,
2012

» approximately $42.9 million, or 34.8% of our assets are located in, or secured by properties located in Georgia;

»  agpproximately $34.7 million, or 28.1% of our assets are located in, or secured by properties|ocated in Pennsylvania;
»  agpproximately $27.1 million, or 22.0% of our assets are located in, or secured by propertieslocated in Virginia; and
»  approximately $6.1 million, or 5.0% of our assets arelocated in, or secured by properties|ocated in North Carolina.

Any downturn in one or more of these states, or in any other state in which we may have a significant concentration in the
future, could result in amaterial reduction of our cash flows or material lossesto us.

Failure to succeed in new markets may have adverse consequences on our performance.

We may make acquisitions outside of our existing market areas if appropriate opportunities arise. Our Sponsor's, our
Manager's or any of their affiliates' historical experiencein their existing markets does not ensure that we will be able to operate
successfully in new markets, should we choose to enter them. We may be exposed to avariety of risksif we choose to enter new
markets, including an inability to accurately evaluate local market conditions, to identify appropriate acquisition opportunities,
to hire and retain key personnel, and a lack of familiarity with local governmental and permitting procedures. In addition, we
may abandon opportunitiesto enter new markets that we have begun to explore for any reason and may, asaresult, fail to recover
expenses already incurred.

Acquiring or attempting to acquire multiple properties in a single transaction may adversely affect our operations.

We are likely to acquire multiple properties in a single transaction. Such portfolio acquisitions are more complex and
expensive than single-property acquisitions, and the risk that a multiple-property acquisition does not close may be greater than
in a single-property acquisition. Portfolio acquisitions also may result in us owning investments in geographically dispersed
markets, placing additional demands on our ability to manage the propertiesin the portfolio. In addition, a seller may require that
agroup of properties be purchased as a package even though we may not want to purchase one or more propertiesin the portfolio.
In these situations, if we are unable to identify another person or entity to acquire the unwanted properties, we may be required
to operate, or attempt to dispose of, these properties. To acquire multiple properties in a single transaction we may be required
to accumulate alarge amount of cash. Wewould expect that the returnsthat we can earn on such cash will belessthan the ultimate
returns on real property, and therefore, accumulating such cash could reduce the funds available for distributions. Any of the
foregoing events may have an adverse effect on our operations.

If we sell properties by providing financing to purchasers, we will bear the risk of default by the purchaser.

If we decide to sell any of our properties, we intend to use our commercially reasonable efforts to sell them for cash.
However, in someinstanceswe may sell our propertiesby providing financing to purchasers. If we providefinancing to purchasers,
wewill bear the risk of default by the purchaser and will be subject to remedies provided by law, which could negatively impact
distributions to our stockholders. There are no limitations or restrictions on our ability to take such purchase money obligations.
We may, therefore, take a purchase money obligation secured by a mortgage as full or partial payment for the purchase price of
aproperty. The terms of payment to us generally will be affected by custom in the area where the property being sold is located
and the then-prevailing economic conditions. If we receive promissory notes or other property in lieu of cash from property sales,
thedistribution of the proceedsof salesto our stockhol ders, or their reinvestment in other assets, will bedelayed until the promissory
notes or other property are actually paid, sold or refinanced or we have otherwise disposed of such promissory notes or other
property. In some cases, we may receive initia down payments in cash and other property in the year of sale in an amount less
than the selling price and subsequent paymentswill be spread over anumber of years. If any purchaser defaults under afinancing
arrangement with us, it could negatively impact our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
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Our revenue and net income may vary significantly from one period to another due to investments in opportunity-oriented
properties and portfolio acquisitions, which could increase the variability of our cash available for distributions.

We may make investments in opportunity-oriented properties in various phases of development, redevelopment or
repositioning and portfolio acquisitions, which may cause our revenues and net income to fluctuate significantly from one period
to another. Projects do not produce revenue while in development or redevelopment. During any period when our projectsin
development or redevelopment or those with significant capital requirements increase without a corresponding increasein stable
revenue-producing properties, our revenues and net income likely will decrease. Many factors may have a negative impact on
the level of revenues or net income produced by our portfolio of investments, including higher than expected construction costs,
failuretocompleteprojectsonatimely basis, failureof thepropertiesto perform at expected | evel supon compl etion of devel opment
or redevelopment, and increased borrowings necessary to fund higher than expected construction or other costs related to the
project. Further, our net income and stockholders' equity could be negatively affected during periods with large portfolio
acquisitions, which generally requirelarge cash outlaysand may requiretheincurrence of additional financing. Any such reduction
in our revenues and net income during such periods could cause aresulting decrease in our cash available for distributions during
the same periods.

We may obtain properties with lock-out provisions, or agree to such provisions in connection with obtaining financing, which
may prohibit us from selling a property, or may require us to maintain specified debt levels for a period of years on some
properties.

We may agree to obtain certain properties from contributors who contribute their direct or indirect interest in such
propertiesto our Operating Partnershipin exchangefor operating partnership unitsand agreeto restrictionson salesor refinancing,
called “lock-out” provisions, that are intended to preserve favorable tax treatment for the contributors of such properties and
otherwise agreeto provide the indemnitiesto contributions. Additionally, we may agreeto lock-out provisionsin connection with
obtaining financing for the acquisition of properties. Furthermore, we may agree to make a certain amount of debt available for
these contributors to guarantee in order to preserve their favorable tax treatment. Lock-out provisions and the consequences of
related tax indemnities could materially restrict usfrom selling, conveying, transferring otherwise disposing of all or any portion
of the interest in these properties in ataxable transaction or from refinancing properties. Thiswould affect our ability to turn our
investments into cash and thus affect cash available to make distributions to our stockholders. Lock-out provisions could impair
our ability to take actions during thelock-out period that would otherwise bein the best interests of our stockhol ders, and therefore,
might have an adverse impact on the value of our Common Stock and Preferred Stock. In particular, lock-out provisions could
preclude us from participating in major transactions that could result in a disposition of our assets or a change in control even
though that disposition or change in control might be in the best interests of our stockholders.

Risks Associated with Debt Financing
We have significant debt, which could have important adverse consequences.

As of December 31, 2012, we had outstanding debt of approximately $70.4 million. This indebtedness could have
important consequences, including:

« if aproperty is mortgaged to secure payment of indebtedness, and if we are unable to meet our mortgage obligations,
we could sustain aloss as aresult of foreclosure on the mortgaged property;

e our vulnerahility to general adverse economic and industry conditionsisincreased; and

e our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in business and industry conditionsis limited.

The mortgages on our properties subject to secured debt and our Credit Facility contain customary restrictions,
requirements, and other limitations, aswell as certain financial and operating covenantsincluding maintenance of certain financial
ratios. Maintai ning compliance with these provisions could limit our financial flexibility. A default in these provisions, if uncured,
could require us to repay the indebtedness before the scheduled maturity date, which could adversely affect our liquidity and
increase our financing costs.

We may be unable to renew, repay, or refinance our outstanding debt.

We are subject to the risk that indebtedness on our properties or our unsecured indebtedness will not be renewed, repaid,
or refinanced when due or thetermsof any renewal or refinancing will not be asfavorabl e asthe existing terms of such indebtedness.
If we are unable to refinance our indebtedness on acceptable terms, or at all, we might be forced to dispose of one or more of the
properties on disadvantageous terms, which might result in losses to us. Such losses could have a material adverse effect on us
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and our ability to make distributionsto our stockholders and pay amounts due on our debt. Furthermore, if aproperty is mortgaged
to secure payment of indebtedness and we are unable to meet mortgage payments, the mortgagee could foreclose on the property,
appoint areceiver and exerciserights under an assignment of rents and leases, or pursue other remedies, all with aconsequent loss
of our revenues and asset value. Foreclosures could also create taxable income without accompanying cash proceeds, thereby
hindering our ability to meet the REIT distribution requirements of the Code.

We plan to incur additional mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which may increase our business risks. We
intend to acquire properties subject to existing financing or by borrowing new funds. In addition, we may incur or increase our
mortgage debt by obtaining loans secured by selected, or by all of our, real properties to obtain funds to acquire additional real
properties and/or make capital improvements to properties. We also may borrow funds, if necessary, to satisfy the requirement
that we generally distribute to stockholders as dividends at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income (excluding net capital
gain), or otherwise asis necessary or advisable to assure that we maintain our qualification asa REIT.

Weintend to incur mortgage debt on aparticular property only if webelievethe property'sprojected cash flow issufficient
to service the mortgage debt. However, if thereisashortfall in cash flow requiring us to use cash from other sourcesto make the
mortgage payments on the property, then the amount available for distributions to stockholders may be affected. In addition,
incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of 1oss since defaults on indebtedness secured by properties may result in foreclosure
actions initiated by lenders and our loss of the property securing the loan which isin default. For tax purposes, a foreclosure of
any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt
secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property,
we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but would not receive any cash proceeds. We may, in some circumstances,
give aguaranty on behalf of an entity that owns one or more of our properties. In these cases, we will be responsibleto the lender
for satisfaction of thedebt if itisnot paid by such entity. If any mortgagescontain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions,
thereis arisk that more than one property may be affected by a default.

Any mortgage debt which we place on properties may contain clauses providing for prepayment penalties. If alender
invokesthese penalties upon the sale of aproperty or the prepayment of amortgage on aproperty, the cost to usto sell the property
could increase substantially, and may even be prohibitive. This could lead to areduction in our income, which would reduce cash

available for distribution to stockholders and may prevent us from borrowing more money.

We may incur additional indebtedness, which may harm our financial position and cash flow and potentially impact our ability
to pay dividends on the Preferred Stock and our Common Stock.

Our governing documents do not have limitations on the amount of leverage we may use. As of December 31, 2012, we
and our subsidiaries had outstanding approximately $55.6 million of secured indebtedness and approximately $14.8 million of
unsecured i ndebtedness. We may incur additional indebtedness and become more highly leveraged, which could harm our financia
position and potentialy limit our cash available to pay dividends. As a result, we may not have sufficient funds remaining to
satisfy our dividend obligations relating to the Preferred Stock and our Common Stock if we incur additional indebtedness.

Interest-only indebtedness may increase our risk of default and ultimately may reduce our funds available for distributions
to our stockholders.

We also may finance our property acquisitions using interest-only mortgage indebtednessfor al or aportion of theterm.
During theinterest-only period, the amount of each scheduled payment will be lessthan that of atraditional amortizing mortgage
loan. The principal balance of the mortgage loan will not be reduced (except in the case of prepayments) because there are no
scheduled monthly payments of principal during this period. After the interest-only period, we will be required either to make
scheduled payments of amortized principal and interest or to make alump-sum or “balloon” payment at maturity. These required
principal or balloon paymentswill increase the amount of our scheduled payments and may increase our risk of default under the
related mortgageloan. If the mortgagel oan hasan adjustabl einterest rate, the amount of our schedul ed paymentsal so may increase
at atimeof risinginterest rates. I ncreased paymentsand substantial principal or balloon maturity paymentsor prepayment penalties
will reduce the funds available for distribution to our stockholders because cash otherwise available for distribution will be
required to pay principal and interest associated with these mortgage loans. While our intention and practice has been to place
interest rate caps on our floating rate mortgages, these caps will be at rates above current rates.
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There is no limitation on the amount we may invest in any single property or other asset.

Our investment guidelines limit our borrowings (secured and unsecured) to 75% of the cost of our tangible assets at the
time of any new borrowing. Subject to these limitations on overall leveragein our investment guidelines, which can be amended
by our board of directors without stockholder approval, there is no limitation in our charter or our by-laws on the amount we can
borrow for the purchase of any individual property or other investment. Use of excessive leverage could result in our loss of
investment in one or more properties, which could adversely affect the value of our capital stock.

If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable rates, it may make it difficult for us to finance or refinance properties, which
could reduce the number of properties we can acquire, our cash flows from operations and the amount of cash distributions
we can make.

If we are unable to borrow monies on terms and conditions that we find acceptable, we likely will have to reduce the
number of properties we can purchase, and the return on the properties we do purchase may be lower. If we place mortgage debt
on properties, weruntherisk of being unableto refinance the properti eswhen the debt becomesdue or of being unableto refinance
on favorable terms. If interest rates are higher when we refinance the properties, our income could be reduced. As such, we may
find it difficult, costly or impossible to refinance indebtedness which is maturing. If any of these events occur, our interest cost
would increase as a result, which would reduce our cash flow. This, in turn, could reduce cash available for distribution to our
stockholders and may hinder our ability to raise capital by issuing more stock or borrowing more money. If we are unable to
refinance maturing i ndebtedness with respect to aparticul ar property and are unableto pay the same, then thelender may foreclose

on such property.

Financial and real estate market disruptions during 2007 and continuing throughout 2012 could adversely affect the
multifamily property sector's ability to obtain financing from Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, which could adversely impact
us.

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are major sources of financing for the multifamily sector and both experienced significant
losses beginning in 2008 and continuing into 2012 due to credit-related expenses, securities impairments and fair value losses.
If new U.S. government regulations (i) heighten Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's underwriting standards, (ii) adversely affect
interest rates, or (iii) reduce the amount of capital they can make available to the multifamily sector, it could reduce or remove
entirely a vital resource for multifamily financing. Any potential reduction in loans, guarantees and credit-enhancement
arrangements from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac coul d jeopardi ze the eff ectiveness of the multifamily sector'savailablefinancing
and decrease the amount of available liquidity and credit that could be used to acquire and diversify our portfolio of multifamily

assets.

The conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and related efforts, along with any changes in laws and regulations
affecting the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the U.S. federal government, may adversely affect our
business.

Duetoincreased market concernsabout Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac'sability to withstand future credit | osses associated
with securities held in their investment portfolios, and on which they provide guarantees, without the direct support of the U.S.
federal government, on July 30, 2008, the government passed the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008, or the HERA.
On September 7, 2008, the Federal Housing Finance Agency, or the FHFA, placed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac into
conservatorship and, together with the U.S. Treasury, established a program designed to boost investor confidence in Fannie
Mae's and Freddie Mac's debt and mortgage-related securities. As the conservator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, the FHFA
controls and directs the operations of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and may (i) take over the assets of and operate Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac with all the powers of the stockholders, the directors and the officers of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and
conduct all business of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac; (ii) collect all obligations and money due to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac;
(ii1) perform al functions of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac which are consistent with the conservator's appointment; (iv) preserve
and conserve the assets and property of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac; and (v) contract for assistance in fulfilling any function,
activity, action or duty of the conservator.

In addition to the FHFA becoming the conservator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, the U.S. Treasury has taken three
additional actions: (i) the U.S. Treasury and the FHFA have entered into preferred stock purchase agreements between the U.S.
Treasury and Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac pursuant to which the U.S. Treasury will ensure that each of Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac maintains a positive net worth; (ii) the U.S. Treasury has established a new secured lending credit facility which will be
available to Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan Banks, which is intended to serve as a liquidity backstop,
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which was indefinitely extended; and (iii) the U.S. Treasury has initiated a temporary program to purchase U.S. government
agency Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities, or RMBS, issued by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

Although the U.S. Treasury has committed capital to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, there can be no assurance that these
actions will be adequate for their needs. If these actions are inadequate, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could continue to suffer
losses and could fail to honor their guarantees and other obligations. The future roles of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could be
significantly reduced and the nature of their guarantees could be considerably limited relative to historical measurements. Any
changesto the nature of the guaranteesprovided by Fannie M aeand Freddie M ac could redefinewhat constitutesaU.S. government
agency RMBS and could have broad adverse market implications. Such market implications could negatively affect the
performance and market value of our investments.

The potential reduction or winding down of the role Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac play in the mortgage market may materially
adversely affect the multifamily sector and our business, operations and financial condition.

On February 11, 2011, the U.S. Treasury and the U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Devel opment issued a report to
the U.S. Congress entitled “ Reforming America's Housing Finance Market” that lays out, anong other things, three options for
long-term reform, which would reduce or wind down the role that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac play in the mortgage market.
These proposalsare: (a) aprivatized system of housing finance with the government insurance role limited to the Federal Housing
Administration, or the FHA, the United States Department of Agriculture, or the USDA and the Department of Veterans' Affairs,
or the VA, assistance for narrowly targeted groups of borrowers; (b) a privatized system of housing finance with assistance from
the FHA, USDA and VA for narrowly targeted groups of borrowers and a guarantee mechanism to scale up during times of crisis,
and (c) a privatized system of housing finance with FHA, USDA and VA assistance for low- and moderate-income borrowers
and catastrophic reinsurance behind significant private capital. Any such proposals, if enacted, may have broad and material
adverse implications for the multifamily sector and our business, operations and financial condition. We expect such proposals
to be the subject of significant discussion and it is not yet possible to determine whether or when any of such proposals may be
enacted, what form any final legislation or policies might take and how proposals, legislation or policies emanating from this
report may impact the multifamily sector and our business, operationsand financial condition. Weare evaluating, and will continue
to evaluate, the potential impact of the proposals set forth in this report.

Our ability to obtain financing on reasonable terms could be impacted by negative capital market conditions.

Recently, domestic financial markets have experienced unusual volatility, uncertainty and atightening of liquidity in
both theinvestment grade debt and equity capital markets. Thecommercial real estate debt marketsare al so experiencing volatility
asaresult of certain factorsincluding the tightening of underwriting standards by lenders and credit rating agencies and the lack
of an efficient securitization market. Credit spreads for major sources of capital widened significantly during the U.S. credit crisis
as investors demanded a higher risk premium. Should the overall cost of borrowings increase, either by increases in the index
rates or by increases in lender spreads, we will need to factor such increases into the economics of our acquisitions. This may
result in our acquisitions generating lower overall economic returns and potentially reducing cash flow available for distribution.

The recent dislocations in the debt markets have reduced the amount of capital that is available to finance real estate,
which, in turn, (&) may no longer alow real estate investors to rely on capitalization rate compression to generate returns, and
(b) has slowed real estate transaction activity, all of which may reasonably be expected to have a material adverse impact on
revenues and income from the acquisition and operations of real properties and mortgage loans. Investors will need to focus on
market-specific growth dynamics, operating performance, asset management and the long-term quality of the underlying real
estate asset.

In addition, the state of the debt markets could have an impact on the overall amount of capital investing in real estate
which may result in price or value decreases of real estate assets. Consequently, thereis greater uncertainty regarding our ability
to access the credit market in order to attract financing on reasonable terms. Investment returns on our assets and our ability to
make acquisitions could be adversely affected by our inability to secure financing on reasonable terms, if at all.

High levels of debt or increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our loan payments, which could reduce the cash
available for distribution to stockholders.

As mentioned above, we incur and expect to continue to incur debt. Higher debt levels would cause us to incur higher
interest charges, would result in higher debt service payments, and could be accompanied by restrictive covenants. Interest we
pay could reduce cash available for distribution to stockholders. Additionally, if weincur variable rate debt, increasesin interest
rateswould increase our interest costs, which would reduce our cash flow and our ability to make distributionsto you. If we need
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to repay existing debt during periods of rising interest rates, we could be required to liquidate one or more of our investmentsin
properties at times which may not permit realization of the maximum return on such investments and could result in aloss.

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which could limit our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.

In providing financing to us, alender may impose restrictions on us that affect our ability to incur additional debt, make
certain investments, reduce liquidity below certain levels, make distributions to our stockholders and otherwise affect our
distribution and operating policies. In general, we expect our loan agreements to restrict our ability to encumber or otherwise
transfer our interest in the respective property without the prior consent of the lender. Such loan documents may contain other
negative covenantsthat may limit our ability to discontinueinsurance coverage, replace our Manager or impose other limitations.
Any such restriction or limitation may have an adverse effect on our operations and our ability to make distributions to you.
Further, such restrictions could make it difficult for us to satisfy the requirements necessary to maintain our qualification as a
REIT.

Some of our mortgage loans may have “due on sale” provisions, which may impact the manner in which we acquire, sell and/
or finance our properties.

In purchasing properties subject to financing, wemay obtain financing with “ due-on-sale” and/or “ due-on-encumbrance”
clauses. Due-on-sale clausesin mortgages allow amortgage lender to demand full repayment of the mortgage loan if the borrower
sells the mortgaged property. Similarly, due-on-encumbrance clauses allow a mortgage lender to demand full repayment if the
borrower uses the real estate securing the mortgage loan as security for another loan. These clauses may cause the maturity date
of such mortgageloansto be accel erated and such financing to become due. In such event, wemay berequired to sell our properties
on an al-cash basis, to acquire new financing in connection with the sale, or to provide seller financing. It is unknown whether
the holders of mortgages encumbering our propertieswill require such acceleration or whether other mortgage financing will be
available. Such factorswill depend on the mortgage market and on financial and economic conditions existing at the time of such
sale or refinancing.

Lenders may be able to recover against our other properties under our mortgage loans.

Infinancing our property acquisitions, wewill seek to obtain secured nonrecourseloans. However, only recoursefinancing
may be available, in which event, in addition to the property securing the loan, the lender may look to our other assets for
sati sfaction of the debt. Therefore, should we beunableto repay arecourseloan with the proceedsfromthe sale or other disposition
of the property securing the loan, the lender could look to one or more of our other properties for repayment. Also, in order to
facilitate the sale of a property, we may allow the buyer to purchase the property subject to an existing loan whereby we remain
responsible for the debt.

The derivative financial instruments that we may use may be costly and ineffective and may reduce the overall returns on your
investment.

To the extent that we use derivative financial instruments in connection with our floating interest rate debt, we will be
exposed to credit, basis and legal enforceability risks. Derivative financial instruments may include interest rate swap contracts,
interest rate cap or floor contracts, futures or forward contracts, options or repurchase agreements. In this context, credit risk is
the failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. If the fair value of a derivative contract is
positive, the counterparty owes us, which creates credit risk for us. Basis risk occurs when the index upon which the contract is
based is more or less variable than the index upon which the hedged asset or liability is based, thereby making the hedge less
effective. Finally, legal enforceability risks encompass general contractual risks, including the risk that the counterparty will
breach the terms of, or fail to perform its obligations under, the derivative contract. If we are unable to manage these risks
effectively, our results of operations, financial condition and ability to make distributions to our stockholders will be adversely
affected.
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Risks Related to Our Real Estate-Related Investments

Our investments in, or originations of, senior debt or mezzanine debt and our investments in membership or partnership
interests in entities that own multifamily properties will be subject to the specific risks relating to the particular company and
to the general risks of investing in real estate-related loans and securities, which may result in significant losses.

Wemay invest in, or originate, senior debt or mezzanine debt and invest in membership or partnership interestsin entities
that own multifamily properties. These investments will involve specia risks relating to the particular company, including its
financial condition, liquidity, resultsof operations, businessand prospects. I n particul ar, thedebt securitiesmay not becollateralized
and also may be subordinated to the entity's other obligations. We are likely to invest in debt securities of companies that are not
rated or are rated non-investment grade by one or more rating agencies. Investmentsthat are not rated or are rated non-investment
grade have ahigher risk of default than investment grade rated assets and therefore may result in lossesto us. We have not adopted
any limit on such investments.

Theseinvestments also will subject usto therisksinherent with real estate investmentsreferred to previoudly, including
the risks described with respect to multifamily properties and other real estate-related investments and similar risks, including:

e risksof delinquency and foreclosure, and risks of loss in the event thereof;

e the dependence upon the successful operation of, and net income from, real property;
e risksgeneraly incident to interestsin real property; and

*  risks specific to the type and use of a particular property.

These risks may adversely affect the value of our investments in entities that own multifamily properties and the ability
of our borrowers thereof to make principal and interest payments in a timely manner, or at all, and could result in significant
losses.

Our mezzanine loan assets will involve greater risks of loss than senior loans secured by income-producing properties.

We may originate (in connection with a forward purchase or option to purchase contract or otherwise) or acquire
mezzanine loansin entities that own or are developing multifamily properties or other real estate-related investments which take
the form of subordinated loans secured by second mortgages on the underlying property or loans secured by a pledge of the
ownership interests of either the entity owning the property or a pledge of the ownership interests of the entity that owns the
interest in the entity owning the property. These types of assets involve a higher degree of risk than long-term senior mortgage
lending secured by income-producing real property, because the loan may become unsecured as a result of foreclosure by the
senior lender and becauseit isin second position and there may not be adequate equity inthe property. Inthe event of abankruptcy
of the entity providing the pledge of its ownership interests as security, we may not have full recourse to the assets of such entity,
or the assets of the entity may not be sufficient to satisfy our mezzanine loan. If a borrower defaults on our mezzanine loan or
debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a borrower bankruptcy, our mezzanine loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt.
We may be unable to enforce guaranties of payment and/or performance given as security for some mezzanineloans. Asaresult,
we may nhot recover some or al of our initial expenditure. Our mezzanine loans partialy finance the construction of rea estate
projects and so involve additional risks inherent in the construction process, such as adherence to budgets and construction
schedules. In addition, mezzanine loans may have higher loan-to-value ratios than conventional mortgage loans, resulting in less
equity in the property and increasing the risk of loss of principal. Significant |osses related to our mezzanine |oans would result
in operating losses for us and may limit our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

If we fail to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we will be subjected to tax on our income and the amount of distributions
we make to our stockholders will be less.

Weelected to bearea estateinvestment trust for U.S. federal incometax purposes, commencing with our tax year ended
December 31, 2011. A REIT generally is not taxed at the corporate level on income and gains it distributes to its stockholders
on atimely basis.

If wewereto fail to qualify asaREIT in any taxable year:

e wewould not be alowed to deduct our distributions to our stockholders when computing our taxable income;
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« wewould besubject to U.S. federal incometax (including any applicabl e alternative minimum tax) on our taxableincome
at regular corporate rates and possibly increased state and local taxes;

*  wecouldbedisqualifiedfrom beingtaxed asaREI T for thefour taxableyearsfol lowing theyear duringwhich qualification
was lost, unless entitled to relief under certain statutory provisions;

¢ wewould have less cash to make distributions to our stockholders; and

« we might be required to borrow additional funds or sell some of our assetsin order to pay corporate tax obligations we
may incur as aresult of our disqualification.

Although we intend to operate in a manner intended to qualify as a REIT, it is possible that future economic, market,
legal, tax or other considerations may cause our board of directors to determine to revoke our REIT election. Even if we qualify
asaREIT, we expect to incur some taxes, such as state and local taxes, taxes imposed on certain subsidiaries and potential U.S.
federal excise taxes.

Even though we have qualified as a REIT, in certain circumstances, we may incur tax liabilities that would reduce our cash
available for distribution to our stockholders.

Even though we have qualified asa REI T, we may be subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. For example,
net income from the sale of properties that are “dealer” properties sold by a REIT (a “prohibited transaction” under the Code)
will be subject to a 100% tax. We may not make sufficient distributions to avoid excise taxes applicable to REITs. We also may
decide to retain any net capital gain we earn from the sale or other disposition of our property and pay U. S. federal income tax
directly on such income. In that event, our stockholders would be treated as if they earned that income and paid the tax on it
directly. However, stockholders that are tax-exempt, such as charities or qualified pension plans, would have no benefit from
their deemed payment of such tax liability unlessthey file U.S. federal income tax returns and thereon seek arefund of such tax.
We also will be subject to corporate tax on any undistributed REIT taxable income. We also may be subject to state and local
taxes on our income or property, including franchise, payroll and transfer taxes, either directly or at the level of our Operating
Partnership or at thelevel of the other companiesthrough which weindirectly own our assets, such asour TRSs, which are subject
tofull U.S. federal, state, local and foreign corporate-level income taxes. Any taxes we pay directly or indirectly will reduce our
cash available for distribution to our stockhol ders.

To continue to qualify as a REIT we must meet annual distribution requirements, which may force us to forgo otherwise
attractive opportunities or borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions. This could delay or hinder our ability to meet
our investment objectives and reduce overall return to our stockholders.

In order to maintain our status as a REIT, we must distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our annual
REIT taxable income (which does not equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to
the deduction for distributions paid and excluding net capital gains. We will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our
undistributed taxable income and net capital gain and to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which distributionswe
pay with respect to any calendar year are less than the sum of (i) 85% of our ordinary income, (ii) 95% of our capital gain net
income, and (iii) 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. These requirements could cause us to distribute amounts
that otherwise would be spent on investments in real estate assets and it is possible that we might be required to borrow funds,
possibly at unfavorable rates, or sell assetsto fund these distributions. It is possible that we may not be able to make distributions
sufficient to meet the annual distribution requirements and to avoid U.S. federal income and excise taxes on our earnings while
we qualify asaREIT.

Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to the prohibited transaction tax, which could reduce the return on
your investment.

For so long as we qualify as a REIT, our ability to dispose of property during the first few years following acquisition
may be restricted to a substantial extent asaresult of our REIT qualification. Under applicable provisions of the Code regarding
prohibited transactions by REITs, we will be subject to a 100% penalty tax on any gain recognized on the sale or other disposition
of any property (other than foreclosure property) that we own, directly or indirectly through any subsidiary entity, including our
Operating Partnership, but generally excluding any TRSs, that is deemed to be inventory or property held primarily for sale to
customers in the ordinary course of trade or business. Whether property is inventory or otherwise held primarily for sale to
customersintheordinary courseof atrade or businessdependson the particul ar factsand circumstances surrounding each property.
Whilewe qualify asaREIT, weintend to avoid the 100% prohibited transaction tax by (1) conducting activitiesthat may otherwise
be considered prohibited transactions through a TRS (but such TRS would incur corporate rate income taxes with respect to any
income or gain recognized by it), (2) conducting our operations in such a manner so that no sale or other disposition of an asset
we own, directly or indirectly through any subsidiary, will be treated as a prohibited transaction or (3) structuring certain
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dispositions of our propertiesto comply with the requirements of prohibited transaction safe harbor available under the Code for
properties that, among other requirements, have been held for at least two years. Despite our present intention, no assurance can
be given that any particular property we own, directly or through any subsidiary entity, including our Operating Partnership, but
generally excluding our TRSs, will not be treated as inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary
course of atrade or business.

The use of TRSs would increase our overall tax liability.

Some of our assets may need to be owned or sold, or operations conducted, by TRSs, which will be subject to U.S.
federal and state income tax on their taxable income. The after-tax net income of any TRSs would be available for distribution
to us. Further, we will incur a 100% excise tax on transactions with TRSs that are not conducted on an arm's-length basis. For
example, to the extent that the rent paid by a TRS that exceeds an arm's-length rental amount, such amount is potentially subject
totheexcisetax. Weintend that all transactionsbetween usand any TRSswill be conducted on an arm's-length basis, and therefore,
any amounts paid by any TRSsto uswill not be subject to the excise tax; provided, however, that no assurance can be given that
no excise tax would arise from such transactions.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could increase our tax liability, reduce our operating
flexibility and reduce the market price of our Common Stock.

In recent years, numerous legidative, judicial and administrative changes have been made in the provisions of U.S.
federal income tax laws applicable to investments similar to an investment in shares of our Common Stock or Preferred Stock.
Additiona changes to the tax laws are likely to continue to occur, and we cannot assure you that any such changes will not
adversely affect the taxation of a stockholder. Any such changes could have an adverse effect on an investment in our Common
Stock or Preferred Stock or on the market value or the resale potential of our assets. You are urged to consult with your own tax
adviser with respect to the impact of recent legislation on your investment in our shares and the status of legislative, regulatory
or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our Common Stock or Preferred
Stock. You also should note that our counsel's tax opinion was based upon existing law and Treasury Regulations, applicable as
of the date of its opinion, al of which will be subject to change, either prospectively or retroactively.

Although REITsgenerally receive better tax treatment than entitiestaxed asregular corporations, it ispossiblethat future
legislation would result in a REIT having fewer tax advantages, and it could become more advantageous for a company that
investsin real estate to elect to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as aregular corporation. As aresult, our charter
provides our board of directors with the power, under certain circumstances, to revoke or otherwise terminate the REIT election
weintend to make and cause usto be taxed as aregular corporation, without the vote of our stockholders. Our board of directors
has fiduciary duties to us and our stockholders and could only cause such changes in our tax treatment if it determinesin good
faith that such changes are in the best interest of our stockholders.

If the Operating Partnership fails to maintain its status as a partnership, its income may be subject to taxation.

We intend to maintain the status of the Operating Partnership as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
However, if the IRS were to successfully challenge the status of the Operating Partnership as a partnership for such purposes, it
would be taxable as a corporation. In such event, this would reduce the amount of distributions that the Operating Partnership
could make to us. This also would result in our losing REIT status, and becoming subject to a corporate level tax on our own
income, and would substantially reduce our cash available to pay distributions and the yield to our stockholders. In addition, if
any of the partnerships or limited liability companies through which the Operating Partnership owns its properties, in whole or
in part, loses its characterization as a partnership and is not otherwise disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it would
be subject to taxation as a corporation, thereby reducing distributions to the Operating Partnership. Such a recharacterization of
an underlying property owner could also threaten our ability to maintain our REIT qualification.

Our investments in certain debt instruments may cause us to recognize “phantom income” for U.S. federal income tax purposes
even though no cash payments have been received on the debt instruments, and certain modifications of such debt by us could
cause the modified debt to not qualify as a good REIT asset, thereby jeopardizing our REIT qualification.

Our taxable income may substantially exceed our net income as determined based on GAARP, or differencesin timing
between therecognition of taxableincomeand the actual receipt of cash may occur. For example, we may acquire assets, including
debt securities requiring usto accrue original issue discount, or OID, or recognize market discount income, that generate taxable
income in excess of economic income or in advance of the corresponding cash flow from the assets referred to as “phantom
income.” In addition, if aborrower with respect to a particular debt instrument encounters financial difficulty rendering it unable
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to pay stated interest as due, we may nonethel ess be required to continue to recognize the unpaid interest as taxable income. We
may also be required under the terms of the indebtedness that we incur to use cash received from interest payments to make
principa payment on that indebtedness, with the effect that we will recognize income but will not have a corresponding amount
of cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

Asaresult of the foregoing, we may generate less cash flow than taxable income in aparticular year and find it difficult
or impossible to meet the REIT distribution requirements in certain circumstances. In such circumstances, we may be required
to (1) sell assets in adverse market conditions, (2) borrow on unfavorable terms, (3) distribute amounts that would otherwise be
used for future acquisitions or used to repay debt, or (4) make ataxable distribution of our shares of Common Stock as part of a
distribution in which stockholders may elect to receive shares of Common Stock or (subject to alimit measured as a percentage
of the total distribution) cash, in order to comply with the REIT distribution reguirements.

The failure of a mezzanine loan to qualify as a real estate asset could adversely affect our ability to maintain our qualification
asaREIT.

In general, in order for aloan to be treated as aqualifying real estate asset producing qualifying income for purposes of
the REIT asset and income tests, the loan must be secured by real property. We may originate (in connection with a forward
purchase or option to purchase contract) or acquire mezzanine loans that are not directly secured by real property but instead
secured by equity interestsin a partnership or limited liability company that directly or indirectly ownsreal property. In Revenue
Procedure 2003-65, the IRS provided a safe harbor pursuant to which a mezzanine loan that is not secured by real estate would,
if it meets each of the requirements contained in the Revenue Procedure, be treated by the IRS as a qualifying real estate asset.
Although the Revenue Procedure provides a safe harbor on which taxpayers may rely, it does not prescribe rules of substantive
tax law and inmany casesit may not be possiblefor usto meet all the requirements of the safe harbor. We cannot provide assurance
that any mezzanine loan in which we invest would be treated as a qualifying asset producing qualifying income for REIT
qualification purposes. If any such loan fails either the REIT income or asset tests, we may be disqualified asa REIT.

Furthermore, if we participate in any appreciation in value of real property securing a mortgage loan and the IRS
characterizes such “ shared appreciation mortgage” as equity rather than debt, for example, because of alargeinterest in cash flow
of the borrower, we may be required to recognize income, gains, and other items with respect to the real property for U.S. federa
income tax purposes. This could affect our ability to qualify asa REIT.

The allocation of the purchase price for the Units between the shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the Warrants that make
up the Units may cause an investor to recognize “phantom income” with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, even though the investor will not receive any cash payments corresponding to such income.

If the allocation of the purchase price for the Units between the shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the Warrants that
comprise the Units results in an “issue price” for the Series A Preferred Stock that is lower than the price at which the Series A
Preferred Stock may be redeemed under certain circumstances, thisdifferencein price (the“ redemption premium”) will betreated
as a constructive distribution of additional stock on preferred stock under Section 305(c) of the Code, unless the redemption
premium is less than a statutory de minimis amount. Any such constructive distribution may need to be taken into account under
principles similar to the principles governing the inclusion of accrued original issue discount under Section 1272(a) of the Code.

We intend to take a position, through an appropriate valuation methodology, on an allocation of the purchase price for
the Units between the shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the Warrants that make up the Units. If the allocation resultsin a
value for the Warrant in excess of the statutory de minimis amount, we will report the premium in gross income of U.S. holders
as it accrues under a constant yield method and include the amount on the annua dividend reporting form, Form 1099-DIV.
However, our position on the alocation of the purchase price to the Warrantsis not binding on the IRS. If the IRS wereto take a
different position regarding such allocation, U.S. holders would be required to include a different amount of redemption premium
in gross income as it accrues under a constant yield method and may be required to treat any gain recognized on the disposition
of the Series A Preferred Stock as ordinary income rather than as capital gain. In addition, a non-U.S.-holder's receipt of such
constructive dividend may be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax to the same extent as an actual distribution.

We may choose to make distributions in our own stock, in which case you may be required to pay U. S. federal income taxes
in excess of the cash dividends you receive.

In connection with our qualification asa REIT, we are required to distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of
our REIT taxable income (which does not equal net income as cal culated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard
to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gain. In order to satisfy this requirement, we may make distributions
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that are payable in cash and/or shares of our common stock (which could account for up to 80% of the aggregate amount of such
distributions) at the el ection of each stockholder. Taxable stockholders receiving such distributionswill be required to include the
full amount of such distributions as ordinary dividend income to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as
determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Asaresult, U.S. stockholders may be required to pay U. S. federal income taxes
with respect to such distribution in excess of the cash portion of the distribution received. Accordingly, U.S. stockholdersreceiving
adistribution of our shares may be reguired to sell shares received in such distribution or may be required to sell other stock or
assets owned by them, at atime that may be disadvantageous, in order to satisfy any tax imposed on such distribution. If aU.S.
stockholder sells the Common Stock that it receives as part of the distribution in order to pay this tax, the sales proceeds may be
less than the amount included in income with respect to the distribution, depending on the market price of our Common Stock at
the time of the sale. Furthermore, with respect to certain non-U.S. stockholders, we may be required to withhold U.S. tax with
respect to such distribution, including in respect of al or a portion of such distribution that is payable in Common Stock, by
withholding or disposing of part of the shares included in such distribution and using the proceeds of such disposition to satisfy
the withholding tax imposed. In addition, if a significant number of our stockholders determine to sell shares of our Common
Stock in order to pay taxes owed on dividend income, such sale may put downward pressure on the market price of our Common
Stock.

Various tax aspects of such ataxable cash/stock distribution are uncertain and have not yet been addressed by the IRS.
No assurance can be given that the IRS will not impose requirementsin the future with respect to taxable cash/stock distributions,
including on aretroactive basis, or assert that the requirements for such taxable cash/stock distributions have not been met.

The taxation of distributions to our stockholders can be complex; however, distributions that we make to our stockholders
generally will be taxable as ordinary income, which may reduce a stockholder's anticipated return from an investment in us.

Distributions that we make to our taxable stockholders out of current and accumulated earnings and profits (and not designated
as capital gain dividends or qualified dividend income) generally will be taxable as ordinary income. However, a portion of our
distributions may (1) be designated by us as capital gain dividends generally taxable as long-term capital gain to the extent that
they are attributable to net capital gain recognized by us, (2) be designated by us as qualified dividend income generaly to the
extent they areattributabl eto dividendswereceivefrom our taxable REI T subsidiaries, or (3) constituteareturn of capital generally
to the extent that they exceed our accumulated earnings and profits as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A return
of capital is not taxable, but has the effect of reducing the basis of a stockholder's investment in our capital stock.

Dividends payable by REITs generally do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.

Currently, themaximumtax rateapplicableto qualified dividendincomepayableto U.S. stockhol dersthat areindividuals,
trusts and estates is 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however, generaly are not eigible for this reduced rate. Although this
does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends payable by REITs, the more favorable rates applicable to regular
corporate qualified dividends could cause investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to
be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely
affect the value of the shares of REITS, including our Common Stock.

If we were considered to actually or constructively pay a “preferential dividend” to certain of our stockholders, our status as
a REIT could be adversely affected.

In order to qualify asa REIT, we must distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income
(which doesnot equal netincomeascal culated in accordancewith GAAP), determined without regard to thedeductionfor dividends
paid and excluding net capital gain. In order for distributions to be counted as satisfying the annual distribution requirements for
REITs, and to provide uswith aREI T-level tax deduction, the distributions must not be “ preferential dividends.” A dividend is not
apreferential dividendif thedistributionispro rataamong all outstanding sharesof stock withinaparticular class, andin accordance
with the preferences among different classes of stock as set forth in our organizational documents. Currently, there is uncertainty
as to the IRS's position regarding whether certain arrangements that REITs have with their stockholders could give rise to the
inadvertent payment of apreferential dividend. Thereisno de minimis exception with respect to preferential dividends. Therefore,
if the IRS were to take the position that we inadvertently paid a preferential dividend, we may be deemed either to (a) have
distributed less than 100% of our REIT taxable income and be subject to tax on the undistributed portion, or (b) have distributed
less than 90% of our REIT taxable income and our status as a REIT could be terminated for the year in which such determination
is made if we were unable to cure such failure.
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Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge our liabilities effectively and may cause us to incur tax
liabilities.

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our liabilities. Any income from a hedging transaction
we enter into to manage risk of interest rate changes, price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or
to be made to acquire or carry real estate assets, if properly identified under applicable Treasury Regulations, does not constitute
“gross income” for purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income tests. To the extent that we enter into other types of hedging
transactions, theincome from those transactions will likely be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both of the gross
income tests. As a result of these rules, we may need to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those
hedges through a TRS. This could increase the cost of our hedging activities because our TRSs would be subject to tax on gains
or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear. In addition, losses
inaTRS generally will not provide any tax benefit, except for being carried forward against future taxable income of such TRS.

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to forgo and/or liquidate otherwise attractive investment opportunities.

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must ensure that we meet the REIT gross income tests annually and that at
the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash items, government securities and
qualified REIT real estate assets, including certain mortgage loans and certain kinds of mortgage-rel ated securities. Theremainder
of our investment in securities (other than government securities and qualified real estate assets) generally cannot include more
than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities
of any oneissuer. In addition, ingeneral, no more than 5% of the val ue of our assets (other than government securitiesand qualified
real estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, and no more than 25% of the value of our total assets can be
represented by securities of one or more TRSs. If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter,
we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions
toavoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences. Asaresult, we may berequired to liquidate assets
from our portfolio or not make otherwise attractive investments in order to maintain our qualification as a REIT. These actions
could have the effect of reducing our income and amounts available for distribution to our stockholders.

The share ownership restrictions of the Code for REITs and the 9.8% share ownership limit in our charter may inhibit market
activity in our shares of stock and restrict our business combination opportunities.

In order to maintain our qualification asaREIT, five or fewer individuals, as defined in the Code, may not own, actually
or constructively, more than 50% in value of our issued and outstanding shares of stock at any time during the last half of each
taxable year, other than thefirst year for which aREIT election is made. Attribution rulesin the Code determineif any individual
or entity actually or constructively owns our shares of stock under this requirement. Additionally, at least 100 persons must
beneficially own our shares of stock during at least 335 days of ataxable year for each taxable year, other than the first year for
which aREIT electionismade. To help insure that we meet these tests, among other purposes, our charter restrictsthe acquisition
and ownership of our shares of stock.

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to
preserve our qualification as a REIT while we so qualify. Unless exempted by our board of directors, for so long as we qualify
as a REIT, our charter prohibits, among other limitations on ownership and transfer of shares of our stock, any person from
beneficially or constructively owning (applying certain attribution rules under the Code) more than 9.8% in value of the aggregate
of our outstanding shares of stock or more than 9.8% (in value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive) of any class
or series of our shares of stock. Our board of directors may not grant an exemption from these restrictions to any proposed
transferee whose ownership in excess of 9.8% of the value of our outstanding shares would result in the termination of our
qualification as a REIT. These restrictions on transferability and ownership will not apply, however, if our board of directors
determines that it is no longer in our best interest to continue to qualify asa REIT or that compliance with the restrictions is no
longer required in order for us to continue to so qualify asa REIT.

These ownership limits could delay or prevent atransaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price
for our stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.

Non-U.S. stockholders will be subject to U. S. federal withholding tax and may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on
distributions received from us upon the disposition of our shares.

Subject to certain exceptions, distributionsreceived from uswill betreated as dividends of ordinary incometo the extent
of our current or accumulated earnings and profits. Such dividends ordinarily will be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a 30%
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rate, or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty, unlessthe distributions are treated as “ effectively
connected” with the conduct by the non-U.S. stockholder of aU.S. trade or business. Pursuant to the Foreign Investment in Real
Property Tax Act of 1980, or FIRPTA, capital gain distributions attributableto sales or exchangesof "U.S. real property interests’,
or USRPIs, generaly will be taxed to a non-U.S. stockholder as if such gain were effectively connected with a U.S. trade or
business. However, a capital gain dividend will not be treated as effectively connected income if (1) the distribution is received
with respect to aclass of stock that is regularly traded on an established securities market located in the United States and (2) the
non-U.S. stockholder does not own more than 5% of the class of our stock at any time during the one-year period ending on the
date the distribution is received.

Gain recognized by anon-U.S. stockholder upon the sale or exchange of our stock generally will not be subject to U.S.
federal income taxation unless such stock constitutes a USRPI under FIRPTA. Our Common Stock will not constitute a USRPI
so long as we are a“domestically-controlled qualified investment entity.” A domestically-controlled qualified investment entity
includes a REIT if at all times during a specified testing period, less than 50% in value of such REIT's stock is held directly or
indirectly by non-U.S. stockholders. We believe, but cannot assure you, that we have been a domestically-controlled qualified
investment entity; however, because our Common Stock is publicly traded, no assurance can be given that we will continue to
be a domestically-controlled qualified investment entity.

Even if we do not qualify as a domestically-controlled qualified investment entity at the time a non-U.S. stockholder
sells or exchanges our Common Stock, gain arising from such a sale or exchange would not be subject to U.S. taxation under
FIRPTA asasale of aUSRPI if: (1) our Common Stock is“regularly traded,” as defined by applicable Treasury regulations, on
an established securitiesmarket, and (2) such non-U.S. stockholder owned, actually and constructively, 5% or less of our Common
Stock at any time during the five year period ending on the date of sale. We encourage you to consult your own tax advisor to
determine the tax consequences applicable to you if you are anon-U.S. stockholder.

Potential characterization of distributions or gain on sale may be treated as unrelated business taxable income to tax-exempt
investors.

If (1) wearea“pension-held REIT,” (2) atax-exempt stockholder hasincurred (or is deemed to have incurred) debt to
purchase or hold our Common Stock or (3) aholder of Common Stock is acertain type of tax-exempt stockholder, dividends on,
and gains recognized on the sale of, Common Stock by such tax-exempt stockholder may be subject to U.S. federal income tax
as unrelated business taxable income under the Code.

Employee Benefit Plan Risks

If you fail to meet the fiduciary and other standards under ERISA or the Code as a result of an investment in our stock, you
could be subject to liability and penalties.

Special considerations apply to the purchase of capital stock or holding of Warrants by employee benefit plans subject
to the fiduciary rules of Title | of Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or ERISA, including pension
or profit sharing plans and entities that hold assets of such ERISA Plans, and plans and accounts that are not subject to ERISA,
but are subject to the prohibited transaction rules of Section 4975 of the Code, including IRAs, Keogh Plans, and medical savings
accounts(collectively, werefer to ERISA Plans and plans subject to Section 4975 of the Code as Benefit Plans. If you areinvesting
the assets of any Benefit Plan, you should satisfy yourself that:

e your investment is consistent with your fiduciary obligations under ERISA and the Code;

e your investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the Benefit Plan, including the
Benefit Plan's investment policy;

e your investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and 404(a)(1)(C) of
ERISA, if applicable, and other applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code;

e your investment will not impair the liquidity of the Benefit Plan;

e your investment will not produce unrelated business taxable income, or UBTI, for the Benefit Plan;

e youwill beabletovaluetheassetsof the plan annually in accordance with ERISA requirementsand applicable provisions
of the Benefit Plan; and

e your investment will not constitute a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of
the Code.

Fiduciaries may be held personally liable under ERISA for losses as aresult of failure to satisfy the fiduciary standards
of conduct and other applicable requirements of ERISA. In addition, if an investment in our capital stock or holding of Warrants
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constitutes a non-exempt prohibited transaction under ERISA or the Code, the fiduciary of the plan who authorized or directed
the investment may be subject to imposition of excise taxes with respect to the amount invested and an I RA investing in the stock
may lose its tax exempt status.

Plansthat are not subject to ERISA or the prohibited transactions of the Code, such as government plansor church plans,
may be subject to similar requirementsunder statelaw. Such plansshoul d satisfy themsel vesthat theinvestment satisfiesapplicable

law. We have not, and will not, evaluate whether an investment in our capital stock or holding of Warrants is suitable for any
particular plan.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

At December 31, 2012, we were the sole owner of the following multifamily communities:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Average Average Physical Average Physical
Metropolitan Year Number  Unit Size rental rate  Occupancy rental rate  Occupancy

Property area Completed  of Units (sq. ft.) per unit (1) (2) per unit (1) 2
Summit
Crossing Atlanta, GA 2007 345 1,034 $ 963 92.8% $ 926 91.9%
Trail Creek Hampton, VA 2006 204 988 $ 1,114 91.7% $ 1,113 95.1%
Stone Rise Philadelphia, PA 2008 216 1,019 $ 1,333 94.9% $ 1,313 91.7%
Total 765 1,033 93.1% 92.7%

(1) Based on the average move-ins and renewal s during the fourth quarter of 2012 and 2011, net of concessions.
(2) Count of occupied units (including models) divided by total units at reporting date.

Details regarding the mortgage debt on our properties may be found in note 9 to the consolidated financia statementswithin
thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K.

Our communities are equipped with an array of amenities believed to be sufficient to position Preferred Apartment
Communities as attractive residential rental optionswithin each local market. Such amenities can include, but are not limited to,
one or more swimming pools, a clubhouse with a business center, tennis courts, and laundry facilities. Unit-specific amenities

can include high-end appliances, tile kitchen backsplashes, washer and dryer hookups, and ceiling fans. Resident lease terms
generally range from six to eighteen months.

Our corporate headquartersislocated at 3625 Cumberland Boulevard, Suite 400, Atlanta, Georgia 30339.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Neither we nor our subsidiaries nor, to our knowledge, our Manager is currently subject to any legal proceedings that we or
our Manager consider to be material. To our knowledge, none of our communities are currently subject to any legal proceeding

that we consider material.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

Our Common Stock is traded on the NYSE MKT (formerly known as the NY SE Amex) exchange under the symbol
“APTS'.

The following table sets forth the historical quarterly price data pertaining to our Common Stock, and per-share dividend
distributions declared on our Common Stock for 2011 and 2012:

Quarter ended: High Low Close Dividends
6/30/2011 $ 10.39 $ 8.17 $ 9.09 $ 0.125
9/30/2011 $ 9.01 $ 5.68 $ 5.70 $ 0.125

12/31/2011 $ 6.96 $ 5.61 $ 6.05 $ 0.125

Quarter ended: High Low Close Dividends
3/31/2012 $ 8.36 $ 5.80 $ 7.96 $ 0.13
6/30/2012 $ 8.30 $ 6.85 $ 7.05 $ 0.13
9/30/2012 $ 8.63 $ 7.00 $ 8.50 $ 0.14

12/31/2012 $ 8.53 $ 7.40 $ 7.79 $ 0.145

As of December 31, 2012, there were approximately 2,000 holders of record of our Common Stock. Thistotal excludes
an unknown number of holders of 87,492 shares of Common Stock in street name at non-responding brokerage firms.

Dividends

We have declared and subsequently paid cash dividends on shares of our Common Stock for each quarter since our PO
in 2011. Since we have elected to be taxed as a REIT effective with our tax year ended December 31, 2011, we are required to,
and intend to, distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to maintain such status. Dividends are declared with the action
and approval of the our independent board of directorsand any future distributions are made at the board's discretion. Our dividend
paying capacity is primarily dependent upon cash generated from our multifamily communities, interest income on our real estate
loans, and cash needs for capital expenditures, both foreseen and unforeseen, among other factors. Risks inherent in our ability
to pay dividends are further described in the section entitled “Risk Factors’, in Item 1.A of thisAnnua Report on Form 10-K.

Equity Compensation Plan

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2012 regarding our compensation plans and our
Common Stock authorized for issuance under the plans.

Number of
securities remaining
Number of securities to Weighted-average available for future
be issued upon exercise exercise price of issuance under
of outstanding options, outstanding options, equity
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights compensation plans

Equity compensation plans L
approved by stockholders @ — N/A 390,037

Equity compensation plans
not approved by )
stockholders 150,000 @ $ 12.50 —

Total $ 150,000 $ 12.50 390,037

@
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2

Includes our 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2011 Plan") that authorized a maximum of 567,500 shares of our Common
Stock for issue under the 2011 Plan. Awards may be made in the form of issuances of Common Stock, restricted stock, stock
appreciation rights, performance shares, incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, or other forms. Eligibility for
receipt of, amounts, and all termsgoverning awards pursuant to the 2011 Plan, such asvesting periodsand voting and dividend
rights on unvested awards, are determined by our Compensation Committee, consistent with the terms of the 2011 Plan.

Represents the warrant to purchase up to 150,000 shares of our Common Stock that was issued to International Assets
Advisory, LLC as partial compensation for services rendered in connection with our IPO. The exercise price is $12.50 per
share, which is 125% of the gross | PO price of $10.00 per share. The warrant became exercisable as of September 28, 2011
and expires on March 31, 2015.

Shareholder Return Performance Graph

The following stock performance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or “filed”” with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filings under
the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The chart above presents comparative investment results of a hypothetical initial investment of $1,000 on April 1, 2011
in: (i) our Common Stock, ticker symbol APTS; (ii) the MSCI U. S. REIT Index, an index of equity REIT constituent companies
that derive the majority of their revenue from real estate rental activities; and (iii) the S& P Small Cap 600 Index, a broad equity
index comprised of constituent companieswith capitalization level sthat approximateours. Thetotal return resultsassumeautomatic
reinvestment of dividends and no transaction costs.

Value of initial investment on:

4/1/2011 12/31/2012
APTS Common Stock $ 1,000.00 $ 862.74
MSCI U. S. REIT Index $ 1,000.00 $ 1,200.96
S& P Small Cap 600 Index $ 1,000.00 $ 1,063.70
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Sales of Unregistered Securities

On April 5, 2011, we issued 26,000 shares of restricted stock to our independent directors in lieu of paying cash as
compensation for annual service as members of our Board of Directors. These shares were issued pursuant to the exemption
provided under Section 4(2) of the SecuritiesAct.

On May 5, 2011, we issued 1,872 shares of Common Stock to our independent directors in lieu of paying cash as
compensation for attendance at board committee meetings pursuant to our 2011 Stock Incentive Plan. These shares were issued
pursuant to the exemption provided under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

On August 4, 2011, we issued 1,500 shares of Common Stock to our independent directors in lieu of paying cash as
compensation for attendance at board committee meetings pursuant to our 2011 Stock Incentive Plan. These shares were issued
pursuant to the exemption provided under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

On November 9, 2011, weissued 1,926 shares of Common Stock to our independent directorsin lieu of paying cash as
compensation for attendance at board committee meetings pursuant to our 2011 Stock Incentive Plan. These shares were issued
pursuant to the exemption provided under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

On February 2, 2012, we issued 2,988 shares of Common Stock to our independent directorsin lieu of paying cash as
compensation for attendance at board committee meetings pursuant to our 2011 Stock Incentive Plan. These shares were issued
pursuant to the exemption provided under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Thefollowing table setsforth selected financial and operating dataon ahistorical basis and should be read in conjunction

with the section entitled “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and our
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Twelve months ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Total revenues $ 12,491,235 $ 7,150,703 $ —
Total expenses 12,637,865 15,646,127 766,199
Net loss $ (146,630) $ (8,495,424) $ (766,199)
Net loss per share of Common Stock,

basic and diluted $ (0.12) $ (2.23) $ (20.90)
Weighted average number of shares of Common

Stock outstanding, basic and diluted 5,172,260 3,822,303 36,666
Cash dividends declared per share of Common Stock $ 0.545 $ 0.375 —
Total assets $ 123,291,930 $ 92,465,540 $ 829,812
Long term debt $ 55,637,000 $ 55,637,000 $ —
Revolving credit facility $ 14,801,197 $ — $ —
Tota liahilities $ 73,234,355 $ 57,847,639 $ 1,486,012
Series A preferred stock 198 — —
Total (deficit) equity 50,057,575 34,617,901 (656,200)
Totd liabilities and (deficit) equity $ 123,291,930 $ 92,465,540 $ 829,812
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Significant Developments

During 2012, we increased our loan portfolio by approximately $29.1 million to $35.1 million, adding five new loans, three
of which are mezzanine loans which are partially financing the construction of new multifamily communities in Charlotte, North
Carolina, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, and Atlanta, Georgia. In addition, we added a bridge loan that was subsequently converted to a
mezzanine loan in the amount of approximately $5.4 million, which is partially financing a retail development project in Rome,
Georgia, aswell as another land acquisition bridge loan in the amount of approximately $4.7 million, which isrelated to the planned
construction of amultifamily community in suburban Tampa, Florida. The three new multifamily mezzanine loansinclude exclusive
limited optionsin favor of the Company to purchase the properties once stabilized. Our total aggregate real estate |oan commitments
totaled approximately $44.3 million at December 31, 2012, and are discussed in detail in the Results of Operations section of this
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

As of December 31, 2012, we had cumulatively issued 19,762 Units and collected net proceeds of approximately $17.8
million from our Primary Series A Offering, which is discussed in detail in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of this
Management’s Discussion and Analysisof Financial Condition and Resultsof Operations. OnAugust 16, 2012, wefiled aregistration
statement on Form S-11 (registration number 333-183355) for our Follow-On Offering. The terms of the Follow-On Offering and
features of the related Units are substantially the same as the Primary Series A Offering. The registration statement for the Follow-
On Offering has not yet been declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

On August 31, 2012, we entered into a $15.0 million revolving Credit Facility with an unrelated third party lender. The
intended uses of the line of credit are to fund investments, capital expenditures, dividends (with consent) and working capital and
other general corporate purposes on an as heeded basis. Amounts drawn under the line of credit bear interest at a variable rate which
was approximately 5.2% per annum at December 31, 2012. More detailsontheline of credit arediscussed in the Liquidity and Capital
Resources section of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

OnJanuary 17, 2013, we compl eted aprivate placement transaction inwhichweissued 40,000 sharesof our SeriesB Preferred
Stock for a purchase price of $1,000 per share, and collected proceeds of approximately $37.6 million, net of commissions. Each
outstanding share of Series B Preferred Stock will be converted to approximately 143 shares of Common Stock at a conversion ratio
of $7.00 per share following approval of such conversion by the holders of our Common Stock. The Series B Preferred Stock pays
dividends at the same rate as those declared on our Common Stock, on an as-converted basis. Dividends on the Series B Preferred
Stock will be paid pro ratafrom January 16, 2013, based on the rate that Common Stock dividends are paid over the same period. If
the conversion to Common Stock is not approved by the holders of our Common Stock, it will accrue dividends at arate of 15% per
annum beginning on May 16, 2013.

On January 23, 2013, we acquired three multifamily communities: McNeil Ranch, a 192 unit multifamily community in
Austin, Texas, for approximately $21.0 Million; Lake Cameron, a 328 unit multifamily community in suburban Raleigh, North
Carolina, for approximately $30.4 million; and Ashford Park, a408 unit multifamily community in Atlanta, Georgiafor approximately
$39.4 million. These three additional communities added 928 unitsto our portfolio, which now total 1,693 units. These acquisitions
were financed utilizing proceeds from the Series B Preferred Stock transaction described above. On January 24, 2013, we refinanced
these multifamily communities with seven-year, nonrecourse mortgage financing, which totaled approximately $59.0 million. Fixed
rate, interest-only payments of 3.13% per annum are due monthly through February 28, 2018.

Forward-looking Statements

Certain statements contained in thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K, including, without limitation, statements containing the
words "believes," "anticipates," "intends,” "expects,” "assumes," "trends' and similar expressions, constitute "forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are based upon
our current plans, expectations and projections about future events. However, such statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any
future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among
others, the following:

 our business and investment strategy;

 our projected operating results;

» actions and initiatives of the U.S. Government and changes to U.S. Government policies and the execution and impact of
these actions, initiatives and policies;

« the state of the U.S. economy generaly or in specific geographic aress;
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* economic trends and economic recoveries;

« our ahility to obtain and maintain financing arrangements, including through the Federal National M ortgage Association, or
Fannie Mae, and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, or Freddie Mac;

« financing and advance rates for our target assets;

» our expected leverage;

» changesin the values of our assets;

 our expected portfolio of assets;

 our expected investments;

* interest rate mismatches between our target assets and our borrowings used to fund such investments;

» changesin interest rates and the market value of our target assets;

 changesin prepayment rates on our target assets;

« effects of hedging instruments on our target assets;

« rates of default or decreased recovery rates on our target assets;

« the degree to which our hedging strategies may or may not protect us from interest rate volatility;

» impact of and changesin governmental regulations, tax law and rates, accounting guidance and similar matters;

« our ability to maintain our qualification asa REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes,

« our ability to maintain our exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended,;

« availability of investment opportunities in mortgage-related and real estate-related investments and securities;

« availahility of qualified personnel;

» estimates relating to our ability to make distributions to our stockholdersin the future;

« our understanding of our competition; and

« market trendsin our industry, interest rates, real estate values, the debt securities markets or the general economy.

Forward-looking statements are found throughout "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations' and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The reader should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required under the federal securities laws and the rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, we do not have any intention or obligation to publicly release
any revisions to forward-looking statements to reflect unforeseen or other events after the date of this report. The forward-looking
statements should be read in light of the risk factors indicated in the section entitled "Risk Factors' in section 1.A of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and as may be supplemented by any amendments to our risk factors in our subsequent quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q and other reports filed with the SEC, which are accessible on the SEC’'s website at www.sec.gov.

General

The following discussion and analysis provides information that we believe is relevant to an assessment and understanding
of our results of operationsand financial position. Thisdiscussion and analysisshould beread in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are an externally managed Maryland corporation incorporated on September 18, 2009 formed primarily to acquire
and operate multifamily propertiesin select targeted markets throughout the United States. Asa secondary strategy, we also may
acquire or originate senior mortgage loans, subordinate loans or mezzanine debt secured by interests in multifamily properties,
membership or partnership interestsin multifamily properties and other multifamily related assets and invest not more than 10%
of our total assetsin other real estate related investments, as determined by our Manager as appropriate for us. We collectively
refer to these asset classes as our target assets.

Inaddition, whilewecurrently do not anticipateinvestingin unimproved property, devel oping new construction properties
or acquiring new construction, as part of our business strategy, we may enter into forward purchase contracts on, or options to
purchase, to-be-built multifamily communities and we may make mezzanine loans, provide deposit arrangements, or provide
performance assurances, as may be necessary or appropriate, in connection with the construction of multifamily communities and
other properties.

We seek to generate returnsfor our stockholders by taking advantage of the current environment in thereal estate market
and the United States economy by acquiring multifamily assetsin our targeted markets. The current economic environment still
provides many challenges for new development, which provides opportunity for current multifamily product to potentially enjoy
stable occupancy rates and rising rental rates as the overall economy continues to grow. Asthe real estate market and economy
stabilize, we intend to employ efficient management techniques to grow income and create asset value.
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Asmarket conditionschangeover time, weintend to adjust our investment strategy to adapt to such changesasappropriate.
We continueto believethere are abundant opportunitiesamong our target assetsthat currently present attractiverisk-return profiles.
However, in order to capitalize on the investment opportunities that may be present in the various other points of an economic
cycle, we may expand or change our investment strategy and target assets. We believe that the diversification of the portfolio of
assets that we intend to acquire, our ability to acquire and manage our target assets, and the flexibility of our strategy will position
us to generate attractive total returns for our stockholdersin avariety of market conditions.

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, effective with our
tax year ended December 31, 2011. We aso intend to operate our businessin a manner that will permit usto maintain our status
as a REIT and our exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. We will conduct
substantially all of our operations through Preferred Apartment Communities Operating Partnership, L.P, or our Operating
Partnership, in which we owned an approximate 100% interest as of December 31, 2012.

We commenced revenue-generating operationsin April 2011.
Industry Outlook

Webelievegradual, albeit potentially sporadic, improvement in the United States' economy will continue over the coming
quarters, which should translate into more stable job growth and improvements in consumer confidence. We believe a growing
economy, improved job market and increased consumer confidence should help sustain the current upward momentum in the
multifamily sector. We expect current occupancy ratesto generally remain stable, on an annual basis, as net absorption of available
unit inventory and the new product coming on-line continues over the near term. The pipeline of new multifamily construction,
although increasing, is currently below average historical levels due to adifficult construction financing environment, which, we
believe, should help to keep occupancies stable.

Historically low U.S. Treasury yields and competitive lender spreads have created a favorable borrowing environment
for multifamily owners. Given the uncertainty around the world's financial markets, investors have been willing to accept lower
yields on U.S. Government backed securities, providing Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae with excellent access to investor capital.
We expect the market to continue to remain favorable for borrowing as the equity and debt markets continue to view the U.S.
multifamily sector as a desirable investment. We expect the supply of multifamily housing units to eventually grow as market
rent increases overcome financing, commodity, and other cost challenges, boosting revenue projections and making more
construction projects viable for builders and devel opers.

We believethe combination of amore sustainable current and future lending approach from the banking industry, coupled
with continued hesitance and reluctance among prospective homebuyers concerning the net benefits of home ownership versus
renting will continue to work in the multifamily sector's favor, resulting in gradual increases in market rents, lower concessions,
and opportunities for increases in ancillary feeincome. In addition, we believe immigration rates to the U.S. may be lower than
in recent years, driven by fewer available jobs due to the economic downturn and legislation in place in certain states aiming to
curbillegal immigration. Asnew residents of the U.S. are believed to be primarily renters rather than home buyers, we expect a
marginal softening of market conditions dueto thisfactor. More than offsetting this effect, we believe, will be afirming effect on
market conditions by the ongoing migration of the domestic echo-boomer generation into the workforce, resulting in anet increase
in demand for rental housing.

Critical Accounting Policies

Below is adiscussion of the accounting policies that management believes are critical. We consider these policies critical
because they involve significant management judgments, assumptions, and estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain
and becausethey areimportant for understanding and eval uating our reported financial results. Thesejudgmentsaffect thereported
amounts of assets and liabilities and our disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. With different estimates or assumptions, materially
different amounts could be reported in our financial statements. Additionally, other companies may utilize different estimates that
may impact the comparability of our results of operations to those of companiesin similar businesses.

Real Estate

Cost Capitalization. Investmentsinreal estate propertiesare carried at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of 40 years for buildings, 5 to 10 years for building and land improvements and 5 to 10 years for
computers, furniture, fixtures and equipment. Third-party acquisition costs are generally expensed as incurred for transactions
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that are deemed to be business combinations. Repairs, maintenance and resident turnover costs are charged to expense asincurred
and significant replacements and betterments are capitalized and depreciated over the items' estimated useful lives. Repairs,
maintenance and resident turnover costsinclude all coststhat do not extend the useful life of the real estate property. We consider
the period of future benefit of an asset to determine its appropriate useful life.

Real Estate Acquisition Valuation. We generally record the acquisition of income-producing real estate as a business
combination. All assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their acquisition-date fair
values. Acquisition costs for business combinations are expensed as incurred.

We assess the acquisition-date fair values of all tangible assets, identifiable intangibles and assumed liabilities using
methods similar to those used by independent appraisers (e.g., discounted cash flow analysis) and that utilize appropriate discount
and/or capitalization rates and available market information. Estimates of future cash flows are based on a humber of factors,
including historical operating results, known and anticipated trends, and market and economic conditions. Thefair valueof tangible
assets of an acquired property considers the value of the property asif it were vacant.

We record above-market and bel ow-market in-place lease values for acquired properties based on the difference between
(i) the contractual amountsto be paid pursuant to the in-place leases, and (ii) management’s estimate of fair market lease rates for
the corresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the remaining average non-cancelable term of the leases. We
amortize any recorded above-market or bel ow-market lease values as areduction or increase, respectively, to rental income over
the remaining average non-cancelable term of the respective leases.

Intangible assets include the value of in-place |leases, which represents the estimated value of the net cash flows of the
in-place leasesto berealized, as compared to the net cash flows that would have occurred had the property been vacant at thetime
of acquisition and subject to lease-up. These estimates include estimated carrying costs, such asreal estate taxes, insurance and
other operating expenses and estimates of lost rental s at market rates during the hypothetical expected lease-up periods. Acquired
in-place lease values are amortized to operating expense over the average remaining non-cancelable term of the respective in-
place leases.

Estimating the fair values of the tangible assets, identifiable intangibles and assumed liabilities requires us to make
significant assumptionsto estimate market |easerates, property-operating expenses, carrying costsduring lease-up periods, discount
rates, market absorption periods, the number of years the property will be held for investment, and market interest rates. The use
of different assumptionswould resultin variationsof thevaluesof our acquired tangibl e assets, identifiabl eintangibles and assumed
liahilities, which would impact their subsequent amortization and ultimately our net income.

Impairment of Real Estate, L oans and Related Intangible Assets. We monitor events and changes in circumstances that
could indicate that the carrying amounts of our real estate, loans and related intangible assets may not be recoverable or realized.
When conditions suggest that an asset group may be impaired, we compare its carrying value to its estimated undiscounted future
cash flows, including proceeds from its eventual disposition. If, based on this analysis, we do not believe that we will be able to
recover the carrying val ue of an asset group, werecord animpairment lossto the extent that the carrying val ue exceedsthe estimated
fair value of the asset group. Fair market value is determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis. Thisanaysisrequiresus
to use future estimates of net operating income, expected hold period, capitalization rates and discount rates. The use of different
assumptions would result in variations of the values of the assets which could impact the amount of our net income and our assets
on our balance sheet.

Real Estate Loans

We extend loans for purposes such as to provide partial financing for the development of multifamily residential
communities, to acquire land in anticipation of developing and constructing multifamily residential communities, and for other
real estate or real estate related projects. Certain of these loans we extend include characteristics such as exclusive options to
purchasethe project withinaspecifictimewindow foll owing expected proj ect compl etion and stabilization, therightstoincremental
exit fees over and above the amount of periodic interest paid during the life of the loans, or both. These characteristics can cause
the loansto fall under the definition of avariable interest entity, or VIE, and thustrigger consolidation consideration. We consider
the facts and circumstances pertinent to each loan, including the relative amount of financing we are contributing to the overall
project cost, decision making rights or control we hold, and our rights to expected residual gains or our obligations to absorb
expected residual losses from the project. If we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary of a VIE due to holding a controlling
financial interest, the majority of decision making control, or by other means, consolidation of the VIE would berequired. Arriving
at these conclusions requires us to make significant assumptions and judgments concerning each project, especially with regard
to our estimates of future market capitalization rates and property net operating income projections. Additionally, we analyze each
loan arrangement and utilize these same assumptions and judgments for consideration of whether theloan qualifiesfor accounting
asaloan or as an investment in areal estate development project.
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Rents and Other Receivables

We periodically evaluatethe collectability of amounts duefrom residentsand maintain an allowancefor doubtful accounts
for estimated losses resulting from the inability of residents to make required payments then due under lease agreements. The
balance of amounts due from residents are written off when we deem the amounts to be uncollectible.

Revenue Recognition

We expect to lease apartment units under operating leaseswith termsgenerally of thirteen monthsor less. Rental revenue,
net of concessions, is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Differences from the straight-line method,
which recognize the effect of any up-front concessions and other adjustments ratably over the lease term, are not material.

We recognize gains on sales of real estate either in total or deferred for aperiod of time, depending on whether asale has
been consummated, the extent of the buyer’s investment in the property being sold, whether our receivable, if any, is subject to
future subordination, and the degree of our continuing involvement with the property after the sale, if any. If the criteriafor profit
recognition under the full-accrual method are not met, we defer gain recognition and account for the continued operations of the
property by applying the reduced profit, deposit, installment or cost recovery method, as appropriate, until the appropriate criteria
are met.

Other income, including interest earned on our cash, isrecognized asit is earned. We recognize interest income on real
estate loans on an accrual basis over the life of the loan using the effective interest method. Direct loan origination fees and
origination or acquisition costs, are amortized over the life of the loan as an adjustment to interest income. We stop accruing
interest on loans when there is concern as to the ultimate collection of principal or interest of the loan, which is generally a
delinquency of 30 daysinrequired paymentsof interest or principal. Any paymentsreceived on such non-accrual loansarerecorded
asinterest income when the payments are received. Interest accrua on real estate |oan investmentsis resumed once interest and
principal payments become current.

Promotional fees received from service providers at our properties are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over
the term of the agreement.

Income Taxes

We elected to betaxed asa REIT under the Code effective with our tax year ended December 31, 2011. We had no taxable
income prior to that date. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a
reguirement to distribute at least 90% of our annua REIT taxable income to our stockholders (which is computed without regard
to the dividends paid deduction and which does not equal net income as calculated in accordance with United States generally
accepted accounting principles, or GAAP). AsaREIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federa income tax to the extent
we distribute qualifying dividends to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify asa REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to
U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates and generally will not be permitted to qualify
for treatment asa REIT for the four taxable yearsfollowing the year during which qualification islost unlessthe Internal Revenue
Service, or IRS, grantsusrelief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could materially adversely affect our net income
and net cash availablefor distribution to stockholders. However, weintend to operate in such amanner asto maintain our election
for treatment asa REIT.

Equity Compensation

We calculate the fair value of equity compensation instruments such as warrants and stock options based upon estimates
of their expected term, the expected volatility of and dividend yield on our Common Stock over this expected term period and the
market risk-freerate of return. When appropriate, wewill a so estimateforfeitures of theseinstrumentsand accrue the compensation
expense, net of estimated forfeitures, over the vesting period(s).

Recent Adoption of Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common
Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. The substantive changes in this new guidance
require the application of a premium or discount in valuing an instrument that is absent Level 1 inputs, when a market participant
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would apply such a factor in valuing an instrument. The guidance also enhances disclosure requirements: (i) for fair values of
Level 3 assets, the valuation process used for those assets and the sensitivity of those calculations to changes in the amount of
unobservable inputs; (ii) areporting entity’s use of anonfinancial asset in away that differs from the asset’s highest and best use
when that asset is measured at fair value in the statement of financial position; and (iii) the categorization by level within the fair
value hierarchy of items that are not measured at fair value in the statement of financia position but for which the fair value is
required to bedisclosed. Thisguidanceiseffectivefor interim and annual periodsbeginning after December 15, 2011. Our adoption
of this guidance did not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-10, Property, Plant and Equipment (Topic 360): Derecognition of in
Substance Real Estate —a Scope Clarification. Thisnew standard clarifiesthe guidance concerning deconsolidation of asubsidiary
that is in substance real estate upon the event of default of that subsidiary’s nonrecourse debt. Generally, deconsolidation of a
subsidiary in this circumstance is not appropriate until the collateral is legally transferred to the lender and the indebtedness is
extinguished. This guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after June 15, 2012. Our adoption of this
guidance did not have amaterial effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Results of Operations
Overview

We commenced business operations in the second quarter of 2011 with the acquisitions of the Stone Rise, Summit
Crossing, and Trail Creek multifamily communities (each asdefined below) on April 15, April 21, and April 29, 2011, respectively.
Our portfalio, as of December 31, 2012, also included four mezzanine rea estate construction loans partially financing the
construction of multifamily communities with funded amounts totaling approximately $25.4 million, each with exclusive limited
options to purchase the properties once developed and stabilized, one mezzanine loan partialy financing the construction of a
retail complex with afunded amount of approximately $5.1 million, and one land acquisition bridge |oan with a funded amount
of approximately $4.6 million.

We recorded net |osses attributable to common stockhol ders of approximately $615,000 and $8.5 million for the twelve-
month periods ended December 31, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

The highlights of our 2012 operating resultsinclude:

»  We closed on and partially funded three mezzanine construction loans and two real estate related loans (one of which
wasconverted to amezzanineloan), with amaximum aggregate amount of approximately $38.3 million. At December 31,
2012, the funded amounts of these new loans totaled approximately $29.1 million. Three of these four mezzanineloans
include limited options to purchase the properties once developed and stabilized.

e Through December 31, 2012, we have cumulatively issued 19,762 Units and collected net proceeds of approximately
$17.8 million from our Primary Series A Offering.

*  We continue to hold no debt at the Company or Operating Partnership levels, except with regard to our $15.0 million
Credit Facility. We have no cross-collateralization of our real estate assets, and have no contingent liabilities at the
Company or Operating Partnership levels with regard to our secured mortgage debt on our communities.

» Declared and paid quarterly dividends on our Common Stock totaling $2,851,973 and $1,940,078 for the twelve-month
periodsended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The most recent Common Stock dividend of $0.145 per share,
which totaled $771,616, was paid on January 15, 2013 to all common stockholders of record as of December 31, 2012
Thisrepresentsa 16% overall increase in our Common Stock dividend since our |PO and an annualized dividend growth
rate of 10.6%.

»  Declared and paid monthly dividends of $5.00 per share of our SeriesA Preferred Stock, which totaled $450,807 for the
twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012 and represents a 6% annual yield.

*  AFFO for the three-month period ended December 31, 2012 was $1,002,352 and cash provided by operating activities
was $1,156,045 for the same period. Our cash provided by operating activities was more than sufficient to fund our
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quarterly Common Stock and Series A Preferred Stock dividends. See the Adjusted Funds From Operations Attributable
to Common Stockholders section within this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations for the definition of this non-GAAP measure and a reconciliation to net loss attributable to the Company,
which we believe is the most comparable GAAP measure.

Acquired properties

On April 15, 2011, we acquired 100% of the membership interests in Stone Rise Apartments, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (f/k/aOxford Rise JV LLC), or Stone Rise, thefee-simple owner of amultifamily community located in suburban
Philadel phia, Pennsylvania. WilliamsOpportunity Fund, LL C, or WOF, owned the membership interestsin Stone Rise A partments,
LLC. The Stone Rise A partments membership interests were acquired from Oxford Rise Partners LLC, a Georgialimited liability
company, and WOF. As of December 31, 2012, WOF owned approximately 2.69% of our Common Stock. In addition, John A.
Williams, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, indirectly owns an approximate 1.0% membership interest in
WOF. In connection with the acquisition, we paid an acquisition fee of $301,500, or 1.0% of the contract purchase price, to our
Manager, of which WOF received $3,015 through its special limited liability company interest in our Manager which entitlesWOF
to receive 1% of our Manager's gross revenues.

On April 21, 2011, we acquired 100% of the membership interests in PAC Summit Crossing, LLC, a Georgia limited
liability company (f/k/a Oxford Summit Partners, LLC), or Summit Crossing, the fee-simple owner of a multifamily community
located in suburban Atlanta, Georgia. The PAC Summit Crossing membership interests were acquired from Oxford Summit
Development LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, and Williams Realty Fund I, LLC, or WRF. As of December 31, 2012,
WRF owned approximately 0.15% of our Common Stock. In addition, Mr. Williams indirectly owns an approximate 7.0%
membership interest in WRF. In connection with the acquisition, we paid an acquisition fee of $332,000, or 1.0% of the contract
purchaseprice, to our Manager, of which WOF received $3,220 throughitsspecial limited liability company interest in our Manager.

On April 29, 2011, we acquired Oxford Trail, amultifamily community located in Hampton, Virginiafrom Oxford Trail
JV LLC, or Trail Creek. WRF owned an approximately 10% membership interest in Oxford Trail JV LLC. Separate from Mr.
Williams' membership interest in WRF, Mr. Williamsreceived approximately $62,600 from Oxford Trail JV asapromoted interest
in connection with thesaleof Oxford Trail. Leonard A. Silverstein, the Company's President and Chief Operating Officer received
$20,375from Oxford Trail JV asapromoted interest in connection with thesaleof Oxford Trail. Inconnectionwiththeacquisition,
we paid an acquisition fee of $235,000, or 1.0% of the contract purchase price, to our Manager of which WOF received $2,350
through its special limited liability company interest in our Manager.

Mr. Williams and Mr. Silverstein, through their officer positions at WRA, the manager of WOF and WRF, may have the
ability to exert significant influence on the business operations of these two funds. However, Mr. Williams and Mr. Silverstein
were only two members of the five-member investment committee of WOF. Subject to the review and approval by an external,
independent advisory committee as to affiliate transactions and other conflicts of interest, the investment committee of WOF
controlsthe investment decisions of WOF. In addition, Mr. Williams and Mr. Silverstein were a so only two members of the five-
member investment committee of WRF. The investment committee of WRF controls the investment decisions of WRF.

Purchase Mortgage Debt /

) Price Amount Purchase
Community (millions) (millions) Price
Summit
Crossing $ 3320 $ 20.86 62.8%
Trail Creek 23.50 15.28 65.0%
Stone Rise 30.15 19.50 64.7%
Total $ 86.85 $ 55.64 64.1%
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Physical Occupancy )

Average Economic Occupancy @

As of: Three months ended:
Average
Year Number  Unit Size December December December 31, December 31,

Property Completed  of Units (sg. ft.) 31, 2012 31,2011 2012 2011
Summit

Crossing 2007 345 1,034 92.8% 91.9% 91.6% 92.9%
Trail Creek 2006 204 988 91.7% 95.1% 91.6% 95.9%
Stone Rise 2008 216 1,078 94.9% 91.7% 96.3% 90.4%
Total 765 93.1% 92.7% 93.2% 92.9%

1,033

@ Count of occupied units (including models) divided by total units at reporting date.

Gross potential rent less vacancy losses, model expenses, bad debt expenses and concessions divided by gross
potential rent.

@

Real estate loans, Notes Receivable, and Line of Credit

Loan
Total units  balance at Purchase option
upon December Total loan window Purchase

Project/Property @ Location completion 31,2012 commitments Begin End option price
Trail 1l Hampton, VA 9% $ 6,000,000 $ 6,000,000 4/1/2014  6/30/2014 $ 17,825,600
Summit I Suburban Atlanta, GA 140 6,103,027 6,103,027 10/1/2014  2/28/2015 19,254,155
Crosstown Walk @ Suburban Tampa, FL N/A 4,647,383 4,685,000 N/A N/A N/A

City Park Charlotte, NC 284 6,029,684 10,000,000 11/1/2015  3/31/2016 30,945,845
City Vista Pittsburgh, PA 272 7,262,343 12,153,000 2/1/2016  5/31/2016 43,560,271
Madison- Rome  © Rome, GA - 5,063,760 5,360,042 N/A N/A N/A

792 $35106,197 $ 44,301,069

Madison-Rome

@ All loans are mezzanine loans pertaining to developments of multifamily communities, except as otherwise indicated.
@ Crosstown Walk isaland acquisition bridge loan with no purchase option; the planned 342 units are therefore excluded.
® Madison-Rome is a mezzanine loan for a planned 88,351 sguare foot retail development project.

On September 28, 2012, we made aland acquisition bridge loan in the amount of $5,360,042 to Madison Retail - Rome
LLC, or Madison-Rome, aDelawarelimited liability company, to partially finance the construction of an 88,351 square foot retail
complex located in Rome, Georgia. On November 13, 2012, the loan was converted to a mezzanine construction loan and at
December 31, 2012, Madison had drawn $5,063,760 of the loan amount.

The Madison-Rome loan matures on September 20, 2015, with no option to extend and pays current monthly interest of
8% per annum. An additional exit fee equal to the difference between a 14% cumulative annual simpleinterest return and the 8%
current interest will be due and payable to the Company when the |oan balance is repaid. There are no contingent events that are
necessary to occur for us to realize the exit fee.

The Madison-Romeloaniscollateralized by apledge of 100% of themembershipinterestsof M adison-Rome. Prepayment
ispermittedinwhole, but not in part, without our consent. The Madison-Romeloanissubordinateto asenior loan up to an aggregate
amount of approximately $11.5 million which is held by an unrelated third party and is subject to the rights held by the senior
lender pursuant to a standard intercreditor agreement.

51



The Madison-Rome loan is secured by unconditional guaranties of payment and performance by Stephen H. Whisenant
and Charles N. Worthen, unaffiliated third parties and principals of the borrower. In connection with the closing of the Madison-
Rome loan, the Company received a loan fee of 2% of the aggregate loan amount, or $107,201, and paid an acquisition fee of
$53,600 to the Manager out of these funds. The net fees received by the Company will be recognized as an adjustment of yield
over the term of the loan using the effective interest method.

City Park

On September 6, 2012, we made a mezzanine loan of up to $10,000,000 to Oxford City Park Development LLC, or City
Park, a Georgia limited liability company, to partially finance the construction of a 284-unit multifamily community located in
Charlotte, North Carolina. At December 31, 2012, City Park had drawn $6,029,685 of the loan amount.

The City Park mezzanine | oan matures on September 5, 2017, with no option to extend and pays current monthly interest
of 8% per annum. We are accruing an additional 6% interest which will be due and payable to the Company when the |oan balance
isrepaid. There are no contingent eventsthat are necessary to occur for usto realize the additional interest. We also have an option,
but not an abligation, to purchase the property between and including November 1, 2015 and March 31, 2016 for a pre-negotiated
purchase price of $30,945,845. If we exercise the purchase option and acquire the property, the additional accrued interest will be
treated as additional consideration for the acquired project.

The mezzanine loan is collateralized by a pledge of 100% of the membership interests of City Park. Prepayment of the
mezzanine loan is permitted in whole, but not in part without our consent. The mezzanine loan is subordinate to a senior loan of
up to an aggregate amount of approximately $18.6 million that isheld by an unrelated third party. W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard
A. Denny, unaffiliated third parties and principals of the borrower, have guaranteed the completion of the project in accordance
with the plans and specifications. In addition, Messrs. Faulk and Denny have entered into joint and several repayment guaranties
of the mezzanine loan. All of the guaranties are subject to the rights held by the senior lender pursuant to a standard intercreditor
agreement.

In connectionwith the closing of the City Park mezzanineloan and subsequently in connection with future drawn amounts
on the loan, we received atotal loan fee of 2% of the amount drawn on the loan, or $120,614, and paid a cumulative acquisition
fee of $60,307 to our Manager out of these funds. Additional loan fees will be recorded on subsequent drawn amounts up to the
full aggregate amount of the loan.

City Vista

On August 31, 2012, we made a mezzanine loan of up to $12,153,000 to Oxford City Vista Development LLC, or City
Vista, a Georgia limited liability company, to partially finance the construction of a 272-unit multifamily community located in
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. At December 31, 2012, City Vista had drawn $7,262,343 of the loan amount.

The City Vista mezzanine loan matures on June 1, 2016, with an option to extend until July 1, 2017 and pays current
monthly interest of 8% per annum. We are accruing an additional 6% interest which will be due at maturity or if the property is
sold to, or refinanced by, athird party. There are no contingent events that are necessary to occur for usto realize the additional
interest. We also have an option, but not an obligation, to purchase the property between and including February 1, 2016 and
May 31, 2016 for a pre-negotiated purchase price of $43,560,271. If we exercise the purchase option and acquire the property, the
additional accrued interest will be treated as additional consideration for the acquired project.

The mezzanine loan is collateralized by a pledge of 100% of the membership interests of City Vista. Prepayment of the
mezzanine loan is permitted in whole but not in part without our consent. The mezzanine loan is subordinate to a senior loan of
up to an aggregate amount of approximately $28.4 million that isheld by an unrelated third party. W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard
A. Denny, unaffiliated third parties and principals of the borrower, have guaranteed the completion of the project in accordance
with the plans and specifications. In addition, Messrs. Faulk and Denny have entered into joint and several repayment guaranties
of the mezzanine loan. All of the guaranties are subject to the rights held by the senior lender pursuant to a standard intercreditor
agreement.

In connectionwith theclosing of the City Vistamezzanineloan and subsequently in connectionwith future drawn amounts
on the loan, we received a total loan fee of 2% of the amount drawn on the loan, or $145,247 and paid a cumulative acquisition
fee of $72,624 to our Manager out of these funds. Additional loan fees will be recorded on subseguent drawn amounts up to the
full aggregate amount of the loan.
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Crosstown Walk

On October 29, 2012, we amended the real estate acquisition bridge loan we made on June 29, 2012 to Iris Crosstown
Apartments LLC, or Crosstown Walk, a Floridalimited liability company, for Crosstown Walk to acquire a parcel of land located
in suburban Tampa, Florida, upon which a multifamily community isto be constructed. The amendment increased the aggregate
amount of theloan to $4,685,000. The amount drawn under the loan at December 31, 2012 was $4,647,383. The amendment also
extended the maturity date to March 31, 2013, with no option to further extend. The loan pays current monthly interest of 8% per
annum, with an additional 6% per annum exit fee which is due when the loan is repaid. There are no contingent events that are
necessary to occur for usto realize the additional interest.

Thebridge loan is collateralized by a mortgage, an assignment of project documents and by unconditional guaranties of payment
and performance by W. Daniel Faulk, Jr., Richard A. Denny, and J. Michael Morris, unaffiliated third parties and principals of the
borrower. In connection with the closing of the bridge loan and the subsequent amendments, we received a total loan fee of 2%
of the amount drawn on the loan, or $93,772 and paid a cumulative acquisition fee of $46,886 to our Manager out of these funds.
Additional loan fees will be recorded on subsequent drawn amounts up to the full aggregate amount of the loan.

Summit 11

On May 7, 2012, we made a mezzanine loan of $6,103,027 to Oxford Summit Apartments |1 LLC, or Summit I1, to
partially finance the construction of a 140-unit multifamily community located adjacent to our existing Summit Crossing
multifamily community in metro Atlanta, Georgia.

The Summit 11 mezzanine loan matures on May 8, 2017, with no option to extend and paysinterest at afixed rate of 8.0%
per annum. Interest is due monthly with principal and any accrued but unpaid interest (including the exit fee) due at maturity.
Under the terms of a purchase option agreement entered into in connection with the closing of the mezzanine loan, we have an
option, but not an obligation, to purchase the property for a period of five months following completion of construction, lease up
and stabilization for $19,254,155. If the property is sold to, or refinanced by, a third party before or after the option period, we
will be entitled to receive an exit fee equal to the amount required to provide us with a 14% simple interest return on the loan, in
addition to loan feesreceived at closing, which totaled 2% of theloan amount. Sincethe minimum exit fee, assuming the purchase
option is not exercised, is the amount needed to provide a 14% simple interest return, we are accruing each period the additional
exit fee earned based on the 14% rate assuming theloan was paid off at period end. Thereare no contingent eventsthat are necessary
to occur for usto realize the additional interest. The accrued exit feeis recorded asinterest income in the consolidated statements
of operations. If we exercise the purchase option and acquire the property, any accrued and unpaid exit fee will be treated as
additional consideration for the acquired project.

The mezzanine loan is collateralized by a pledge of 100% of the membership interests of Oxford Summit 11, as well as
by personal guaranties of repayment by W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard A. Denny, unaffiliated third parties and principals of the
borrower. The guaranties are to remain in effect until a certificate of occupancy is obtained for the property. Prepayment of the
mezzanine loan is permitted in whole, but not in part, without the Company’s consent. The guaranties are subject to the rights
held by the senior lender pursuant to a standard intercreditor agreement.

In connection with the closing of the mezzanine loan, we received aloan fee of 2% of the loan amount, or $122,061, and
we paid an acquisition fee of $61,030 to our Manager out of these funds, of which WOF received $610 through its specia limited
liability company interest in our Manager.

Trail 1l

On June 30, 2011, we made a mezzanine loan of $6.0 million to Oxford Hampton Partners LLC, or Hampton Partners,
a Georgia limited liability company and arelated party, to partially finance the construction of a 96-unit multifamily community
located adjacent to our existing Trail Creek multifamily community in Hampton, Virginia, or Trail |I. Hampton Partners was
required to fully draw down the mezzanine |oan on the closing date. Hampton Partners paid $302,300 to WRF from the proceeds
of the mezzanine loan to retire an outstanding short term loan that matured on the closing date of the Trail |1 mezzanine loan.

The Trail 1| mezzanine loan matures on June 29, 2016, with no option to extend and pays interest at afixed rate of 8.0%
per annum. Interest will be paid monthly with principal and any accrued but unpaid interest (including the exit fee) due at maturity.
Under the terms of a purchase option agreement entered into in connection with the closing of the mezzanine loan, we have an
option, but not an obligation, to purchase the property between and including April 1, 2014 and June 30, 2014 for $17,825,600,
which is the amount of the aggregate project costs as set forth in the approved construction budget on the closing date. If the
property issold to, or refinanced by, athird party before July 1, 2014, we will be entitled to receive an exit fee equal to the amount
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required to provide uswith a 14% cumulative internal rate of return on theloan. If the property issold to, or refinanced by, athird
party on or after July 1, 2014, then we will be entitled to receive an exit fee equal to the amount required to provide uswith a12%
cumulative internal rate of return on theloan. The calculation of the cumulative internal rate of return will include the loan’s fees
received at closing. Since the minimum exit fee, assuming the purchase option is not exercised, is the amount needed to provide
al12% cumulativeinternal rate of return, we are accruing each period the additional exit fee earned based on the 12% rate assuming
the loan was paid off at period end. There are no contingent events that are necessary to occur for us to realize the additional
interest. The accrued exit fee is recorded as interest income in the consolidated statements of operations. If we exercise the
purchase option and acquirethe property, any accrued and unpaid exit feewill betreated asadditional considerationfor theacquired
project.

The Trail 11 mezzanine loan is collateralized by a pledge of 100% of the membership interests of Hampton Partners, of
which WREF is an approximately 100% indirect owner. Partial prepayment of the mezzanine loan is not permitted without our
consent. The mezzanineloanissubordinateto asenior loan of up to an aggregate amount of $10 million that isheld by an unrelated
third party. W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard A. Denny, unaffiliated third parties and principals of the borrower, have guaranteed
to us the completion of the project in accordance with the plans and specifications. This guaranty is subject to the rights held by
the senior lender pursuant to a standard intercreditor agreement with the senior lender.

In connectionwiththeclosing of the Trail 1| mezzanineloan, wereceived aloan fee of 2% of theloan amount, or $120,000,
and aloan commitment fee of $14,333. We paid an acquisition fee of $60,000 to our Manager out of these funds, of which WOF
received $600 through its special limited liability company interest in our Manager.

Notes Receivable

On December 17, 2012, we made a loan in the amount of $1,300,000 to Riverview Associates, Ltd., or Riverview, a
GeorgiaLimited Partnership, intheform of apromissory note. Theloan bearsinterest at 8% per annum and interest only payments
aredue on a monthly basisuntil the maturity date of June 16, 2013, with an extension at our option available until December 16,
2013. Theloan may be prepaid at any time, in whole but not in part, without penalty. The amounts payable under the terms of
theloan are backed by an assignment of project documentsand by aguaranty of payment and performanceby StephenH. Whisenant,
an unaffiliated third party and principal of the borrower.

On November 15, 2012, we made a loan in the amount of $650,000 to International Assets Advisory, LLC, or IAA, in
theform of asubordinated |loan. Theloan bearsinterest at 10% per annum and interest only paymentsare due ona monthly basis
until the maturity date of November 15, 2013. The loan may not be prepaid prior to maturity. The amounts payable under the
terms of the loan are backed by rights of withholding dealer manager fees due IAA under the dealer manager agreement for our
Primary Series A Offering.

On September 14, 2012, we madealoan in the amount of $500,000 to Newport Development, LL C, or Newport, aGeorgia
limited liability company and unaffiliated third party, in the form of a promissory note. The full amount of the loan was drawn as
of December 31, 2012. The loan bears interest at 15% per annum and interest only payments are due on a monthly basis until
the maturity date of March 17, 2013. The loan may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without penalty. The amounts
payable under the terms of the loan are backed by personal guaranties of repayment issued by Robert F. Krause, Jr., and J. Richard
Stephens, Jr., principals of Newport and who are unaffiliated third parties.

On May 21, 2012, we made a loan in the amount of $575,000 to Madison Retail, LLC, or Madison Retail, a Georgia
limited liability company and unaffiliated third party, in the form of a promissory note. Theloan bore interest at 15% per annum
and interest only payments were due on a monthly basis until the maturity date of September 30, 2012. The loan was paid off at
maturity.

On March 26, 2012, we made a loan in the amount of $650,000 to Oxford Properties, LLC, a Georgia limited liability
company, or Oxford, inthe form of a promissory note. Theloan boreinterest at 15% per annum and interest only payments were
due beginning May 1, 2012, and continued on a monthly basis until the repayment of the loan, which occurred on September 6,
2012.

Line of Credit

OnAugust 21, 2012, we extended arevolving line of credit to our Manager in an aggregate amount of up to $1.0 million,
in order to provide liquidity to our Manager in support of its ongoing business operations. The credit line bears interest at 8.0%
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per annum, withinterest payable monthly and matureson July 31, 2013. At December 31, 2012, theamount drawn by our Manager
was $936,827.

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2012 versus 2011 and 2011 versus 2010

Revenues

We recorded total rental revenue of approximately $9.1 million for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012,
versus approximately $6.2 million for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2011. Theincreaseinrental revenuein 2012
was primarily due to the acquisitions of our three multifamily communities in April of 2011 and consequently, full periods of
activity were not recorded for 2011. We recorded no revenues for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2010 as we had
not yet commenced business operations. Occupancy rates and rent growth are the primary drivers of increasesin rental revenue
from acquired multifamily communities. At December 31, 2012, the combined properties had physical occupancy rates, including
model units, of 93.1% of the total units available for rent, including model units, versus 92.7% at December 31, 2011.

Factors which we believe affect market rentsinclude vacant unit inventory in local markets, local and national economic
growth and resultant employment stability, incomelevelsand growth, the ease of obtaining credit for home purchases, and changes
in demand due to consumer confidence in the above factors.

Wealso collect revenuefrom residentsfor items such as utilities, application fees, | ease termination fees, and | ate charges.
The increase in other property revenues to approximately $1.1 million for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012
versus approximately $701,000 for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2011 was also due primarily to the acquisitions
of the three communitiesin April 2011.

Interest income from our real estate loansincreased substantially for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012
versus December 31, 2011 due to the additions of three new mezzanine loans and two real estate related loans in 2012.

Twelve months ended December 31,

2012 2011

Interest income:

Summit 11 $ 318,249 $ —

Trail 11 480,000 241,358

Crosstown Walk 144,442 —

City Park 139,439 —

City Vista 166,623 —

Madison-Rome 100,850 —
Total 1,349,603 241,358
Accrued exit fees 718,955 —
Net loan fee revenue recognized 83,195 8,887
Total interest income on real estate loans 2,151,753 250,245
Total interest income on notes and lines of credit 107,823 —
Total interest income $ 2,259,576 $ 250,245

Property operating and maintenance expense

Werecorded expensesfor the operations and maintenance of our multifamily communities of approximately $2.4 million
and $1.6 million for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase for the twelve-
month period ended December 31, 2012 was driven by the ownership and operation of our three acquired multifamily properties
for afull twelve-month period in 2012 versus 2011, during which period we recorded these expenses beginning with the acquisition
dates in April of that year. The primary components of operating and maintenance expense are salary and benefits expense of
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property personnel, utilities, property repairs, and landscaping costs. The number of employees assigned by our property manager
to our three multifamily communities at December 31, 2012 is not expected to change materially over the foreseeable future. The
expensesincurred for property repairs and, to alesser extent, utilities could generally be expected to increase gradually over time
as the buildings and properties age. Utility costs may generally be expected to increase in future periods as rate increases from
providing carriers are passed on to our residents.

Management fees

We pay a fee for property management services to our Manager in an amount of 4% of gross property revenues as
compensation for services such as rental, leasing, operation and management of our communities and the supervision of any
subcontractors. These costs were approximately $410,000 and $276,000 for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively. Thetwelve-month period increasewasal so attributabl eto the ownership and operation of thethreeacquired
multifamily communities for the full year in 2012 versus 2011.

We also paid general and administrative expense fees and asset management fees to our Manager which totaled
approximately $823,000 and $505,000 for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. General
and administrative expense fees are cal culated as 2% of gross property revenues and asset management fees are cal culated as one-
twelfth of 0.5% of the total value of assets per month, as adjusted. The percentage of these costs charged is governed by the Third
Amended and Restated M anagement Agreement with our Manager. Theincreasesin general and administrative expense fees and
asset management fees for the twelve-month period were attributable to the ownership and operation of the three acquired
multifamily communitiesfor the full year in 2012 versus 2011, aswell asthe incremental effect of the additional mezzanine loans
we added during 2012.

Collectively, the sum of property management fees, asset management fees, and general and administrative expense fees
are capped at 1.5% per year of the gross value of our real estate assets. For the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012
and 2011, these three fees were approximately 1.05% and 0.76% of the average gross value of our assets at December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively.

Real estate taxes

We areliable for property taxes due to the various counties and municipalities that levy such taxes on real property for
each of our three multifamily communities. The current assessed values of our communities, the estimated annual effective tax
rates and expected total property taxes for 2012, as of December 31, 2012 were:

) Estimated
Estimated 2012 Property Property
Property Tax Taxes, FYE Taxes, FYE
Property Assessed Value Rate 2012 2011
Stone Rise $ 11,130,000 3.24% $ 361,067 $ 358,581
Summit Crossing 5,937,815 2.66% 157,791 153,449
Trail Creek 21,546,200 1.06% 227,400 224,728
Tota $ 38,614,015 1.93% $ 746,258 $ 736,758

We generally expect the assessed values of our multifamily communities to rise over time, owing to our expectation of
improving market conditions, pressure on municipalities to raise revenues and increased activity in the transactional market.
However, we have some protection against any potential rise in assessments at Stone Rise because its assessed value is frozen
through 2015, unlessthere is a county wide reassessment. The assessed value of the Stone Rise community did not increase from
2011. summit Crossing'sinitial 2012 tax val uation was increased by the municipality in which it resides during the second quarter
to $6,250,332, however, we successfully appealed the valuation and were able to reduce it to $5,937,815 for an increase of 3%
from 2011. Trail Creek's assessed value for 2012 was increased 3.6% from its 2011 value to $21,546,200.
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General and Administrative

We recorded general and administrative expenses specific to our three owned properties of approximately $179,000 and
$141,000 for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase in 2012 over the
corresponding 2011 period was attributable to the ownership and operation of the three acquired multifamily communitiesfor the
full year in 2012 versus 2011. There were no such expenses for 2010 as we had not yet acquired any communities during that
period.

Depreciation and amortization

We recorded expenses for depreciation and amortization of tangible and identifiable intangible assets of approximately
$3.6 million and $8.2 million for the twelve-month periodsended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The decreasefrom
the 2011 period to the 2012 period was primarily due to the amortization of the acquired intangible assets related to our three
multifamily communities of approximately $5.5 million. These intangible assets were amortized in full during 2011 and there
were no such expensesfor the 2012 period. Partially off setting this decrease was higher depreciation expense due to the ownership
of the three acquired multifamily communities for the full year in 2012 versus 2011.

Acquisition costs

We recorded acquisition costsfor our three multifamily communities of approximately $1.7 million for the twelve-month
period ended December 31, 2011 and approximately $388 thousand for the twel ve-month period ended December 31, 2010, both
years primarily related to due diligence, purchase negotiation, appraisals, and other costs related to the three acquired multifamily
communities, which were all acquired in April 2011. The substantial increase in these costs over the corresponding 2010 period
was driven by the incurrence in 2011 of expenditures related to the three acquired multifamily communities. Acquisition costsin
2011 included $928,500 in acquisition fees paid to reimburse our Manager for expenses incurred such as due diligence, purchase
negotiation, appraisals, and other costsrelated to acquiring real estate assets. Thesefeesare calculated as 1% of the gross purchase
price of the multifamily community or of the principal amount of the real estate loan. The amount of the acquisition fees payable
to our Manager is governed by the Management Agreement. These costs also include similar expenditures for services provided
by third parties.

Organizational Costs

We recorded expenses rel ated to establishment of the Company of approximately $172,000 and $360,000 for the twelve-
month periods ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The decreasein 2011 over the corresponding 2010 period was
attributable to higher legal feesincurred in 2010 related to the formation of the Company.

Property Insurance

We recorded insurance expense for our three multifamily communities of approximately $173,000 and $112,000 for the
twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Theincreasein 2012 over 2011 was primarily dueto the
ownership of the three acquired multifamily communities for the full year in 2012 versus 2011.

Professional fees

We recorded professional fee expenses of approximately $340,000 and $380,000 for the twelve-month periods ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. These costs consist principally of fees for audit, tax and legal work performed and
the decrease was due to higher accounting and legal costs incurred in 2011 related to audits of our initia financia statements as
apublicly held company and fees for tax consulting services.

Other Expense
Werecorded other expenses of approximately $151,000 and $110,000 for the twelve-month periodsended December 31,

2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase in 2012 versus 2011 was due to increases in costs related to the distribution of press
releases and periodic public filings of financial documents and reports.
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Interest expense

We recorded interest expense of approximately $2.5 million and $1.5 million for the twelve-month periods ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Interest expense on mortgage indebtedness from the three acquired communities was
approximately $2.1 million and $1.4 million, including amortization of deferred loan costs on the mortgage indebtedness of
approximately $86,000 and $64,000 for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Interest
expense on our Credit Facility, which we entered into on August 31, 2012, including amortized loan costs, was approximately
$351 thousand.

The increase in interest expense for the 2012 period was due to the acquisitions of the three multifamily propertiesin
April of 2011 and, consequently, lessthan afull period of interest was accrued and paid for the corresponding 2011 period, aswell
astheincremental interest expense in 2012 from the Credit Facility. Interest expense for the 2011 and 2010 periods also included
anominal amount of interest on the note payable and on the two lines of credit due to WOF, all of which were paid and retired in
April 2011 with proceeds from our 1PO.

Equity compensation to directors and executives

Details by grant for equity compensation awardsfor the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were:

Equity compensation expense
recognized for the twelve-month
periods ended December 31,

2012 2011

Quarterly board member committee fee grants $ 42,060 $ 41,550
Class B Unit awards:

Executive officers - 2011 476,981 3,561

Executive officers - 2012 477,434 _

Vice chairman of board of directors 15,374 —
Grants of Restricted Stock to board members for annual service:

2011 66,867 193,041

2012 172,500 —
Total $ 1,251,216 $ 238,152

We recorded amortization expense during the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012 related to both the 2011
Class B Unit grants, which were granted on December 30, 2011 as compensation for service provided during 2011, and the 2012
Class B Unit grants, which were granted on January 3, 2012, as compensation for service provided during 2012. We expect future
annual service grants of ClassB Unitsto our executivesto beindividually amortized over the period of servicethat pertainto each
year. No equity compensation expense was recognized for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2010.

Other income

For the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012, we recorded in other income a cost reimbursement from the
local water utility servicing our Stone Rise property of approximately $81 thousand. This reimbursement was related to the
construction of awater main by Oxford Rise JV, LLC prior to the date we acquired that entity and community.

Funds From Operations Attributable to Common Stockholders (“FFQO”)

Analysts, managers, and investorshave, sincethefirst real estateinvestment trustswere created, made certain adjustments
to reported net income amounts under U.S. GAAPIn order to better assess these vehicles' liquidity and cash flows. FFO is one of
the most commonly utilized Non-GAAP measures currently in practice. In its 2002 “White Paper on Funds From Operations”,
which was most recently revised in 2012, the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, standardized
the definition of how net income/loss should be adjusted to arrive at FFO, in the interests of uniformity and comparability. The
NAREIT definition of FFO (and the one we report) is:
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Net income/loss:
e Excluding impairment charges on and gains/losses from sales of depreciable property;
» Plusdepreciation and amortization of real estate assets,; and
« After adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures

Not all companies necessarily utilize the standardized NAREIT definition of FFO, and so caution should be taken in
comparing our reported FFO results to those of other companies. Our FFO results are comparable to the FFO results of other
companiesthat follow the NAREIT definition of FFO and report these figures on that basis. We believe FFO is useful to investors
as a supplemental gauge of our operating results. FFO isanon-GAAP measure that isauseful supplement to, but not a substitute
for, its closest GAAP-compliant measure, which we believe to be net income/loss avail able to common stockhol ders.

Adjusted Funds From Operations Attributable to Common Stockholders (“AFFO”)

AFFO makes further adjustments to FFO results in order to arrive at a more refined measure of operating and financial

performance. Thereisno industry standard definition of AFFO and practice is divergent across theindustry. We calculate AFFO
as.

FFO, plus:
e Acquisition costs;
e Organization costs;
*  Non-cash equity compensation to directors and executives;
e Amortization of loan closing costs;
*  REIT establishment costs;
*  Depreciation and amortization of non-real estate assets; and
e Net loan origination fees received;

*  Non-cash mezzanine loan interest income;
e Cash paid for loan closing costs; and
* Normally recurring capital expenditures

AFFO figuresreported by us are not generally comparableto those reported by other companies. Investors are cautioned
that AFFO excludes acquisition costs which are recorded asincurred, which generally occur in the periodsin which the properties
are acquired (and often preceding periods). We utilize AFFO to measure the liquidity generated by our portfolio of real estate
assets. We believe AFFO is useful to investors as a supplemental gauge of our operating performance and is useful in comparing
our operating performance with other real estate companies that are not as involved in ongoing acquisition activities. AFFO isa

useful supplement to, but not asubstitutefor, itsclosest GAAP-compliant measure, which webelieveto be net income/l ossavailable
to common stockholders.
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Reconciliation of Funds From Operations Attributable to Common Stockholders and
Adjusted Funds From Operations Attributable to Common Stockholders
to Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders

Three months ended Twelve months ended
December 31, December 31,
12/31/2012 12/31/2011 12/31/2012 12/31/2011
Net income (loss) attributable to the Company $ 415675 $ (1,180,873) $  (146,630) $ (8,495424)
Less: Preferred stock dividends (208,062) — (450,806) —
Earnings attributable to unvested restricted stock (4,792) (3,250) (17,094) (9,750)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders 202,821 (1,184,123) (614,530) (8,505,174)
Add: Depreciation of real estate assets 790,232 966,888 3,572,284 2,682,562
Amortization of acquired intangible assets — 838,893 — 5,537,067
Funds from operations attributable to common stockholders 993,053 621,658 2,957,754 (285,545)
Add: Acquisition costs — — 912 1,680,432
Organization costs — 78,023 1,593 172,395
Non-cash equity compensation to directors and executives 330,009 80,651 1,251,216 238,152
Amortization of loan closing costs (See note 1) 102,539 21,494 194,012 64,480
REIT establishment costs — — — 25,849
Depreciation/amortization of non-real estate assets 4,662 6,821 23,014 18,814
Net mezzanine |oan fees received (See note 2) 48,921 — 307,450 74,333
Less: Non-cash mezzanine loan interest income (See note 2) (446,026) (4,398) (803,245) (8,887)
Cash paid for loan closing costs (See note 1) — — (323,918) —
Normally recurring capital expenditures (See note 3) (30,806) (29,504) (192,815) (118,504)
Adjusted funds from operations attributable to common
stockholders $ 1,002,352 $ 774,745 $ 3415973 $ 1,861,519
Common Stock dividends:
Declared $ 771616 $ 646916 $ 2,851,973 $ 1,940,078
Per share $ 0145 $ 0125 % 0545 $ 0.375
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 5,181,708 5,148,488 5,172,260 3,822,303
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted (A) 5,320,962 5,174,488 5,306,424 3,841,608
Actual shares outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
including 33,046 and 26,000 unvested shares of restricted Common
Stock at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively 5,321,490 5,175,325 5,321,490 5,175,325

(A) Since our AFFO results are positive for the periods reflected above, we are presenting recal cul ated diluted weighted average shares for
these periods for purposes of this table, which includes the dilutive effect of Common Stock equivalents from grants of the Company's Class
B Units granted in the Operating Partnership, as well as annual grants of restricted Common Stock. The weighted average shares outstanding
presented on the Consolidated Statements of Operations are the same for basic and diluted since we recorded a net loss available to common
stockholders for the periods presented.

60



Notes to Reconciliation of Funds From Operations Attributable to Common Stockholders and Adjusted Funds From Operations
Attributable to Common Stockholders to Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders

(@D} We incurred loan closing costs of $616,140 on our mortgage |oans, which are secured on a property-by-property basis
by the three acquired multifamily communities. In addition, we paid $323,918 in loan closing costs to secure our Credit
Facility. Theseloan costs are being amortized over thelivesof the respectivel oans, and the non-cash amortization expense
isan addition to FFO in the calculation of AFFO. Neither we nor our Operating Partnership have any recourse liability
in connection with any of the mortgage loans, nor do we have any cross-collateralization arrangements with respect to
these assets, other than in connection with our Credit Facility.

(2 We receive loan fees and loan commitment fees in conjunction with the origination of certain real estate loans. These
fees are then recognized as revenue over the lives of the applicable loans as adjustments of yield using the effective
interest method. Thetotal fees received, after the payment of acquisition fees to our Manager, are additive adjustments
in the calculation of AFFO. Correspondingly, the non-cash income recognized under the effective interest method is a
deduction in the calculation of AFFO.

3 We deduct from FFO normally recurring capital expenditures that are necessary to maintain the communities' revenue
streams. Excluded from the cal culation of AFFO are non-recurring capital expenditures of $13,861 and $43,572 for the
three-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and $201,909 and $304,251 for the twel ve-month
periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Please see further discussion on capital expendituresin the
“Liquidity and Capital Resources - Short-Term Liquidity” section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Short-Term Liquidity
We believe our principal short-term liquidity needs are to fund:

e operating expenses directly related to our portfolio of multifamily
communities (including regular maintenance items);
»  capital expenditures incurred to lease our multifamily communities;
e interest expense on our outstanding property level debt;
e amounts due on our Credit Facility; and
» distributions that we pay to our preferred stockholders and common stockholders.

On August 31, 2012, we, in conjunction with our Operating Partnership, entered into a credit agreement with Key Bank
National Association, or the Lender, to obtain a $15.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility, or Credit Facility. The
intended uses of the Credit Facility are to fund our investments, capital expenditures, dividends (with consent of the Lender) and
working capital and other general corporate purposes on an as needed basis. Amounts drawn under the Credit Facility bear interest
at avariablerate of the 1 month London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, index plus 500 basis points, which was approximately
5.2% per annum at December 31, 2012 aswell as a commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the Credit Facility of
0.50% per annum. Accrued interest and commitment fees are payable monthly and principal amounts owed may be repaid in
whole or in part without penalty. The Credit Facility has a maturity date of August 31, 2013. As our operations grow, we expect
to modify our Credit Facility by increasing the amount that may be borrowed from time to time thereunder and reducing the overall
cost of these borrowings. There can be no assurance we can modify the Credit Facility as noted, or modify it on terms acceptable
tous.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are secured by, among other things, pledges of 100% of the ownership of each of
our current and future mezzanine loan subsidiaries, and 49% of the ownership of each of our current and future real estate
subsidiaries, aswell as by joint and several repayment guaranties.

The Credit Facility contains certain affirmative and negative covenantsincluding negative covenantsthat limit or restrict
secured and unsecured indebtedness, mergers and fundamental changes, investments and acquisitions, liens and encumbrances,
dividends, transactions with affiliates, burdensome agreements, changesin fiscal year and other matters customarily restricted in
such agreements. The material financial covenants include minimum net worth and debt service coverage ratios and maximum
leverage and dividend payout ratios. As of December 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all covenants related to the Credit
Facility.
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At December 31, 2012, we had drawn approximately $14.8 million of the amount available under the Credit Facility to
finance the closings of and subsequent draws on the City Vista and City Park mezzanine loans and the Madison-Rome loan, as
well as associated legal expenses and aloan fee and closing costs of $323,918 for the establishment of the line of credit. Interest
expense was $242,721 (excluding deferred |oan cost amortization of $108,039) and the weighted average interest rate was 5.2%
for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012 (commencing with the first draw upon the Credit Facility on August 31,
2012).

Our net cash provided by operating activities for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was
approximately $4.2 million and approximately $528 thousand, respectively. The increase in net cash provided by operating
activitiesfrom the prior year period was due to our commencement of business operations following our PO in the second quarter
of 2011, resulting in less than a full twelve months of operating activity, an additional $2.0 million of interest income from our
larger portfolio of real estate loans and notesin 2012, and the recognition of approximately $1.7 million of acquisition costsin the
2011 period. The net cash provided by operating activitiesin the 2012 period reflectsafull period of operational results from our
multifamily communities, interest income from our real estate loans and an immaterial amount of acquisition costs.

The mgjority of our revenueis derived from residents under existing leases at our multifamily communities. Therefore,
our operating cash flow is principally dependent on: (1) the number of multifamily communitiesin our portfolio; (2) rental rates;
(3) occupancy rates; (4) operating expenses associated with these multifamily communities; and (5) the ability of our residentsto
make their rental payments. We believe we are well positioned to take advantage of the recent improvements in multifamily
fundamentals, such as higher occupancy rates, positive new and renewal rates over expiring leases, a declining home ownership
rate and a declinein turnover, which we believe are all positive developments in the multifamily industry.

We also earn interest revenue from the issuance of real estate-related loans and may receive fees at the inception of these
loans for originating them and setting aside funds to procure them. Interest revenue we record on these loansis influenced by (1)
market interest rates on similar loans; (2) the availability of credit from alternative financing sources; (3) the desire of borrowers
to finance new real estate projects; and (4) unique characteristics attached to these loans, such as exclusive purchase options.

Our net cash used in investing activitieswas approximately $32.5 million and $93.7 million for the twelve-month periods
ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. The 2012 period included disbursements for three mezzanine
loans and two real estate related loans totaling approximately $29.1 million, the issuance of five promissory notes totaling
approximately $3.5 million, and aggregate draws on the line of credit to our Manager of approximately $1.5 million, partially
offset by the repayment of two notesreceivablein the amount of approximately $1.1 million. Expenditures during the 2011 period
included approximately $87.4 million to acquire our three multifamily properties and $6.0 million for the Trail 11 real estate loan.

Cash used in or provided by investing activities is primarily driven by acquisitions and dispositions of multifamily
properties and acquisitions and maturities or other dispositions of real estate loans and other real estate and real estate-related
assets, and secondarily by capital expenditures related to our owned properties. We have no current plans to dispose of any of our
communities and will seek to acquire more communities at costs that we expect will be accretive to our financial results. Capital
expenditures may be nonrecurring and discretionary, as part of a strategic plan intended to increase a property’s value and
corresponding revenue-generating power, or may be normally recurring and necessary to maintain theincome streams and present
valueof aproperty. Certain capital expenditures may be budgeted and reserved for upon acquiring aproperty asinitial expenditures
necessary to bring a property up to our standards or to add features or amenities that we believe make the property a compelling
value to prospective residents in its individual market. These budgeted nonrecurring capital expenditures in connection with an
acquisition are funded from the capital source(s) for the acquisition and are not dependent upon subsequent property operational
cash flows for funding.
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For thetwelve-month period ended December 31, 2012, our capital expenditures, not including changesin rel ated payables

were:
Summit
Crossing Trail Creek Stone Rise Total
Nonrecurring capital expenditures:
Budgeted at property acquisition $ 6681 $ 160552 $ 10,799 $ 178,032
Other nonrecurring capital expenditures — 16,722 7,155 23,877
Total nonrecurring capital expenditures 6,681 177,274 17,954 201,909
Normally recurring capital expenditures 71,226 71,539 50,050 192,815
Total capital expenditures $ 77907 $ 248,813 $ 68,004 $ 394,724

For thetwel ve-month period ended December 31, 2011, our capital expenditures, notincluding changesinrelated payables

were:
Summit Trail Rise Total
Nonrecurring capital expenditures:
Budgeted at property acquisition $ 104,109 $ 157484 % 42,658 $ 304,251
Other nonrecurring capital expenditures — — — —
Total nonrecurring capital expenditures 104,109 157,484 42,658 304,251
Normally recurring capital expenditures 47,264 37,984 33,256 118,504
Total capital expenditures $ 151,373 % 195468 $ 75914 % 422,755

Net cash provided by financing activitieswasapproximately $26.8 million and $97.7 million for thetwelve-month periods
ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. During the 2012 period, we had drawn a net of approximately
$14.8 million from our Credit Facility in order to fund the closing transactions on our City Vista, City Park, and Madison-Rome
loans and received approximately $17.8 million from the issuance of 19,762 Units. Partialy offsetting these cash inflows were
the payments of our Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock dividends totaling approximately $3.1 million and deferred
offering costs of approximately $2.3 million. The financing cash inflows during the 2011 period consisted primarily of proceeds
from sales of Common Stock of approximately $46.1 million and proceeds from mortgage notes payable on our three acquired
multifamily communities of approximately $55.6 million.

Distributions

In order to maintain our status as a REIT for U.S. federa income tax purposes, we must comply with a number of
organizational and operating requirements, including a requirement to distribute 90% of our annual REIT taxable income to our
stockholders. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income taxes on the taxable income we distribute to our
stockholders. Generally, our objective is to meet our short-term liquidity requirement of funding the payment of our quarterly
Common Stock and Series B Preferred Stock dividends to stockholders, as well as monthly dividends to holders of our Series A
Preferred Stock, through net cash generated from operating results.
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For the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, our dividend and cash-generating
activity was:

Dividends declared

Three- Dividend per

month share of Cash flow (used in)
period Common Series A provided by
ended Stock Common Preferred Total operating activities
3/31/2011 % — 3 —  $ — 8 — 3 (122,686)
6/30/2011 $ 0125 $646487 $ — $646487 $ (697,122)
9/30/2011 $ 0125 $646675 $ — $646675 $ 553,596
12/31/2011  $ 0125 $646916 $ — $646916 $ 794,172
3/31/2012  $ 013 $673181 $ 718 $ 673899 $ 927,394
6/30/2012 $ 013 $677477 $ 79685 $ 757,162 $ 869,992
9/30/2012  $ 014 $729699 $ 163,059 $ 892,758 $ 1,225,510
12/31/2012  $ 0145 $771616 $ 208,062 $ 979678 $ 1,156,045

We commenced business operations on April 5, 2011 and acquired three multifamily communities and areal estate loan
during the second quarter of 2011. As shown above, our cash flow provided by operating activities for the three-month period
ended December 31, 2012 was $1,156,045 versus $794,172 for the three-month period ended December 31, 2011, and was
attributable to the increase in interest income from our expanded portfolio of loans and notes receivable in the 2012 period. Our
cash flow from operations for each of the last five three-month periods were sufficient to fund both our quarterly Common Stock
dividend(s) and our monthly SeriesA Preferred Stock dividendsfor therespective periods. We expect our cash flow from operations
for the next twelve monthswill be sufficient to fund both our quarterly Common Stock dividends and our monthly Preferred Stock
dividends.

On November 1, 2012, we declared a quarterly dividend on our Common Stock of $0.145 per share, an increase of
approximately 16% from our initial dividend per share of $0.125 following our IPO, or an annualized dividend growth rate of
approximately 10.6%. Our board of directors reviews the proposed Common Stock dividend declarations quarterly, and there can
be no assurance that the current dividend level will be maintained.

In addition to $718 of accrued dividends payable for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012, for the twelve-month
period ended December 31, 2012, our Series A Preferred Stock dividend activity consisted of:

) Dividend @
Declaration date Record date Payment date distributions

4/13/2012 4/30/2012 5/21/2012 $ 11,486
5/10/2012 5/31/2012 6/20/2012 25,406
6/22/2012 6/29/2012 7/20/2012 42,793
7/22/2012 7/31/2012 8/20/2012 50,878
8/2/2012 8/31/2012 9/20/2012 54,119
9/18/2012 9/28/2012 10/22/2012 58,062
10/20/2012 10/31/2012 11/20/2012 61,553
11/1/2012 11/30/2012 12/20/2012 66,641
12/20/2012 12/31/2012 1/22/2013 79,869
$ 450,807

The Series A Preferred Stock receives dividend distributions of $5.00 per share for each full month
and, for shares outstanding for less than a full month, a prorated amount based on such monthly
rate.
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Our board of directorsreviewsthe SeriesA Preferred Stock dividend monthly to determinewhether we have fundslegally
available for payment of such dividends in cash, and there can be no assurance that the Series A Preferred Stock dividends will
consistently be paid in cash. Dividends may be paid as a combination of cash and stock in order to satisfy the annual distribution
reguirements applicableto REITs. We expect the aggregate dollar amount of monthly SeriesA Preferred Stock dividend payments
toincrease at arate that approximates the rate at which we issue new Units from our Unit offering.

For U. S. Federal income tax purposes, dividends may be characterized as ordinary income, capital gains, or areturn of
capital to the common stockholder or preferred stockholder. For the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2011, Common
Stock dividend income was 100% return of capital. For the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012, Common Stock
dividend income was 91.6% return of capital and 8.4% ordinary income and dividends on the Company's SeriesA Preferred Stock
was 100% ordinary income.

Long-Term Liquidity Needs
We believe our principal long-term liquidity needs are to fund:

» the principal amount of our long-term debt as it becomes due or matures;

» capital expenditures needed for our multifamily communities;

e costs associated with current and future capital raising activities;

e coststo acquire additional multifamily communities and enter into lending opportunities; and
e our minimum distributions necessary to maintain our REIT status.

We intend to finance our future investments with the net proceeds from additional issuances of our securities, including
our Primary Series A Offering, Common Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, units of limited partnership interest in our Operating
Partnership, and/or borrowings. The success of our acquisition strategy may depend, in part, on our ability to accessfurther capital
through issuances of additional securities, especially our Primary SeriesA Offering during 2013 and beyond. If weareunsuccessful
in raising additiona funds, we may not be able to obtain any assetsin addition to those we have acquired.

On November 18, 2011, the SEC declared effective our registration statement on Form S-11 (registration number
333-176604), or the Registration Statement, for our Primary SeriesA Offering. The price per Unitis$1,000. The SeriesA Preferred
Stock ranks senior to the Common Stock with respect to payment of dividends and distribution of amounts upon liquidation,
dissolution and winding up. Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, when and as authorized by our board
of directorsand declared by usout of legally available funds, cumulative cash dividends on each share of SeriesA Preferred Stock
at an annual rate of six percent (6%) of the Stated Value, which is $1,000. Dividends on each share of Series A Preferred Stock
will begin accruing on the date of issuance. The Series A Preferred Stock is redeemable at the option of the holder beginning two
years following the date of issuance, subject to a 10% redemption fee. After year three the redemption fee decreases to 5%, after
year four it decreasesto 3%, and after year five thereisno redemption fee. Any redemptions are entitled to any accrued but unpaid
dividends. The Warrant is exercisable by the holder at an exercise price of 120% of the current market price per share of the
Common Stock on the date of issuance of such Warrant with a minimum exercise price of $9.00 per share. The current market
price per share is determined using the volume weighted average closing market price for the 20 trading days prior to the date of
issuance of the Warrant. The Warrants are not exercisable until one year following the date of issuance and expire four years
following the date of issuance. As of December 31, 2012, we had issued an aggregate of 19,762 Units from our Primary SeriesA
Offering, leaving 130,238 Units available to be issued.

On August 16, 2012, we filed aregistration statement on Form S-11 (registration number 333-183355) for our Follow-
On Offering, which registration statement has not yet been declared effective by the SEC. The terms of the Follow-On Offering
and features of the Units are substantially the same as the Primary Series A Offering.

On January 17, 2013, we issued 40,000 shares of our Series B Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $1,000 per share
through a private placement transaction. The gross proceeds totaled $40.0 million, with net proceedsto us of approximately $37.6
million after commissions. The Series B Preferred Stock will automatically be converted into shares of Common Stock following,
and subject to, stockholder approval, at a conversion price of $7.00 per share of Common Stock, subject to adjustment. The
conversion would result in theissuance of approximately 5,714,274 shares of Common Stock. We plan to file aresaleregistration
statement no later than April 15, 2013 for the purpose of registering the resale of the underlying shares of Common Stock into
which the shares of Series B Preferred Stock are convertible following stockholder approval .
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Our ahility to raise funds through the issuance of our securities is dependent on, among other things, general market
conditions for REIT's, market perceptions about us, and the current trading price of our Common Stock. We will continue to
analyze which source of capital is most advantageous to us at any particular point in time, but the equity and credit markets may
not consistently be available on terms that are attractive to us or at all.

The sources to fulfill our long-term liquidity in the future may include borrowings from a number of sources, including
repurchase agreements, securitizations, resecuritizations, warehouse facilities and credit facilities (including term loans and
revolving facilities), in addition to our Credit Facility, as may be modified by increasing the amount which may be borrowed. We
have utilized, and we intend to continue to utilize, leverage in making our investmentsin multifamily communities. The nhumber
of different multifamily communities and other investments we will acquire will be affected by numerous factors, including the
amount of funds available to us. By operating on aleveraged basis, we will have more funds available for our investments. This
will alow usto make moreinvestments than would otherwise be possible, resulting in alarger and more diversified portfolio. See
the section entitled "Risk Factors' in Item 1A of thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K for more information about the risks related to
operating on aleveraged basis.

Weintendto target leverage level s (secured and unsecured) between 50% and 65% of thefair market value of our tangible
assets (including our real estate assets, real estate loans, notes receivable, accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents) on
aportfolio basis. Asof December 31, 2012, our outstanding debt (both secured and unsecured) was approximately 44.5% of the
value of our tangible assets on a portfolio basis based on our estimates of fair market value at December 31, 2012. Neither our
charter nor our by-laws contain any limitation on the amount of leverage we may use. Our investment guidelines, which can be
amended by our board without stockholder approval, limit our borrowings (secured and unsecured) to 75% of the cost of our
tangibleassetsat thetimeof any new borrowing. Thesetargets, however, will not apply toindividual real estateassetsor investments.
The amount of leverage we will place on particular investments will depend on our Manager's assessment of a variety of factors
which may include the anticipated liquidity and price volatility of the assets in our investment portfolio, the potentia for losses
and extension risk in the portfolio, the availability and cost of financing the asset, our opinion of the creditworthiness of our
financing counterparties, the health of the U.S. economy and the health of the commercial real estate market in general. Inaddition,
factors such as our outlook on interest rates, changes in the yield curve slope, the level and volatility of interest rates and their
associated credit spreads, the underlying collateral of our assetsand our outlook on credit spreadsrelative to our outlook oninterest
rate and economic performance could all impact our decision and strategy for financing thetarget assets. At the date of acquisition
of each asset, we anticipate that the investment cost for such asset will be substantially similar to its fair market value. However,
subsequent events, including changesin the fair market value of our assets, could result in our exceeding these limits. Finally, we
intend to acquire al our propertiesthrough separate single purpose entities and we intend to finance each of these properties using
debt financing techniques for that property alone without any cross-collateralization to our other multifamily communities or any
guarantees by us or our Operating Partnership. We intend to have no long-term unsecured debt at the Company or Operating
Partnership levels, except for our Credit Facility.

Our secured and unsecured aggregate borrowings are intended by us to be reasonable in relation to our tangible assets
and will be reviewed by our board of directorsat least quarterly. 1n determining whether our borrowings are reasonablein relation
to our tangible assets, we expect that our board of directors will consider many factors, including without limitation the lending
standards of government-sponsored enterprises, such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, for loansin connection with the financing
of multifamily properties, the leverage ratios of publicly traded and non-traded REITs with similar investment strategies, and
general market conditions. Thereis no limitation on the amount that we may borrow for any single investment.

Our ahility to incur additional debt is dependent on a number of factors, including our credit ratings (if any), the value
of our assets, our degree of leverage and borrowing restrictionsimposed by lenders. Wewill continue to monitor the debt markets,
including Fannie Mae and/or Freddie Mac (from both of whom we have obtained single asset secured financing on all of our
multifamily communities), and as market conditions permit, access borrowings that are advantageous to us.

If weareunableto obtain financing on favorabletermsor at al, we may haveto curtail our investment activities, including
acquisitionsand improvementstoreal properties, which could limit our growth prospects. This, inturn, could reduce cash available
for distribution to our stockholders and may hinder our ability to raise capital by issuing more securities or borrowing more money.
We may be forced to dispose of assets at inopportune timesin order to maintain our REIT qualification and Investment Company
Act exemption. Our ability to generate cash from asset salesislimited by market conditions and certain rules applicableto REITs.
We may not be able to sell aproperty or properties as quickly as we would like or on terms as favorable as we would like.

Furthermore, if interest rates or other factors at the time of financing result in higher costs of financing, then the interest
expenserelating to that financed indebtednesswould be higher. Higher interest rateson newly incurred debt may negatively impact
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usaswell. If interest ratesincrease, our interest costs and overall costs of capital will increase, which could adversely affect our
transaction and devel opment activity, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow, our ability to pay principal and interest
on our debt and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. Finaly, sellers may be less inclined to offer to sell to us if
they believe we may be unable to obtain financing.

As of December 31, 2012, we had long term mortgage indebtedness of approximately $55.6 million, al of which was
incurred by usin connection with the acquisition of our three multifamily communitiesin 2011. The outstanding balance includes
fixed-rate debt of approximately $20.9 million, or 37.5% of thetotal mortgage debt bal ance, and fl oating-rate debt of approximately
$34.8 million, or 62.5% of the total mortgage debt balance.

Asof December 31, 2012, we had approximately $3.0 million in unrestricted cash and cash equiva ents available to meet
our short-term and long-term liquidity needs.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2012, we had an outstanding warrant to purchase up to 150,000 shares of our Common Stock, or the
PO Warrant, issued to International AssetsAdvisory, LLC, or IAA, for financial advisory services performed in connection with
our IPO. The IPO Warrant wasissued on March 31, 2011. If IAA exercisesthe |PO Warrant, the purchase price for each shareis
$12.50 per shareand expireson March 31, 2015. Neither the |PO Warrant nor the underlying shares of Common Stock to be issued
upontheexerciseof thel PO Warrant wereor will beregistered. Under certain circumstances, thel PO Warrant al so may beexercised
on a‘‘cashless’ basis, which alows IAA to elect to pay the exercise price by surrendering the IPO Warrant for that number of
shares of our Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of our Common
Stock underlying the PO Warrant, multiplied by the difference between the exercise price of the PO Warrant and the ** fair market
value’ (defined below) of the Common Stock by (y) the fair market value of the Common Stock. The “fair market value’” shall
mean the average reported last sale price of our Common Stock for the five trading days immediately preceding the date as of
which the fair market value is being determined.

As of December 31, 2012, we had outstanding 19,762 Warrants from our Primary Series A Offering. The Warrants are
exercisable by the holder at an exercise price of 120% of the current market price per share of the Common Stock on the date of
issuance of such Warrant with a minimum exercise price of $9.00 per share. The current market price per share is determined
using the volume weighted average closing market price for the 20 trading days prior to the date of issuance of the Warrant. The
Warrants are not exercisable until one year following the date of issuance and expire four years following the date of issuance.
The Warrants outstanding at December 31, 2012 become exercisable between March 30, 2013 and December 28, 2013 and have
exercise prices that range between $9.00 and $10.10 per share. If al the outstanding Warrants at December 31, 2012 become
exercisableand areexercised, gross proceedsto uswould be approximately $3.7 million and wewoul d asaresult issue an additional
395,240 shares of Common Stock.

Contractual Obligations

Asof December 31, 2012, our contractual obligations consisted of the three mortgage notes secured by our three acquired
properties and the Credit Facility. Based on the 1 Month London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, at December 31, 2012 of
0.21%, our estimated future required payments on these instruments were:

Less than More than five
Total one year 1-3 years 3-5 years years
Long-term debt obligations:
Interest $ 10654525 $ 2023130 $ 399,266 $ 3852061 $ 783,068
Principal 55,637,000 — 1,681,709 2,262,897 51,692,394
Line of credit:
Interest 513,292 513,292 — — —
Principal 14,801,197 14,801,197 — — —
Total $ 81606014 $ 17337619 $ 5677975 $ 6,114958 $ 52,475,462

In addition, we had unfunded real estate loan balances totaling $9,194,872 at December 31, 2012.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our primary market risk exposure is interest rate risk. All our floating-rate debt is tied to the 30-day LIBOR. $19.5
million of our floating-rate debt has LIBOR effectively capped at 4.48% (all-in rate of 7.25%) and approximately $15.3 million
of our floating rate debt has LIBOR effectively capped at 4.05% (all-in rate of 6.85%), both through caps on the maximum interest
rate on our debt under Freddie Mac's capped adjustabl e-rate mortgage program. We have limited market risk associated with debt
maturity asall of our floating rate debt financing our communitieswasincurredin April 2011 and does not mature until May 2018.
Our Credit Facility bears interest at a spread over LIBOR of 5.0%; this combined rate is uncapped. Because of the short term
nature of thisloan, we believe our interest rate risk is minimal. We have no business operations which subject us to trading risk.

We have and will continue to manage interest rate risk as follows:

e maintain a reasonable ratio of fixed-rate, long-term debt to total debt so that floating-rate exposure is kept at an
acceptable level;

» placeinterest rate caps on floating-rate debt where appropriate; and

* takeadvantage of favorable market conditions for long-term debt and/or equity financings.

We use various financial models and advisors to achieve our objectives.

If interest rates under our floating-rate L1 BOR-based indebtedness fluctuated by 100 basis points, our interest costs, based
on outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2012, would increase by approximately $498 thousand on an annualized basis, or
decrease by approximately $104 thousand on an annualized basis. The difference between the interest expense amounts related
to anincrease or decreasein our floating-rate interest cost is because LIBOR was 0.21% at December 31, 2012, therefore we have
limited the estimate of how much our interest costs may decrease because we use a floor of 0% for LIBOR.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The following documents are located in Part 1V, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Equity and Accumulated Deficit for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Schedule I11- Real Estate Investments and Accumulated Depreciation as of December 31, 2012
Schedule IV-Mortgage Loans on Real Estate as of December 31, 2012
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of internal control over financial reporting.

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, asis defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 asfollows:

A process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principa financia officers,
or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the Company'sboard of trust managers, management, and other personnel,
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to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financia reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposesin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

* Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company;

* Provide reasonabl e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordancewith generally accepted accounting principles, and that recei pts and expenditures of the Company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and board of trust managers of the Company; and

* Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the Company’s assets that could have amaterial effect on the financia statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any eval uation of effectivenessto future periods are subject to therisk that controls may become inadequate because
of changesin conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies may deteriorate.

The Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer assessed the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment, management concluded
our internal control over financial reporting is effective as of December 31, 2012.

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

The Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and
operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) as of the end of
the period covered by thisreport. Based on that evaluation the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the end of such period to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

Asrequired by the Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(d), the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
evaluated the Company'sinternal control over financial reporting to determine whether any change occurred during the year ended
December 31, 2012 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, there has been no such change during such period.

Item 9B.  Other Information
None.
PART 111

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information required by this item regarding our directors and officersis incorporated herein by reference to our proxy
statement, or “2013 Proxy Statement”, to be filed with the SEC with regard to our 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by thisitem regarding our officersisincorporated herein by reference to our 2013 Proxy Statement
to be filed with the SEC.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by thisitem regarding our officersisincorporated herein by reference to our 2013 Proxy Statement
to be filed with the SEC.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information required by this item regarding our officers and directors is incorporated herein by reference to our 2013
Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2013 Proxy Statement to be filed with the
SEC.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 72
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 F-1
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Equity and Accumulated Deficit for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 F-4
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements F-6

(2)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule I11- Real Estate Investments and Accumulated Depreciation as of December 31, 2012 F-33
Schedule IV-Mortgage Loans on Real Estate as of December 31, 2012 F-34

(a)(3) Exhibits
Exhibit index F-35
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2012
and December 31, 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2012 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 1n addition,
in our opinion, the financia statement schedules listed in the index appearing under Item 15 (a)(2) present fairly, in al material
respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These
financial statements and financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility
isto express an opinion on these financia statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on atest basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financia statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide areasonable basis
for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Atlanta, GA

March 15, 2013
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PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 15. Financial Statements.

Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Assets
Real estate
Land $ 13,052,000 $ 13,052,000
Building and improvements 60,284,587 60,268,867
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 8,771,346 8,392,446
Construction in progress 3,023 67,877
Gross read estate 82,110,956 81,781,190
Less: accumulated depreciation (6,288,998) (2,698,305)
Net real estate 75,821,958 79,082,885
Readl estate loans 35,106,197 6,000,000
Total real estate and rea estate loans, net 110,928,155 85,082,885
Cash and cash equivalents 2,973,509 4,548,020
Restricted cash 540,232 567,346
Notes receivable 2,450,000 —
Revolving line of credit to related party 936,827 —
Deferred interest receivable on real estate loans 718,901 —
Tenant receivables, net of allowance of $18,623 and $15,924 11,453 23,811
Deferred loan costs, net of amortization of $258,492 and $64,480 681,632 551,660
Deferred offering costs 3,347,965 1,388,421
Other assets 703,256 303,397
Total assets $ 123,291,930 $ 92,465,540
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Mortgage notes payable $ 55,637,000 $ 55,637,000
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,110,964 1,158,530
Revolving credit facility 14,801,197 —
Accrued interest payable 202,027 176,084
Dividends payable 851,484 646,916
Security deposits and prepaid rents 330,108 163,663
Other deferred income 301,575 65,446
Total liabilities 73,234,355 57,847,639

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Equity

Stockholder's equity

Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share;
150,000 shares authorized; 19,762 and 0 sharesissued and outstanding at
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively 198 —

Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share; 400,066,666 shares
authorized; 5,288,444 and 5,149,325 shares issued and outstanding

at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively 52,885 51,493
Additional paid in capital 59,412,744 43,828,030
Accumulated deficit (9,408,253) (9,261,623)

Total stockholders' equity 50,057,574 34,617,900
Non-controlling interest 1 1
Total equity 50,057,575 34,617,901
Total liabilities and equity $ 123,291,930 $ 92,465,540

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenues:
Rental revenues
Other property revenues
Interest income on loans and notes receivable
Total revenues

Operating expenses:
Property operating and maintenance
Property management feesto related party
Real estate taxes
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Acquisition costs
Organizational costs
Insurance
Professional fees
Other
Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss) before corporate and other
expenses

Management fees to related party

Insurance

Interest expense

Equity compensation to directors and executives
Other (income)

Net loss

L ess consolidated net income (loss) attributable to
non-controlling interests

Net loss attributable to the Company

Dividends to preferred stockholders

Earnings attributable to unvested restricted stock
Net loss attributable to common stockhol ders

Net loss per share of Common Stock attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted

Dividends declared on Common Stock

Weighted average number of shares of Common
Stock outstanding, basic and diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
$ 9102757 $ 6199946 $ —
1,128,902 700,512 —
2,250,576 250,245 —
12,491,235 7,150,703 —
2,370,398 1,591,962 —
410,046 276,358 —
753,737 519,500 —
178,922 141,078 _
3,595,298 8,238,444 —
912 1,680,432 388,266

1,593 172,395 360,179
173,270 111,900 —
339,681 380,382 —
150,931 109,655 2,690
7,974,788 13,222,106 751,135
4,516,447 (6,071,403) (751,135)
822,723 505,441 —
166,757 167,689 —
2,504,679 1,514,581 15,064
1,251,216 238,152 —
(82,298) (1,842) —
(146,630) (8,495,424) (766,199)
(146,630) (8,495,424) (766,199)
(450,806) — —
(17,004) (9,750) —

$ (614530) $ (8505174) $  (766,199)
$ 012) $ (223 $ (20.90)
$ 2851973 $ 1940078 $ —
5,172,260 3,822,303 36,666




Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity and Accumulated (Deficit)
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012

Series A
Redeemable Additional Tota Non
Preferred Common Paidin Accumulated Stockholders Controlling Total Equity
Stock Stock Capital (Deficit) Equity (Deficit) Interest (Deficit)

Balance at January 1, 2010 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — % —  $ —  $ —

Issuance of Common Stock — 366 109,632 — 109,998 — 109,998

Issuance of partnership interest in

Operating Partnership to non-controlling

interest — — — — — 1 1

Net loss — — — (766,199) (766,199) — (766,199)
Baance at December 31, 2010 — 366 109,632 (766,199) (656,201) 1 (656,200)

Issuance of warrant to purchase Common

Stock — — 462,330 — 462,330 — 462,330

Proceeds from sale of Common Stock — 51,074 51,022,536 — 51,073,610 — 51,073,610

Equity compensation to executives and

directors — 53 238,099 — 238,152 — 238,152

Syndication and offering costs — — (6,064,489) — (6,064,489) — (6,064,489)

Net loss — — — (8,495,424) (8,495,424) — (8,495,424)

Dividends to common stockholders

($0.375 per share) — — (1,940,078) — (1,940,078) — (1,940,078)
Balanceat December 31, 2011 — 51,493 43,828,030 (9,261,623) 34,617,900 1 34,617,901

Equity compensation to directors and

executives — 60 1,251,156 — 1,251,216 — 1,251,216

Issuance of Units 198 — 19,734,442 — 19,734,640 — 19,734,640

Syndication and offering costs — — (2,096,773) — (2,096,773) — (2,096,773)

Vesting of restricted stock — 260 (260) — — — —

Conversion of Class B Unitsto Common

Stock — 1,072 (1,072) — — — —

Net loss — — — (146,630) (146,630) — (146,630)

Dividends to preferred stockholders

(%$5.00 per share per month) — — (450,806) — (450,806) — (450,806)

Dividends to common stockholders

($0.545 per share) — — (2,851,973) — (2,851,973) — (2,851,973)
Baanceat December 31, 2012 $ 198 $ 52885 $ 59,412,744 $ (9,408253) $ 50057574 $ 1 $ 50,057,575

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities:
Net loss attributabl e to the Company
Reconciliation of net lossto net cash provided by operating
activities:

Depreciation expense

Amortization expense

Deferred fee income amortization

Deferred interest income on real estate loans

Deferred loan cost amortization

Equity compensation to executives and directors

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in tenant receivables
(Increase) decrease in other assets
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued
expenses
Increase in accrued interest payable
Increase in security deposits
Increase in prepaid rents
Increase in deferred income

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities:
Investment in real estate loans
Notes receivable issued
Notes receivable repaid
Draw on line of credit by related party
Repayments of line of credit by related party
Acquisition fees received on real estate loans
Acquisition fees paid on real estate loans
Refund (payment) of deposit on real estate investment
Acquisition of properties, net
Additions to real estate assets - improvements
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from mortgage notes payable
Payments for mortgage loan costs
Proceeds from revolving lines of credit
Payments on revolving lines of credit
Proceeds from non-revolving lines of credit
Payments on non-revolving lines of credit
(Payments on) proceeds from note payable to related parties
Proceeds from sales of common stock, net of offering costs
Proceeds from sales of Units, net of offering costs
Common Stock dividends paid
Preferred Stock dividends paid
Payments for deferred offering costs
Proceeds from noncontrolling interest
Net cash provided by financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
$ (146,630) $ (8495424) $  (766,199)
3,590,693 2,698,305 —
4,605 5,540,139 _
(87,596) (8,887) —
(718,901) — —
194,012 64,479 —
1,251,216 238,152 —
12,358 (23,811) —
(71,596) 6,327 (37,300)
(57,884) 340,844 15,064
25,944 161,020 —
7,989 6,578 —
158,456 238 —
16,275 — —
4,178,941 527,960 (788,435)
(29,072,112) (6,000,000) —
(3,530,544) — —
1,080,544 — —
(1,534,589) — —
554,016 — —
580,814 134,333 —
(307,450) (60,000) —
— 150,000 (150,000)

— (87,449,341) —
(334,401) (458,272) —
27,114 (1,631) —
(32,536,608) __ (93,684,911) (150,000)
— 55,637,000 —
(420,279) (616,139) —
16,763,853 — 200,000
(1,962,656) (200,000) —
— 434,102 805,898

— (1,240,000) —

— (465,050) 465,050

— 46,117,663 109,998
17,830,828 — —
(2,727,272) (1,293,162) —
(370,938) — —
(2,330,380) (691,718) (620,237)
— — 1
26,783,156 97,682,696 960,710
(1,574,511) 4,525,745 22,275
4,548,020 22,275 —
$ 20973509 $ 4548020 $ 22.275




Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - continued

Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest $ 2335033 $ 1287240 $
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:
Accrued capital expenditures $ 27891 $ 32,486 $
Dividends payable - common $ 771616 $ 646,916 $
Dividends payable - preferred $ 79868 % —
Accrued deferred offering costs $ 585,635 $ 701,899 $
Reclass of offering costs from deferred asset to equity $ 67,346 $ — 3
Reclass of deferred offering costs to receivable $ 234679 $ — 3
Other net non-cash property assets acquired $ — 3 599,341 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012

1 Organization

Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., or the Company, was formed as a Maryland corporation on September 18, 2009, and has
elected to be taxed as areal estate investment trust, or REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code")
effective with its tax year ended December 31, 2011. The Company was formed primarily to acquire and operate multifamily
properties in select targeted markets throughout the United States. As part of its business strategy, the Company may enter into
forward purchase contracts or purchase options for to-be-built multifamily communities and may make mezzanine loans, provide
deposit arrangements, or provide performance assurances, as may be necessary or appropriate, in connection with the construction
of multifamily communities and other properties. As a secondary strategy, the Company also may acquire or originate senior
mortgage loans, subordinate loans or mezzanine debt secured by interests in multifamily properties, membership or partnership
interests in multifamily properties and other multifamily related assets and invest not more than 10% of its total assetsin other
real estate related investments, as determined by its Manager (as defined below) as appropriate for the Company. The Company
is externally managed and advised by Preferred Apartment Advisors, LLC, or its Manager, a Delaware limited liability company
and related party (see Note 6).

On February 22, 2011, the Company effected a changein the designation of itsissued and outstanding and authorized but unissued
shares of ClassA Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share, to shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, or Common
Stock, and effected a change of each of itsissued and outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share,
into one issued and outstanding share of Common Stock, all pursuant to an amendment to the Company's charter. Asaresult of
these actions, NELL Partners, Inc. held 36,666 shares of Common Stock as of February 22, 2011. The consolidated statements
of equity and accumul ated deficit for thetwel ve-month periodsended December 31, 2011 and 2010 have been retroactively restated
to reflect this change.

On February 25, 2011, the Company amended its prior authorization to issue up to $75.0 million in Class A Common Stock in
accordance with the changein designation of all shares of ClassA Common Stock to shares of Common Stock, as described above,
and, as aresult, the board of directors of the Company authorized the issuance and sale of up to $75.0 million in Common Stock
inaninitia public offering.

The Company completed itsinitia public offering, or IPO, on April 5, 2011. The IPO resulted in the sale of 4.5 million shares of
Common Stock at aprice per share of $10.00, generating gross proceeds of $45.0 million. The aggregate proceedsto the Company,
net of underwriters' discounts and commissions and other offering costs, were approximately $39.8 million. Concurrently with
the closing of the IPO, in a separate private placement pursuant to Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or
the Securities Act, the Company sold 500,000 shares of its Common Stock to the Williams Opportunity Fund, LLC, or WOF, at
the public offering price of $10.00 per share, for gross proceeds to the Company of $5.0 million. Aggregated estimated offering
expenses in connection with the private placement were approximately $297,700. WOF is an affiliate of the Company and its
Manager.

On May 4, 2011, in conjunction with the | PO, the Company issued and sold 107,361 shares of Common Stock at $10.00 per share
pursuant to the underwriters exercise of their over-allotment option, for gross proceeds of approximately $1.1 million. After
deducting underwriters’ commissions and offering expenses, net proceeds to the Company from the over-allotment option were
approximately $1.0 million.

The consolidated financia statements include the accounts of the Company and Preferred Apartment Communities Operating
Partnership, L.P, or the Operating Partnership. The Company controls the Operating Partnership through its sole general partner
interest and plans to conduct substantially al of its business through the Operating Partnership.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include all of the accounts of the Company and the Operating Partnership presented in
accordance with accounting principlesgenerally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP. All significant intercompany
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain adjustments have been made consisting of normal recurring accruals,
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Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (continued)
December 31, 2012

which, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair presentation of the Company's financial condition and results of
operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amountsreported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Acquisitions and Impairments of Real Estate Assets

The Company generally records its initial investments in income-producing real estate at fair value at the acquisition date in
accordancewith ASC 805-10, Business Combinations. Acquisition costs, which include fees and expensesfor duediligence, legal,
environmental and consulting services, generally will be expensed as incurred.

The aggregate purchase price of acquired propertiesis apportioned to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities
acquired at their estimated fair values. The value of acquired land, buildings and improvementsis estimated by formal appraisals,
observed comparabl e sal estransactions, and information gathered during pre-acquisition due diligence activities and the val uation
approach considers the value of the property asiif it were vacant. The values of furniture, fixtures, and equipment are estimated
by calculating their replacement cost and reducing that value by factors based upon estimates of their remaining useful lives.

Intangible assetsinclude the values of in-placeleases and customer relationships. In-placelease valuesare estimated by calculating
the estimated time to fill a hypothetically empty apartment complex to its stabilization level (estimated to be 92% occupancy)
based on historical observed move-in rates for each property. Carrying costs during these hypothetical expected |ease-up periods
are estimated, considering current market conditions and include real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and
estimates of lost rentals at market rates. The intangible assets are cal culated by estimating the net cash flows of the in-place leases
to berealized, as compared to the net cash flows that would have occurred had the property been vacant at the time of acquisition
and subject to lease-up. The acquired in-place lease values are amortized to operating expense over the average remaining non-
cancelable term of the respective in-place leases. The above-market or below-market |ease values are recorded as a reduction or
increase, respectively, to rental income over the remaining average non-cancelable term of the respective leases. The values of
customer relationships are estimated by calculating the product of the avoided hypothetical lost revenue and the average renewal
probability and are likewise amortized to operating expense over the average remaining non-cancel able term of the respectivein-
place leases. Acquired intangible assets have no residual value.

The Company evaluatesits tangible and identifiable intangible real estate assets for impairment annually or when events such as
declines in a property’s operating performance, deteriorating market conditions, or environmental or legal concerns bring
recoverability of the carrying value of one or more assetsinto question. Thetotal undiscounted cash flows of the asset, including
proceedsfromdisposition, arecompared to the net book valueof theasset. If thistestindicatesthat impairment exists, animpairment
lossisrecorded in earnings equal to the shortage of the book value to the discounted net cash flows of the asset.

Loans Held for Investment

The Company recordsitsinvestmentsin real estateloans at cost with assessments made for impairment in the event recoverability
of the principal amount becomes doubtful. If, upon testing for impairment, the fair value result is|ower than the carrying amount
of theloan, avaluation allowanceisrecorded tolower the carrying amount tofair value, with alossrecorded in earnings. Recoveries
of valuation allowances are only recognized in the event of maturity or a sale or disposition in an amount above carrying value.
See the ‘ Revenue Recognition’ section of this note for other loan-related policy disclosures required by ASC 310-10-50-6.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considersall highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. Restricted cash includes cash restricted by state law or contractual requirement and relates primarily to tax and
insurance escrows and resident security deposits.



Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (continued)
December 31, 2012

Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets and liabilities are required to be carried at fair value, or if they are deemed impaired, to be adjusted to reflect this
condition. The Company follows the guidance provided by ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, in accounting
and reporting for real estate assets where appropriate, as well as debt instruments both held for investment and as liabilities. The
standard requires disclosure of fair values calculated under each level of inputs within the following hierarchy:

* Level 1—Quoted pricesin active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

e Level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly.

e Level 3—Unobservableinputs for the asset or liability.

Deferred Loan Costs

Deferred loan costs are amortized using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method, over the
terms of the related indebtedness.

Deferred Offering Costs

Deferred offering costs represent costs incurred by the Company related to current equity offerings, excluding costs specifically
identifiable to a closing, such as commissions, deal er-manager fees, and other registration fees. For issuances of equity that occur
on one specific date, associated offering costs are reclassified as a reduction of proceeds raised on the date of issue. Our ongoing
offering of units, consisting of one share of Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock, or Series A Preferred Stock, and one warrant,
or Warrant, to purchase 20 shares of Common Stock, or Units, generally closes on a bimonthly basisin variable amounts. Such
offering isreferred to asthe Primary Series A Offering, pursuant to our registration statement on Form S-11 (registration number
333-176604), asmay beamended fromtimeto time. Deferred offering costsrelated to the Primary SeriesA Offering arereclassified
to the stockholders’ equity section of the consolidated balance sheet as areduction of proceeds raised on a pro-rata basis equal to
the ratio of total Unitsissued to the maximum number of Units that may be issued.

Non-controlling Interest

Non-controlling interest represents the equity interest of the Operating Partnership that is not owned by the Company. Non-
controlling interest is adjusted for contributions, distributions and earnings or 1oss attributable to the non-controlling interest in
the consolidated entity in accordance with the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership, as amended.

Redeemable Preferred Stock

Shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock issued in conjunction with the Company’s Unit offering (further described in
note 5) are redeemable at the option of the holder, subject to a declining redemption fee schedule. Redemptions are therefore
outside the control of the Company. However, the Company retains the right to fund any redemptions of SeriesA Preferred Stock
in either Common Stock or cash at its option. Therefore, the Company records the Series A Preferred Stock as a component of
permanent stockholders' equity.

Revenue Recognition

Rental revenue is recognized when earned from residents, which is over the terms of rental agreements, typically of 13 months
duration. Differences from the straight-line method, which recognize the effect of any up-front concessions and other adjustments
ratably over theleaseterm, arenot material. The Company eval uatesthe collectability of amountsduefrom residentsand maintains
an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated |osses resulting from the inability of residents to make required payments then
due under lease agreements. The balance of amounts due from residents are generally deemed uncollectible 30 days beyond the
due date, at which point they are fully reserved.

Interest income on real estate loans and notes receivable is recognized on an accrua basis over the lives of the loans using the
effective interest method. Direct loan origination fees and origination or acquisition costs applicable to real estate loans are
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Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (continued)
December 31, 2012

amortized over the lives of the loans as adjustments to interest income. The accrual of interest on all these instruments s stopped
when thereis concern asto the ultimate collection of principal or interest, which is generally adelinquency of 30 daysin required
payments of interest or principal. Any payments received on such non-accrual loans are recorded as interest income when the
payments are received. Real estate loan assets are reclassified as accrual-basis once interest and principal payments become
current. Certain real estate |oan assets include limited purchase options and exit fees or additional interest payments that are due
the Company at maturity or in the event of asale of the property or refinancing of the loan by the borrower to athird party. If the
Company purchasesthe subject property, any accrued and unpaid exit feewill betreated asadditional consideration for theacquired
project.

Promotional feesreceived from service providers at the Company’s properties are deferred and recognized on astraight-line basis
over the term of the agreement.

The PAC Rewards program, implemented in the first quarter of 2012, allows residents to accumul ate reward points on amonthly
basis for actions such asresident referrals and making rent payments online. A resident must rent a PAC apartment for at least 14
months before reward points may be redeemed for services or upgrades to aresident’s unit. The Company accrues a liability for
the estimated cost of these future point redemptions, net of a35% breakagefee, whichisthe Company’scurrent estimate of rewards
pointsthat will not be redeemed. In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin 13.A.3c, the Company deemsits obligations under
PAC Rewards as inconsequential to the delivery of services according to the lease terms. Therefore, the expense related to the
PAC Rewards Program isincluded in property operating and maintenance expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accountsfor stock-based compensation in accordance with guidance provided by ASC 505, Equity-Based Payments
to Non-Employees and ASC 718, Stock Compensation. We cal culate the fair value of equity compensation instruments at the date
of grant based upon estimates of their expected term, the expected volatility of and dividend yield on our Common Stock over
this expected term period and the market risk-free rate of return. We will also estimate forfeitures of these instruments and accrue
the compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, over the vesting period(s). We record the fair value of restricted stock
awards based upon the closing stock price on the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant.

Acquisition Costs

The Company expenses property acquisition costsasincurred, which include costs such asduediligence, legal, certain accounting,
environmental and consulting, when the acquisition constitutes a business combination. The Company capitalizesthese costsfor
transactions deemed to be asset acquisitions.

Capitalization and Depreciation

The Company capitalizes replacements of furniture, fixtures and equipment, as well as carpet, appliances, air conditioning units,
certain common area items, and other assets. Significant repair and renovation costs that improve the usefulness or extend the
useful life of the properties are also capitalized. These assets are then depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives, asfollows:

. Buildings 40 years

. Furniture, fixtures & equipment 5-10years

. Improvements to buildings and land 5-10years

. Acquired customer intangibles average remaining lease term

Operating expensesrel ated to unit turnover costs, such as carpet cleaning, mini-blind replacements, and minor repairs are expensed
asincurred.

Income Taxes

The Company has el ected to betaxed asaREIT under the Code. To continueto qualify asaREIT, the Company must meet certain
organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of the Company's annual REIT
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taxable income to its stockholders (which is computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain which
does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP). As aREIT, the Company generally will not be
subject to federal income tax to the extent it distributes qualifying dividends to its stockholders. If the Company fails to qualify
asaREIT in any taxable year, it will be subject to federal income tax on its taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates
and generally will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes for the four taxable years
following the year during which qualificationislost unlessthe Internal Revenue Service grants the Company relief under certain
statutory provisions. Such an event could materially adversely affect the Company's net income and net cash available for
distribution to stockholders. The Company intendsto operate in such amanner asto maintain its election for treatment asaREIT.

Since the Company made its REIT election effective as of January 1, 2011 (See Note 10), it was subject to U.S. federal and state
incometaxesfor the period prior to that date. The provision for incometaxesisbased onincomebeforetaxesreported for financial
statement purposes after adjustment for transactions that do not have tax consequences. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
realized according to the estimated future tax consequences attributabl e to differences between the carrying val ue of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates as of the
date of the balance sheet. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is reflected in the period that
includes the statutory enactment date. A deferred tax asset valuation allowance is recorded when it has been determined that it is
more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized. If a valuation allowance is needed, a subsequent change in
circumstances in future periods that causes a change in judgment about the realization of the related deferred tax amount could
result in the reversal of the deferred tax valuation allowance.

The Company recognizesaliability for uncertain tax positions. An uncertain tax position is defined as a position taken or expected
to be taken in atax return that is not based on clear and unambiguous tax law and which is reflected in measuring current or
deferred income tax assets and liabilities for interim or annual periods. The Company may recognize the tax benefit from an
uncertaintax positiononly if itismorelikely than not that thetax position will be sustained on examination by thetaxing authorities,
based on the technical merits of the position. The Company measures the tax benefits recognized based on the largest benefit that
has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution. The Company recognizes interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefitsin its provision for income taxes.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income or loss available to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per shareis computed by dividing
earnings or net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding
adjusted for the effect of dilutive securities such as share grants or warrants. No adjustment is made for potential Common Stock
equivalents that are anti-dilutive during the period.

Recent Adoption of Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. The substantive changes in this new guidance require the
application of apremium or discount invaluing an instrument that isabsent Level 1 inputs, when amarket participant would apply
such afactor in valuing an instrument. The guidance also enhances disclosure requirements: (i) for fair values of Level 3 assets,
the valuation process used for those assets and the sensitivity of those calculations to changes in the amount of unobservable
inputs; (ii) areporting entity’s use of anonfinancial asset in away that differsfrom the asset’s highest and best use when that asset
ismeasured at fair value in the statement of financial position; and (iii) the categorization by level within the fair value hierarchy
of items that are not measured at fair value in the statement of financial position but for which the fair value is required to be
disclosed. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011. Our adoption of this
guidance did not have amaterial effect on our financial position or results of operations.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-10, Property, Plant and Equipment (Topic 360): Derecognition of in Substance
Real Estate — a Scope Clarification. This new standard clarifies the guidance concerning deconsolidation of a subsidiary that is
in substancereal estate upon the event of default of that subsidiary’s nonrecourse debt. Generally, deconsolidation of asubsidiary
in this circumstance is not appropriate until the collateral islegally transferred to the lender and the indebtedness is extinguished.
This guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after June 15, 2012. Our adoption of this guidance did not
have amaterial effect on our financial position or results of operations.
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3. Real Estate Assets

The Company acquired the following three propertieswhich were either partly or wholly owned by partiesrelated to the Company.
The acquisition price for each property was based on the appraisals of two independent real estate appraisers and was approved
by the Company's conflicts committee.

On April 15, 2011, the Company acquired 100% of the membership interests in Stone Rise Apartments, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (f/k/a Oxford Rise JV LLC), the fee-simple owner of a 216-unit multifamily community located in suburban
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, or Stone Rise, for a total purchase price of $30.15 million, exclusive of acquisition-related and
financing-related transaction costs. The membership interestsin Oxford Rise JV LLC were owned by WOF.

On April 21, 2011, the Company acquired 100% of the membership interests in PAC Summit Crossing, LLC, a Georgia limited
liability company (f/k/a Oxford Summit Partners, LLC), the fee-simple owner of a 345-unit multifamily community located in
suburban Atlanta, Georgia, or Summit Crossing, for atotal purchase price of $33.2 million, exclusive of acquisition-related and
financing-related transaction costs. Williams Realty Fund I, LLC, or WRF (see note 6), owned a majority of the membership
interestsin PAC Summit Crossing, LLC.

On April 29, 2011, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary Trail Creek Apartments, LLC, acquired Oxford Trail, a
204-unit multifamily community located in Hampton, Virginia, or Trail Creek, for atotal purchase price of $23.5million, exclusive
of acquisition-related and financing-related transaction costs. The Company purchased afee-simpleinterest in the property from
Oxford Trail IV LLC. WRF owned indirectly an approximately 10% membership interest in Oxford Trail JV LLC.

The Company allocated the purchase prices of the three propertiesto the acquired assets and liabilities based upon their fair values,
asfollows:

Summit
Trail Creek Stone Rise Crossing Total
Land $ 2,652,000 $ 6,950,000 $ 3,450,000 $ 13,052,000
Buildings and Improvements 17,257,845 18,637,356 24,112,767 60,007,968
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 1,841,990 2,819,094 3,591,881 8,252,965
Intangibles 1,748,165 1,743,550 2,045,352 5,537,067
Cash 9,301 16,101 486 25,888
Deposits 28,160 61,276 41,525 130,961
Prepaids and reserves 93,967 439,041 154,744 687,752
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (48,374) (81,677) (89,321) (219,372)
Net assets acquired $ 23583054 $ 30,584,741 $ 33,307,434 $ 87,475,229
Net assets excluding cash $ 23,573,753 $ 30,568,640 $ 33,306,948 $ 87,449,341

The Company recorded depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets as follows:

Twelve months ended December 31,

2012 2011

Depreciation:
Buildings and improvements $ 1,647,844 $ 1,129,835
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 1,942,849 1,568,470
3,590,693 2,698,305

Amortization:
Acquired intangible assets — 5,537,067
Website development costs 4,605 3,072
Total depreciation and amortization $ 3,595,298 $ 8,238,444
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All depreciation and amortization of acquired intangible assetsfor the twel ve-month period ended December 31, 2011 commenced
with the dates of acquisition of the three properties. The intangible assets were amortized in full during 2011 over the average
remaining lease term, which was approximately six months.

4, Real Estate Loans, Notes Receivable, and Line of Credit
Crosstown Walk

On October 29, 2012, the Company amended the real estate acquisition bridge loan it made on June 29, 2012 to Iris Crosstown
Apartments LLC, or Crosstown Walk, a Florida limited liability company, for Crosstown Walk to acquire a parcel of land located
in suburban Tampa, Florida, upon which a multifamily community isto be constructed. The amendment increased the aggregate
amount of the loan to $4,685,000. The amount drawn under theloan at December 31, 2012 was $4,647,383. The amendment also
extended the maturity date to March 31, 2013, with no option to further extend. The loan pays current monthly interest of 8% per
annum. If Irissellsthe property to athird party or if athird party refinancesthe bridge loan at any time during itsterm, an additional
6% per annum exit fee will be due and payable to the Company. There are no contingent events that are necessary to occur for
the Company to realize the additional interest.

The bridge loan is collateralized by a mortgage, an assignment of project documents and by unconditional guaranties of payment
and performance by W. Daniel Faulk, Jr., Richard A. Denny, and J. Michael Morris, unaffiliated third parties and principals of the
borrower. In connection with the closing of the bridge oan and the subsequent amendments, the Company received a total loan
fee of 2% of the amount drawn on the loan, or $93,772 and paid a cumulative acquisition fee of $46,886 to the Manager out of
these funds. Additional loan fees will be recorded on subsequent drawn amounts up to the full aggregate amount of the loan. The
net fees received by the Company will be recognized on thisand all such loans as an adjustment of yield over the term of the loan
using the effective interest method.

Madison-Rome

On September 28, 2012, the Company made aland acquisition bridge loan in the amount of $5,360,042 to Madison Retail - Rome
LLC, or Madison-Rome, aDelaware limited liability company, to partially finance the construction of a88,351 (unaudited) square
foot retail complex located in Rome, Georgia. On November 13, 2012, the loan was converted to a mezzanine construction loan
and at December 31, 2012 , Madison-Rome had drawn $5,063,760 of the loan amount.

The Madison-Rome loan matures on September 20, 2015, with no option to extend and pays current monthly interest of 8% per
annum. An additional exit fee equal to the difference between the 8% interest paid and a 14% cumulative annual simple interest
return will be due and payable to the Company if Madison-Rome refinances the loan with athird party or when the loan balance
isrepaid. There are no contingent events that are necessary to occur for the Company to realize the exit fee.

The Madison-Rome loan is collateralized by a pledge of 100% of the membership interests of Madison-Rome. Prepayment is
permitted in whole, but not in part, without our consent. The Madison-Romeloan is subordinate to asenior |loan up to an aggregate
amount of approximately $11.5 million which is held by an unrelated third party and is subject to the rights held by the senior
lender pursuant to a standard intercreditor agreement.

TheMadison-Romeloanissecured by unconditional guarantiesof payment and performance by Stephen H. Whisenant and Charles
N. Worthen, unaffiliated third parties and principals of the borrower. In connection with the closing of the Madison-Rome loan,
the Company received aloan fee of 2% of the aggregate loan amount, or $107,201 and paid an acquisition fee of $53,600 to the
Manager out of these funds.

City Park

On September 6, 2012, the Company made a mezzanine loan of up to $10,000,000 to Oxford City Park Development LLC, or
City Park, a Georgialimited liability company, to partially finance the construction of a 284-unit multifamily community located
in Charlotte, North Carolina. At December 31, 2012, City Park had drawn $6,029,685 of the |loan amount.

The City Park mezzanine loan matures on September 5, 2017, with no option to extend and pays current monthly interest of 8%
per annum. The loan accrues an additional 6% interest which will be due at maturity or if the property is sold to, or refinanced by,
athird party. There are no contingent events that are necessary to occur for the Company to realize the additional interest. The
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Company also hasan option, but not an obligation, to purchasethe property between andincluding November 1,2015and March 31,
2016 for apre-negotiated purchase price of $30,945,845. |f the Company exercises the purchase option and acquires the property,
the additional accrued interest will be treated as additional consideration for the acquired project.

The mezzanineloan is collateralized by a pledge of 100% of the membership interests of City Park. Prepayment of the mezzanine
loan is permitted in whole, but not in part, without the Company’s consent. The mezzanine loan is subordinate to a senior loan of
up to an aggregate amount of approximately $18.6 million that is held by an unrelated third party. W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard
A. Denny have guaranteed the compl etion of the project in accordance with the plans and specifications. In addition, Messrs. Faulk
and Denny have entered into joint and several repayment guaranties of the mezzanine loan. All of the guaranties are subject to
the rights held by the senior lender pursuant to a standard intercreditor agreement.

In connection with the closing of the City Park mezzanine loan and subsequently in connection with future drawn amounts on the
loan, the Company received atotal |oan fee of 2% of the amount drawn on theloan, or $120,614, and paid acumulative acquisition
fee of $60,307 to the Manager out of these funds. Additional loan fees will be recorded on subsequent drawn amounts up to the
full aggregate amount of the loan.

City Vista

OnAugust 31, 2012, the Company made a mezzanine |oan of up to $12,153,000 to Oxford City Vista Development LLC, or City
Vista, a Georgia limited liability company, to partially finance the construction of a 272-unit multifamily community located in
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. At December 31, 2012, City Vista had drawn $7,262,343 of the loan amount.

The City Vista mezzanine loan matures on June 1, 2016, with an option to extend until July 1, 2017 and pays current monthly
interest of 8% per annum. The loan accrues an additional 6% interest which will be due at maturity or if the property is sold to, or
refinanced by, athird party. There are no contingent events that are necessary to occur for the Company to realize the additional
interest. The Company also has an option, but not an obligation, to purchase the property between and including February 1, 2016
and May 31, 2016 for apre-negotiated purchase price of $43,560,271. If the Company exercises the purchase option and acquires
the property, the additional accrued interest will be treated as additional consideration for the acquired project.

The mezzanineloan is collateralized by apledge of 100% of the membership interests of City Vista. Prepayment of the mezzanine
loan is permitted in whole, but not in part, without the Company’s consent. The mezzanine loan is subordinate to a senior loan of
up to an aggregate amount of approximately $28.4 million that is held by an unrelated third party. W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard
A. Denny, unaffiliated third parties and principals of the borrower, have guaranteed the completion of the project in accordance
with the plans and specifications. In addition, Messrs. Faulk and Denny have entered into joint and several repayment guaranties
of the mezzanine loan. All of the guaranties are subject to the rights held by the senior lender pursuant to a standard intercreditor
agreement.

In connection with the closing of the City Vista mezzanine loan and subsequently in connection with future drawn amounts on the
loan, the Company received atotal |oan fee of 2% of the amount drawn on theloan, or $145,247 and paid a cumul ative acquisition
fee of $72,624 to the Manager out of these funds. Additional loan fees will be recorded on subsequent drawn amounts up to the
full aggregate amount of the loan.

Summit 11

On May 7, 2012, the Company made a mezzanine loan in the amount of $6,103,027 to Oxford Summit Apartments Il LLC, or
Summit |1, a Georgialimited liability company, to partially finance the construction of a 140-unit multifamily community located
adjacent to the Company’s existing Summit Crossing multifamily community in suburban Atlanta, Georgia.

The Summit || mezzanine loan matures on May 8, 2017, with no option to extend and pays current monthly interest of 8% per
annum. The loan accrues an additional 6% interest which will be due at maturity or if the property is sold to, or refinanced by, a
third party. Under the terms of a purchase option agreement entered into in connection with the closing of the mezzanineloan, we
have an option, but not an obligation, to purchase the property for a period of five months following completion of construction,
lease up and stabilization for $19,254,155. If the property issold to, or refinanced by, athird party before or after the option period,
we will be entitled to receive an exit fee equal to the amount required to provide us with a 14% simple interest return on the loan,
in addition to loan fees received at closing, which totaled 2% of the loan amount. Since the minimum exit fee, assuming the
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purchase option is not exercised, is the amount needed to provide a 14% simple interest return, the Company is accruing each
period the additional exit fee earned based on the 14% rate assuming the loan was paid off at period end. There are no contingent
events that are necessary to occur for the Company to realize the additional interest. The accrued exit fee is recorded as interest
incomein the consolidated statements of operations. |f the Company exercises the purchase option and acquires the property, the
additional accrued interest will be treated as additional consideration for the acquired project.

The mezzanine loan is collateralized by a pledge of 100% of the membership interests of Oxford Summit I1. Prepayment of the
mezzanineloan is permitted in whole but not in part without the Company’s consent. The mezzanineloan is subordinate to asenior
loan of up to an aggregate amount of $12,384,000 that is held by an unrelated third party. W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard A.
Denny have guaranteed the completion of the project in accordance with the plans and specifications. In addition, Messrs. Faulk
and Denny have entered into joint and several repayment guaranties of the mezzanine loan. The repayment guaranties expire at
the completion of construction of the property. All of the guaranties are subject to the rights held by the senior lender pursuant to
astandard intercreditor agreement.

In connection with the closing of the Summit 1| mezzanine loan, the Company received aloan fee of 2% of the loan amount, or
$122,061 and paid an acquisition fee of $61,030 to the Manager out of these funds, of which WOF received $610 through its
special limited liability company interest in our Manager.

Trail 11

On June 30, 2011, the Company made a mezzanine loan of $6.0 million to Oxford Hampton Partners LL C, or Hampton Partners,
a Georgia limited liability company and arelated party, to partially finance the construction of a 96-unit multifamily community
located adjacent to the Company’sexisting Trail Creek multifamily community in Hampton, Virginia, or Trail 1. Hampton Partners
was required to fully draw down the mezzanine loan on the closing date. Hampton Partners paid $302,300 to WRF from the
proceeds of the mezzanine loan to retire an outstanding short term loan that matured on the closing date of the Trail || mezzanine
loan. Approximately 100% of the membership interest in Hampton Partners is owned by WRF.

TheTrail 11 mezzanineloan matures on June 29, 2016, with no option to extend and paysinterest at afixed rate of 8.0% per annum.
Interest will be paid monthly with principal and any accrued but unpaid interest due at maturity. Under the terms of a purchase
option agreement entered into in connection with the closing of the mezzanine loan, the Company has an option, but not an
obligation, to purchase the property between and including April 1, 2014 and June 30, 2014 for $17,825,600, which is the amount
of the aggregate project costs as set forth in the approved construction budget on the closing date. If the property is sold to, or
refinanced by, athird party before July 1, 2014, the Company will be entitled to receive an exit fee equal to the amount required
to provide it with a 14% cumulative internal rate of return on the loan. If the property is sold to, or refinanced by, athird party on
or after July 1, 2014, then the Company will be entitled to receive an exit fee equal to the amount required to provide it with a
12% cumulative internal rate of return on the loan. There are no contingent events that are necessary to occur for the Company
to realize the exit fee. The calculation of the cumulative internal rate of return will include the loan’s fees received at closing.
Since the minimum exit fee, assuming the purchase option is not exercised, is the amount needed to provide a 12% cumulative
internal rate of return, the Company is accruing each period the additional exit fee earned based on the 12% rate assuming the loan
was paid off at period end as the borrower cannot control whether the option is exercised. The accrued exit fee is recorded as
interest incomein the consolidated statementsof operations. If the Company exercisesthe purchase option and acquirestheproperty,
any accrued and unpaid exit fee will be treated as additional consideration for the acquired project.

The Trail 11 mezzanine loan is collateralized by a pledge of 100% of the membership interests of Hampton Partners. Partial
prepayment of the mezzanine loan is not permitted without the Company’s consent. The mezzanine loan is subordinate to asenior
loan of up to an aggregate amount of $10 million that is held by an unrelated third party. W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard A.
Denny, both unaffiliated third parties, have guaranteed the compl etion of the project in accordancewith the plansand specifications.
Thisguaranty is subject to therights held by the senior lender pursuant to astandard intercreditor agreement with the senior lender.

In connection with the closing of the Trail |1 mezzanine loan, the Company received a loan fee of 2% of the loan amount, or
$120,000, and aloan commitment fee of $14,333. The Company paid an acquisition fee of $60,000 to its Manager out of these
funds, of which WOF received $600 through its special limited liability company interest in the Manager.
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Notes Receivable

On December 17, 2012, the Company made a loan in the amount of $1,300,000 to Riverview Associates, Ltd., or Riverview, a
Georgialimited partnership, in the form of apromissory note. Theloan bearsinterest at 8% per annum and interest only payments
aredue on a monthly basis until the maturity date of June 16, 2013, with an extension at the Company's option available until
December 16, 2013. The loan may be prepaid at any time, in whole but not in part, without penalty. The amounts payable under
theterms of theloan are backed by an assignment of project documentsand by aguaranty of payment and performance by Stephen
H. Whisenant, an unaffiliated third party and principal of the borrower.

On November 15, 2012, the Company made aloan in the amount of $650,000 to International Assets Advisory, LLC, or IAA, in
the form of asubordinated loan. Theloan bearsinterest at 10% per annum and interest only paymentsare due on a monthly basis
until the maturity date of November 15, 2013. The loan may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without penalty. The
amounts payable under the terms of the loan are backed by rights of withholding commissions due IAA by the Company in
connection with securing placements of the Company's Primary Series A Offering.

On September 14, 2012, the Company made a loan in the amount of $500,000 to Newport Development, LLC, or Newport, a
Georgialimited liability company and unaffiliated third party, in the form of a promissory note. The full amount of the loan was
drawn as of December 31, 2012. The loan bears interest at 15% per annum and interest only payments are due on a monthly
basis until the maturity date of March 17, 2013. The loan may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without penalty. The
amounts payable under the terms of the loan are backed by personal guaranties of repayment issued by Robert F. Krause, Jr., and
J. Richard Stephens, Jr., principals of Newport and who are unaffiliated third parties.

On May 21, 2012, the Company made a loan in the amount of $575,000 to Madison Retail, LLC, or Madison Retail, a Georgia
limited liability company and unaffiliated third party, in the form of a promissory note. The loan boreinterest at 15% per annum
and interest only payments were due on a monthly basis until the maturity date of September 30, 2012. The amount drawn on the
loan of approximately $431 thousand was paid off at maturity, along with accrued interest. The amounts payable under the terms
of the loan were backed by a personal guaranty of repayment issued by Stephen H. Whisenant, the principal of Madison Retail
and an unaffiliated third party.

On March 26, 2012, the Company made aloan in the amount of $650,000 to Oxford Properties, LLC, a Georgialimited liability
company, or Oxford, in the form of apromissory note. Theloan bore interest at 15% per annum and interest only payments were
due beginning May 1, 2012, and continued on a monthly basis until the repayment of the loan, which occurred on September 6,
2012.

Line of Credit

OnAugust 21, 2012, the Company extended arevolving line of credit to its Manager in an aggregate amount of up to $1.0 million,
in order to provide liquidity to the Manager in support of its ongoing business operations. The credit line bears interest at 8.0%
per annum, with interest payable monthly, and matures on July 31, 2013. The loan is secured by a collateral assignment of the
Manager's right to fees under the Management Agreement. At December 31, 2012, the amount drawn on the line of credit by the
Manager was $936,827. On January 3, 2013, the Company amended the revolving line of credit to increase the amount available
to $1.5 million.
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The Company recorded interest income and other revenue from these instruments as follows:

Twelve months ended
12/31/2012 12/31/2011
Interest income:
Rea estate loans:
Summit |1 $ 318,249 $ —
Trail 11 480,000 241,358
Crosstown Walk 144,442 —
City Park 139,439 —
City Vista 166,623 —
Madison-Rome 100,850 —
Total 1,349,603 241,358
Accrued exit fees 718,955 —
Net loan fee revenue recognized 83,195 8,887
Total interest income on real estate loans 2,151,753 250,245
Notes receivable:
Newport 22,243 —
Oxford 42,770 —
Madison Retail 17,430 —
Riverview 5,369 —
IAA 8,370 —
Line of credit to Manager 11,641 —
Total interest income on notes and lines of credit 107,823 —
Total interest income $ 2,259,576 $ 250,245

The Company extends loans for purposes such asto partially finance the devel opment of multifamily residential communities, to
acquire land in anticipation of developing and constructing multifamily residential communities, and for other real estate or rea
estate related projects. Certain of these loans include characteristics such as exclusive options to purchase the project at a fixed
price within a specific time window following project completion and stabilization, the rights to incremental exit fees over and
above the amount of periodic interest paid during the life of theloans, or both. These characteristics can cause the loans to create
variableintereststo the Company and require further evaluation asto whether the variableinterest creates avariableinterest entity,
or VIE, which would necessitate consolidation of the project. The Company considers the facts and circumstances pertinent to
each entity borrowing under the loan, including the rel ative amount of financing the Company is contributing to the overall project
cost, decision making rightsor control held by the Company, and rightsto expected residual gainsor obligationsto absorb expected
residual losses that could be significant from the project. If the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of a VIE,
consolidation treatment would be required.

TheCompany hasevaluateditsreal estateloans, whereappropriate, for accounting treatment asloansversusreal estate devel opment
projects, as required by ASC 310. For each loan, the majority of the characteristics and the facts and circumstances indicate that
loan accounting treatment is appropriate.

The Company's real estate loans partially finance the development activities of the borrowers' associated legal entities. Each of
these loans create variable interests in each of these entities, and according to the Company's analysis, are deemed to be VIEs.
Due to the combined factors of the sufficiency of the borrowers' investment at risk, the existence of payment and performance
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guaranties provided by the borrowers, aswell asthe limitations on the fixed-price purchase options on the Trail 11, Summit I1, City
Park and City Vistaloans, the Company has concluded that it is not the primary beneficiary of the borrowing entities. It has no
decision making authority or power to direct activity, except normal lender rights, which are subordinate to the senior loans on
the projects. Therefore, since the Company has concluded it is not the primary beneficiary, it has not consolidated these entities
inits consolidated financial statements. The Company's maximum exposure to loss from these loans is their carrying value as of
December 31, 2012 of approximately $35.1 million. The maximum aggregate amount of |oans to be funded as of December 31,
2012 was approximately $44.3 million.

The Company is subject to a concentration of credit risk that could be considered significant with regard to the Trail 11, Summit
I1, Crosstown Walk, City Park and City Vistareal estateloans, asidentified specifically by thetwo named principalsof theborrowers,
W. Daniel Faulk, Jr. and Richard A. Denny, and as evidenced by repayment guaranties offered in support of these loans. These
loanstotal approximately $30.0 million and inthe event of atotal failureto perform by the borrowers and guarantors, would subject
the Company to atotal possible loss of that amount. The Company generally requires secured interestsin one or acombination
of the membership interests of the borrowing entity, guaranties of loan repayment, and project completion performance guaranties
ascredit protection with regard to itsreal estateloans, asiscustomary in the mezzanineloan industry. The Company has performed
assessments of the guaranties with regard to the obligors' ability to perform according to the terms of the guarantiesif needed and
has concluded that the guaranties reduce the Company's risk and exposure to the above-described credit risk in place as of
December 31, 2012.

The borrowers and guarantors behind these real estate loans (excluding the Madison-Rome loan) collectively qualify as a major
customer as defined in ASC 280-10-50, as the revenue recorded from this customer exceeded ten percent of the Company's total
revenues. The Company recorded revenue from transactions with this major customer for the twelve-month period ended
December 31, 2012 of approximately $2.0 million.

5. Redeemable Preferred Stock

On November 18, 2011, the Securities and Exchange Commission declared effective our registration statement on Form S-11
(registration number 333-176604) for our offering of up to a maximum of 150,000 Units, with each Unit consisting of one share
of the Company's Preferred Stock and one Warrant to purchase 20 shares of our Common Stock. Such offering is referred to as
the Primary Series A Offering and is offered by the dealer manager on a "reasonable best efforts’ basis. Each share of Preferred
Stock ranks senior to the Company's Common Stock and carries a cumulative annual 6% dividend of the stated per share value
of $1,000, payable monthly as declared by the Company’s board of directors. Dividends begin accruing on the date of issuance.
The Preferred Stock is redeemable at the option of the holder beginning two years following the date of issue subject to a 10%
redemption fee. After year three the redemption fee decreases to 5%, after year four it decreases to 3%, and after year five there
is no redemption fee. Any redeemed shares of Preferred Stock are entitled to any accrued but unpaid dividends at the time of
redemption and any redemptions may be in cash or Common Stock, at the Company’s discretion. The Warrant is exercisable by
the holder at an exercise price of 120% of the current market price per share of the Common Stock on the date of issuance of such
warrant with a minimum exercise price of $9.00 per share. The current market price per share is determined using the volume
weighted average closing market price for the 20 trading days prior to the date of issuance of the Warrant. The Warrants are not
exercisable until one year following the date of issuance and expire four years following the date of issuance.

OnAugust 16, 2012, the Company filed aregistration statement on Form S-11 (registration number 333-183355) for afollow-on
offering of an additional 850,000 Units, or Follow-On Offering which registration statement has not yet been declared effective
by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The terms of the Follow-On Offering and features of the Units are substantially the
same as the Primary Series A Offering.

As of December 31, 2012, offering costs specifically identifiable to Unit offering closing transactions, such as commissions,
dealer manager fees, and other registration fees, totaled approximately $1.9 million. These costs are reflected as a reduction of
stockholders' equity at thetime of closing. In addition, the costsrelated to the offering not related to a specific closing transaction
totaled approximately $3.3 million. Asof December 31, 2012, the Company had issued 19,762 Units and collected net proceeds
of approximately $17.8 million from the Primary Series A Offering after commissions. The number of Units issued was
approximately 2.0% of the maximum number of Unitsto beissued under the Primary SeriesA Offering and the Follow-On Offering.
Consequently, the Company cumulatively recognized approximately 2.0% of the approximate $3.3 million deferred to date, or
approximately $62 thousand as a reduction of stockholders equity. The remaining balance of offering costs not yet reflected as
areduction of stockholder's equity, approximately $3.3 million, arereflected in the asset section of the consolidated bal ance sheet
asdeferred offering costsat December 31, 2012. Theremainder of current and future deferred offering costsrelated to the Primary
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SeriesA Offering will likewise be recognized as areduction of stockholders' equity in the proportion of the number of Unitsissued
to the maximum number of Units available to be issued. Offering costs not related to a specific closing transaction are subject to
an overall cap of 1.5% of the total gross proceeds raised during the Unit offering.

Asfurther discussed in note 17, the Company issued 40,000 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock in conjunction with the closing
of a$40 million private placement transaction on January 16, 2013. Deferred offering costs reflected in the asset section of the
consolidated balance sheet related to the Series B Preferred Stock transaction totaled $233,026 as of December 31, 2012. These
Series B Preferred Stock offering costs will be reclassified as a reduction of stockholders' equity as of January 16, 2013.

6. Related Party Transactions

John A. Williams, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board and Leonard A. Silverstein, the Company's
President and Chief Operating Officer and a member of the Board, are also executive officers and directors of NELL Partners,
Inc., which controlsthe Manager. Mr. Williamsis the Chief Executive Officer and President and Mr. Silverstein is the President
and Chief Operating Officer of the Manager.

Mr. Williams, Mr. Silverstein and Michael J. Cronin, the Company's Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Treasurer are executive officers of Williams Realty Advisors, LLC, or WRA, which is the manager of the day-to-day operations
of WOF. WRA is aso the manager of the day-to-day operations of WRF.

The third amended and restated management agreement, or Management Agreement, between the Company and its Manager
entitles the Manager to receive compensation for various servicesit performs related to acquiring assets and managing properties
on the Company's behalf:

Twelve months ended

Type of December December
Compensation Basis of Compensation 31, 2012 31, 2011

Acquisition fees 1% of the gross purchase price of

real estate assets acquired or loans

advanced $ 307450 $ 928,500
Asset Monthly fee equal to one-twelfth
management fees of 0.50% of the total book value of

assets, as adjusted 576,147 362,427
Property Monthly fee equal to 4% of the
management fees monthly gross revenues of the

properties managed 410,046 276,358
General and Monthly fee equal to 2% of the
administrative monthly gross revenues of the
expense fees Company 246,576 143,014

$ 1540219 $ 1,710,299

In addition to property management fees, the Company incurred the following reimbursable on-site personnel salary and related
benefits expenses at the properties, which are included in property operating and maintenance expense on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations:

Twelve months ended December 31,
2012 2011

$ 984,970 $ 676,413

The Company’s Manager utilizes certain personnel of its affiliates to accomplish certain tasks related to raising capital that would
typically be performed by third parties, including, but not limited to, legal and marketing functions. As permitted under the
Management Agreement, the Manager has requested reimbursement of $214,056 and $203,762 for the twelve-month periods
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ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. These costsarerecorded as deferred offering costs until such time as additional
closings occur on the Unit offering, at which time they are reclassified on a pro-rata basis as a reduction of offering proceeds

within stockholders' equity.

In addition to the fees described above, the Management Agreement also entitles the Manager to other potential fees, asfollows:

» Disposition fees - Based on the lesser of (A) one-half of the commission that would be reasonable and customary; and
(B) 1% of the sale price of the asset

e Construction, development, and landscaping fees - Customary and competitive market ratesin light of the size, type and
location of the asset

e Special limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership - distributions from the Operating Partnership equal to
15% of any net proceeds from the sale of an asset and prior operations that are remaining after the payment of (i) the
capital and expenses alocable to al realized investments (including the sold asset), and (ii) a 7% priority annual return
on such capital and expense; provided that all accrued and unpaid dividends on the Preferred Stock have been paid in

full
The Company did not incur any of these other potential fees during the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 or 2011.
7. Dividends
The Company declares and pays monthly cash dividend distributions on its Preferred Stock in the amount of $5.00 per share,

prorated for partial months at issuance as necessary. In addition to $718 of accrued dividends applicable to the three-month period
ended March 31, 2012, the Company's dividend activity on its Preferred Stock for the twelve-month period ended December 31,

2012 was:

Declaration Dividend
date Record date Payment date distributions

4/13/2012 4/30/2012 5/21/2012 $ 11,486
5/10/2012 5/31/2012 6/20/2012 25,406
6/22/2012 6/29/2012 7/20/2012 42,793
7/22/2012 7/31/2012 8/20/2012 50,878
8/2/2012 8/31/2012 9/20/2012 54,119
9/18/2012 9/28/2012 10/22/2012 58,062
10/20/2012 10/31/2012 11/20/2012 61,553
11/1/2012 11/30/2012 12/20/2012 66,641
12/20/2012 12/31/2012 1/22/2013 79,869
$ 450,807
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The Company's dividend activity on its Common Stock for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was:

Declaration Dividends Dividend
date Record date Payment date per share distributions

5/5/2011 6/30/2011 7/15/2011 $ 0125 3 646,487
8/4/2011 9/30/2011 10/17/2011 $ 0125 $ 646,675
11/10/2011 12/30/2011 1/17/2012 $ 0125 3 646,916
$ 1,940,078
2/2/2012 3/30/2012 4/16/2012 $ 013 $ 673,181
5/10/2012 6/29/2012 7/16/2012 $ 0.13 677,477
8/2/2012 9/28/2012 10/15/2012 $ 0.14 729,699
11/1/2012 12/31/2012 1/15/2013 $ 0145 771,616
$ 2,851,973

For U. S. Federal income tax purposes, dividends may be characterized as ordinary income, capital gains, or areturn of capital to
thecommon stockhol der or preferred stockhol der. For thetwel ve-month period ended December 31, 2011, Common Stock dividend
income was 100% return of capital. For the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012, Common Stock dividend income
was 91.6% return of capital and 8.4% ordinary income and dividends on the Company's Series A Preferred Stock was 100%
ordinary income.

8. Equity Compensation
Stock Incentive Plan

On February 25, 2011, the Company’s board of directors adopted, and the Company’s stockholders approved, the Preferred
Apartment Communities, Inc. 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, or, as amended, the 2011 Plan, to incentivize, compensate and retain
eligible employees, consultants, and non-employee directors. A maximum of 567,500 shares of Common Stock may be issued
under the 2011 Plan. Awards may be made in the form of issuances of Common Stock, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights
(“SARS"), performance shares, incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, or other forms. Eligibility for receipt of,
amounts, and all terms governing awards pursuant to the 2011 Plan, such as vesting periods and voting and dividend rights on
unvested awards, are determined by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.
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Equity compensation expense by award type for the Company was:

Equity compensation expense

for the twelve-month periods ended Unamortized
December 31, Expense as of
2012 2011 December 31, 2012
Quarterly board member committee fee grants $ 42,060 $ 41550 $ —
Class B Unit awards:
Executive officers - 2011 476,981 3,561 —
Executive officers - 2012 477,434 — 2,580
Vice chairman of board of directors 15,374 — 25,622
Restricted stock grants:
2011 66,867 193,041 —
2012 172,500 — 86,250
Tota $ 1,251,216 $ 238,152 $ 114,452

Restricted Stock Grants

OnApril 5, 2011, the Company granted atotal of 26,000 shares of restricted Common Stock to its non-empl oyee board members,
in payment of their annual retainer fees. The Company records the fair value of restricted stock awards based upon the closing
stock price on the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant. The fair value per share was deemed to be $10.00 per
share (the PO offering price) by Board resolution. Compensation cost in the amount of $260,000 was recognized on a straight-
line basis over the period ending on the first anniversary of the grant date and all 26,000 shares vested on April 5, 2012.

OnMay 10, 2012, the Company granted atotal of 33,046 shares of restricted Common Stock to its non-employee board members,
in payment of their annual retainer fees. The per-share fair value was $7.83 and total compensation cost in the amount of $258,750
will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the period ending on the earlier of first anniversary of the grant date or the next
annual meeting of the Company's stockholders. All 33,046 unvested shares were outstanding at December 31, 2012.

Directors’ Stock Grants

The Company grants shares of Common Stock to its independent board members in payment of their meeting fees. The total
compensation cost of these immediate-vesting awards was recorded in full at the grant dates and the fair values were based upon
the closing prices of the Common Stock on the trading days immediately preceding the dates of grant.

Number of Fair value
Grant date shares per share Total fair value
5/5/2011 1872 % 9262 % 18,009
8/4/2011 1500 $ 7.99 11,985
11/9/2011 1926 % 6.00 11,556
$ 41,550
2/2/2012 2988 % 612 $ 18,287
8/2/2012 780 $ 7.88 6,146
11/1/2012 2187 $ 8.06 17,627
$ 42,060
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Class B Units

On December 30, 2011, pursuant to its Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership, the
Company granted 107,164 Class B Units, representing ownership interestsin the Operating Partnership, to certain of its executive
officers as compensation for servicein 2011. On January 3, 2012, the Company granted 106,988 Class B Units for serviceto be
rendered during 2012.

The Class B Units become Vested Class B Units at the Initial Valuation Date, which is one year from the date of grant. For each
grant, on the Initial Valuation Date, the market capitalization of the number of shares of Common Stock at the date of grant is
compared to the market capitalization of the same number of shares of Common Stock at the Initial Valuation Date. If the market
capitalization measure results in an increase of at least $650,000, the Vested Class B Units become Earned Class B Units and
automatically convert into Class A Units of the Operating Partnership, which are henceforth entitled to distributions from the
Operating Partnership and become exchangeable for Common Stock of the Company on a one-to-one basis at the option of the
holder. Vested Class B Units may become Earned Class B Units on a pro-rata basis should the result of the market capitalization
test be an increase of less than $650,000. Any Vested Class B Units that do not become Earned Class B Units on the Initial
Valuation Date are subsequently remeasured on a quarterly basis until such timeasall Vested Class B Units become Earned Class
B Unitsor areforfeited due to termination of continuous service as an officer of the Company due to an event other than asaresult
of aqualified event, which is generally the death or disability of the holder. Continuous service through the final valuation date
isrequired for the Vested Class B Units to qualify to become fully Earned Class B Units.

On August 15, 2012, the Company granted 6,128 Class B Units to its Vice Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors, as
additional compensation for acting in an expanded capacity related to board oversight of the Company's capital raising efforts.
The vesting conditions, conversion rights and other features are identical to the Class B Unit grants described above, except the
market capitalization hurdle is $50,000.

Because of the market condition determining the transition of the Vested Class B Units to Earned Class B Units, a Monte Carlo
simulation was utilized to calculate the total fair values, which will be amortized as compensation expense over the one-year
periods beginning on the grant dates through the Initial Valuation Dates. On December 30, 2012, the 2011 Class B Unit Awards
becamefully vested and earned, and atotal of 107,164 Unitsautomatically converted to ClassA Unitsof the Operating Partnership
on that date. On December 31, 2012, al Class A Unit holders elected to convert their Units into Common Stock. All unvested
2012 Class B Units, aswell as the Class B Unitsissued on August 15, 2012 were outstanding at December 31, 2012.

The underlying valuation assumptions and results for the Class B Unit awards were:

Grant dates 12/30/2011 1/3/2012 8/15/2012
Stock price $ 5.98 $ 6.05 $ 8.30
Dividend yield 8.7% 8.6% 6.75%
Expected volatility 35.29% 35.23% 31.35%
Risk-free interest rate 2.73% 2.83% 2.72%
Derived service period (years) 1.0 1.0 1.0
Number of Units granted 107,164 106,988 6,128
Calculated fair value per Unit,
assuming:
50% vesting $ 4.49 $ 4.50 $ 6.69
100% vesting $ 4.46 $ 4.47 $ 6.68
Total fair value of Units $ 479,559 $ 479,841 $ 40,996
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The expected dividend yield assumptions were derived from the Company’s closing prices of the Common Stock on the grant
dates and the projected future quarterly dividend payments of $0.13 per share for the 2011 and 2012 annual awards and $0.14 per
share for the August 15, 2012 award.

Since the Company has alimited amount of operating history in the public equity market, the expected volatility assumption was
derived from the observed historical volatility of the common stock prices of a select group of peer companies within the REIT
industry that most closely approximatethe Company’ssize, capitalization, leverage, line of businessand geographic focus markets.

The risk-free rate assumptions were obtained from the Federal Reserve yield table and were calculated as the interpolated rate
between the 20 and 30 years year yield percentages on U. S. Treasury securities on the grant dates.

Since the likelihood of attainment of the market condition for each of the Class B Units to become earned is believed to be high
and the vesting period is one year, the forfeiture rate assumption for these Class B Units was set to 0%.

Sincethe Class B Units have no expiration date, aderived service period of oneyear was utilized, which equal s the period of time
from the grant date to the initial valuation date.

Warrant

OnMarch 31, 2011, aspartial compensationfor servicesrendered for thel PO, the Company issued to I nternational AssetsAdvisory,
LLC, or IAA, awarrant to purchase up to 150,000 shares of Common Stock. The exercise priceis $12.50 per share, which is 125%
of the gross IPO price of $10.00 per share. The warrant is currently exercisable and expires on March 31, 2015. The Company
calculated the per-share fair value of the warrant using the Black-Scholes method. The underlying val uation assumptions were:

Dividend yield 5.0%
Expected volatility 62.69%
Risk-free interest rate 1.765%
Expected option term (years) 4

Theexpected dividend yield assumption wasderived from the Company’sgross| PO price per shareof $10.00 and itsthen-projected
future quarterly dividend payments of $0.125 per share.

Since the Company has alimited amount of operating history in the public equity market, the expected volatility assumption was
derived from the observed historical volatility of the common stock prices of a select group of peer companies within the REIT
industry that most closely approximatethe Company’ssize, capitalization, leverage, line of business and geographic focus markets.

The risk-free rate assumption was obtained from the treasury constant maturities nominal yield table obtained from the Federal
Reserve, interpolated between the three-year and five-year yield percentages on U. S. Treasury securities on March 31, 2011.

The expected term assumption of 4 years was equal to the contractual term of the instrument. The fair value of the warrant was
calculated to be $462,330, or $3.08 per shareand, sinceall service conditions had been met as of the date of i ssuance, wasrecorded
infull at March 31, 2011 asanincreasein the deferred offering costs on the consolidated bal ance sheet and an increasein additional
paid-in capital. Subsequent to the closing of the PO, these deferred offering costs were removed from the consolidated balance
sheet and charged against stockholders’ equity.

Thewarrant is exercisable, at IAA's option, in whole or in part, by either payment of the aggregate exercise price for the number
of shares exercised, plus applicable transfer taxes, or by a cashless net share settlement. Upon exercise of the warrant, shares of
Common Stock will be issued from authorized but unissued Common Stock.
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9. Indebtedness
Note Payable

On September 2, 2010, the Company borrowed $465,050 from WOF through the issuance of a promissory note. The note had an
interest rate of 4.25% per annum and had a maturity date of April 30, 2011. The proceeds were used to reimburse the Manager
and its affiliates for organizational, offering, acquisition and due diligence expenses. On April 5, 2011, the Company paid off this
note in conjunction with the closing of the PO and the private placement with WOF. The Company incurred interest on this note
of $5,090 for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2011.

Mortgage Notes Payable

The Company partially financed the acquisitions of Stone Rise, Summit Crossing and Trail Creek with non-recourse mortgage
notes collateralized only by the associated real estate assets for each community with no cross-collateralization of any of our other
properties. Each mortgage requires payments of interest only from the dates of closing through May 1, 2014, then principal and
interest are due on a 30-year amortization schedulethrough May 1, 2018, the date of maturity of eachinstrument. Variable monthly
interest rates are capped at 7.25% and 6.85% for Stone Rise and Trail Creek, respectively. The embedded interest rate caps were
deemed to be clearly and closely related to the debt host instruments. Interest expense on the mortgages for the three acquired
properties was:

Principal Twelve months ended
balance as of December 31,
Acquisition December Interest
date 31, 2012 rate 2012 2011
1 month
LIBOR +
gtigge 4/15/2011  $ 19,500,000 277% $ 596809 $ 420,912
Fixed
Summit 0
Crossing 4/21/2011 20,862,000 4.71% 998,977 696,009
1 month
LIBOR +
Iral 412912011 15275000  2.8% 472,160 316,434
Creek
Total $ 55,637,000 $ 2067946 $ 1,433,355

In addition, the Company recorded amortization of deferred loan costs related to these mortgages of $85,973 and $64,480 for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. The interest expense and deferred loan cost
amortization for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2011 began with the closing dates of the acquisition of the three
multifamily properties and so do not reflect afull period of activity.

Credit Facility

On August 31, 2012, the Company and the Operating Partnership entered into a credit agreement with Key Bank National
Association, or Key Bank, to obtain a $15.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility, or the Credit Facility. The intended
usesof the Credit Facility areto fundinvestments, capital expenditures, dividends (with consent), working capital and other general
corporate purposes on an as heeded basis. Amounts drawn under the Credit Facility bear interest at avariable rate of the 1 month
LIBOR index plus 500 basis points, or approximately 5.2% per annum at December 31, 2012 aswell as a commitment fee on the
average daily unused portion of the Credit Facility of 0.50% per annum. Accrued interest and commitment fees are payable
monthly and principal amounts owed may be repaid in whole or in part without penalty. The Credit Facility has a maturity date
of August 31, 2013.
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Borrowings under the Credit Facility are collateralized by, among other things, pledges of 100% of the ownership of each of the
current and future mezzanine loan subsidiaries, and 49% of the ownership of each of the current and future real estate subsidiaries,
aswell as by joint and several repayment guaranties.

The Credit Facility contains certain affirmative and negative covenants including negative covenants that limit or restrict secured
and unsecured indebtedness, mergers and fundamental changes, investments and acquisitions, liensand encumbrances, dividends,
transactions with affiliates, burdensome agreements, changes in fiscal year and other matters customarily restricted in such
agreements. Asof December 31, 2012, the Company wasin compliancewith all covenantsrelated to the Credit Facility, asfollows:

Covenant ® Requirement Result
Senior leverage ratio Maximum 65% 43.1%
Net worth Minimum $50,000,000 $50,057,575
Debt yield Minimum 7.75% 8.91%
Payout ratio Maximum 95% 78.5%
Total leverage ratio Maximum 70% 54.4%
Debt service coverage ratio Minimum 1.50x 2.84X

@ All covenants are as defined in the Credit Facility.

At December 31, 2012, the Company and the Operating Partnership had drawn $14,801,197 under the Credit Facility to finance
the closings of the City Vista and City Park mezzanine loans and the Madison-Rome loan, as well as associated legal expenses
and aloan fee and closing costs of $323,918 for the establishment of the Credit Facility, of which $108,039 was amortized for the
twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012. Interest expense for the Credit Facility was $242,721 and the weighted average
interest rate was 5.20% for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2012 (commencing with the first draw upon the Credit
Facility on August 31, 2012).

LIBOR was 0.209% on December 31, 2012. Based upon this current rate, the Company’s estimated future principa paymentsdue
on its debt instruments as of December 31, 2012 were:

Future principal

Period payments

2013 $ 14,801,197
2014 608,706
2015 1,073,003
2016 1,111,482
2017 1,151,415

thereafter 51,692,394
Total $ 70,438,197

Lines of Credit

On October 12, 2010, the Company entered into a $1.0 million unsecured non-revolving line of credit arrangement with WOF,
which matured on March 31, 2011. On March 25, 2011, the line of credit was increased to $1.25 million and the maturity date
was extended to April 30, 2011. Thelinewasto be used to fund approved expensesincurred by the Company such as organization,
offering and property acquisition expenses. Theline had an interest rate of 4.25% per annum. For the twelve-month period ended
December 31, 2011, the Company incurred interest on thisline of credit of $10,758. On April 5, 2011, the Company paid off and
terminated this line of credit in conjunction with the closing of the PO and the private placement with WOF.
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On October 12, 2010, the Company entered into a $1.0 million unsecured revolving line of credit arrangement with WOF, which
matured on March 31, 2011. On March 25, 2011, the line of credit was reduced to $750,000 and the maturity date was extended
to April 30, 2011. Theline was only to be used to fund certain approved deposits and escrows related to the acquisition of real
estate projects and related financings. The line had an interest rate of 4.25% per annum. For the twelve month period ended
December 31, 2011, the Company incurred interest on this line of credit of $880. On April 5, 2011, the Company paid off and
terminated this line of credit in conjunction with the closing of the PO and the private placement with WOF.

10. Income Taxes

The Company elected to be taxed as a REIT effective with its tax year beginning January 1, 2011, and therefore, the Company
will not be subject to federal and state income taxes after this effective date. For the period preceding this election date, the
Company's operations resulted in atax loss. As of December 31, 2010, the Company had deferred federal and state tax assets
totaling approximately $298,100, none of which were based upon tax positions deemed to be uncertain. These deferred tax assets
will most likely not be used since the Company elected REIT status, therefore, management has determined that a 100% val uation
allowance is appropriate for the periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is not currently subject to any known material commitments or contingencies from its business operations, nor any
material known or threatened litigation.

12. Segment Information

The Company evaluates the performance of its business operations and allocates financial and other resources by assessing the
financial resultsand outlook for future performance across two distinct segments: multifamily communities and real estate related
financing.

Multifamily Communities - consists of owned residential multifamily communities.

Financing - consistsof the Company's portfolio of mezzanineloans, bridgeloans, and other instruments depl oyed by the Company
to partialy finance the devel opment, construction, and prestabilization carrying costs of new multifamily communities and other
real estate and real estate related assets.

The primary financial operating measure utilized internally by the Company's chief operating decision maker, or CODM, is
Adjusted Funds from Operations, or AFFO. The Company defines and calculates AFFO as:

Net income/loss:
e Excluding impairment charges on and gaing/losses from sales of depreciable property;
*  Plusdepreciation and amortization of real estate assets, and
«  After adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures

Plus:
e Acquisition costs;
e Organization costs;
*  Non-cash equity compensation to directors and executives;
e Amortization of loan closing costs;
*  REIT establishment costs;
*  Depreciation and amortization of non-real estate assets; and
*  Net mezzanine |oan fees received;

»  Non-cash mezzanine |oan interest income;
e Cash paid for loan closing costs; and
e Normally recurring capital expenditures

The Company'sreported AFFO results are not generally comparabl e to those reported by other companies. Investorsare cautioned
that AFFO is a non-GAAP measure which excludes acquisition costs which are generally recorded in the periods in which the
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properties are acquired (and often preceding periods). The CODM utilizesAFFO to gauge the results of the operating performance
of the Company's portfolio of real estate-related assets. AFFO isauseful supplement to, but not asubstitutefor, its closest GAAP-

December 31, 2012

compliant measure, which the Company believes to be net income/loss available to common stockholders.

The following tables present the Company's assets, revenues, and AFFO results by reportable segment. The assets attributable to
'Other' primarily consist of deferred offering costs recorded but not yet reclassified as reductions of stockholders' equity and cash
balances at the REIT and Operating Partnership levels. The amounts of AFFO attributable to 'Other' consist of expenses related
to equity compensation awards, asset management fees and general and administrative expense fees incurred at the Operating

Partnership level, professional fees, and other miscellaneous costs not allocable to either reportable segment.

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Assets:
Multifamily communities  $ 77,292,922 $ 80,520,149
Financing 39,222,062 6,055,006
Other 6,776,946 5,890,385
Consolidated assets $ 123,291,930 $ 92,465,540
Twelve months ended:
December December
31, 2012 31,2011
Revenues
Multifamily communities $ 10,231,660 $ 6,900,458
Financing 2,259,575 250,245
Consolidated revenues $ 12,491,235 $ 7,150,703
Adjusted funds from operations attributable to segments (Segment AFFO):
Multifamily communities $ 3,754,922 $ 4,326,850
Financing 1,763,691 315,661
AFFO attributable to segments 5,518,613 4,642,511
Depreciation of real estate assets (3,572,284) (2,682,562)
Amortization of acquired intangible assets — (5,537,067)
Acquisition costs (912) (1,680,432)
Organization costs (1,593) (172,395)
Non-cash equity compensation to directors and executives (1,251,216) (238,152)
Amortization of loan closing costs (194,012) (64,480)
REIT establishment costs — (25,849)
Depreciation/amortization of non-real estate assets (23,014) (18,814)
Net mezzanine loan fees received (307,450) (74,333)
Non-cash mezzanine loan interest income 803,245 8,887
Cash paid for loan closing costs 323,918 —
Normally recurring capital expenditures 192,815 118,504
Other (2,102,640) (2,780,992)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (614,530) $ (8,505,174)
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Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (continued)
December 31, 2012

13. Loss Per Share

Thefollowing isareconciliation of weighted average basic and diluted shares outstanding used in the cal culation of 1oss per share
of Common Stock:

YTD
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Numerator:
Net income (loss) $ (146,630) $ (8/495424) % (766,199)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to the Company (146,630) (8,495,424) (766,199)
Dividends on Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock (See Note A
bel ow) (450,806) — —
Earnings attributable to unvested restricted shares (See Note B below) (17,094) (9,750) —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (614530) $ (8505174) $ (766,199)
Denominator:
Weighted average number of shares of Common Stock - basic 5,172,260 3,822,303 36,666
Effect of dilutive securities (See Note C below):
Warrants — — —
Class B Units — — —
Weighted average number of shares of Common Stock - diluted 5,172,260 3,822,303 36,666
Loss per weighted average share - basic and diluted $ 012) $ 223) $ (20.90)

(A) The Company’sissuances totaling 19,762 shares of Preferred Stock which accrue dividends at an annual rate of 6% of the
stated value of $1,000 per share, payable monthly.

(B) The Company's unvested restricted share awards (33,046 and 26,000 shares of Common Stock at December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively) contain non-forfeitable rights to distributions or distribution equivalents. The impact of the
unvested restricted share awards on earnings per share has been calculated using the two-class method whereby earnings are
allocated to the unvested restricted share awards based on dividends declared and the unvested restricted shares' participation
rights in undistributed earnings. Given the Company has incurred net |osses to date, the dividends declared for the twelve-month
periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are adjusted in determining the cal culation of loss per share of Common Stock since
the unvested restricted share awards are defined as participating securities.

(C) Potentia dilution from 150,000 shares of Common Stock that would be outstanding due to the hypothetical exercise of a
warrant issued by the Company on March 31, 2011 and warrants outstanding from issuances of Units from our Primary SeriesA
Offering that are potentially exercisable into 395,240 shares of Common Stock, as well as atotal of 113,116 unvested Class B
Units issued on January 3, 2012 and August 15, 2012 were excluded from the diluted shares calculation because the effect was
antidilutive.
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Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (continued)

) . . December 31, 2012
14. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Quarterly financial information for 2012 and 2011 was as follows:

Three months ended:

3/31/2012 6/30/2012 9/30/2012 12/31/2012

Revenues $ 2634901 $ 2,860,981 $ 3243251 $ 3,752,102
Operating income 601,743 816,451 1,255,112 1,843,141
Net income (loss) (476,637) (234,589) 148,921 415,675
Less: consolidated net loss attributable to non-controlling
interests — — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to the Company (476,637) (234,589) 148,921 415,675
Dividends on Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock (718) (78,967) (163,059) (208,062)
Earnings attributable to unvested restricted shares (3,380) (4,296) (4,626) (4,792)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ (480,735) $ (317,852) $ (18,764) $ 202,821
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ (0.09) $ (0.06) $ —  $ 0.04

Diluted $ (009 $ (006 3 — 3 0.04
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 5,151,164 5,177,170 5,178,822 5,181,708

Diluted 5151164 5177170 517882 5,320,962

Three months ended:
3/31/2011 6/30/2011 9/30/2011 12/31/2011

Revenues $ — $ 1878271 $ 2,633,628 $ 2,638,804
Operating loss (355,324) (3,309,717) (2,069,051) (337,311)
Net loss (433,233) (3,980,615) (2,900,704) (1,180,872)
Less: consolidated net loss attributable to non-controlling o L L .
interests
Net loss attributable to the Company (433,233) (3,980,615) (2,900,704) (1,180,872)
Earnings attributable to unvested restricted shares — (3,250) (3,250) (3,250)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (433233) $(3,983,865 $(2,903954) $(1,184,122)
Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted $ (11.82) $ 082 $ (056) $ (0.23)
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic and diluted 36,666 4,886,486 5,146,845 5,148,488
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Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (continued)
December 31, 2012

15. Pro Forma Financial Information (unaudited)

The Company’s condensed pro formafinancial results, assuming the acquisitions of Stone Rise, Summit Crossing, and Trail Creek
were hypothetically completed on January 1, 2010 were:

Twelve months ended

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Pro forma:
Revenue $ 10,081,482 $ 9,050,461
Amortization of intangibles — (5,537,067)
Depreciation expense (3,199,126) (3,979,871)
Acquisition costs (811,932) (1,047,733)
Organization costs (172,395) (150,804)
Property operating expenses (4,121,777) (3,741,535)
Other expenses (3,232,237) (2,979,313)
Net income (l0ss) $ (1,455,985 % (8,385,862)
Pro formabasic and diluted earnings (loss) per share  $ 030 % (1.97)
Pro forma weighted average outstanding shares,
basic and diluted 4,859,408 4,257,282

Since the Company commenced operations with its IPO on April 5, 2011, pro forma adjustments have been made to corporate
general and administrative expenses for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010. The pro
forma weighted average shares outstanding were calculated assuming the IPO occurred on January 1, 2010. These pro forma
results are not necessarily indicative of what historical performance would have been had these business combinations been
effective January 1, 2010, nor should they be interpreted as expectations of future results.

16. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset or liability is exchanged between market participants in an orderly transaction
at the reporting date. The Company’s cash equival ents, notes receivable, accounts receivable and payables and accrued expenses
all approximate fair value due to their short term nature. The Company does not have any assets or liabilities measured at fair
value on arecurring basis.

The following tables provide estimated fair values of the Company’s other financial instruments, which include mortgage notes
collateralized only by the Company’s three acquired apartment communities and its real estate |oans and bridge |oan assets:
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Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (continued)
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As of December 31, 2012

Fair value measurements
using fair value hierarchy

Carrying value Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial Assets:
Real estate loans $ 35106197 $ 37,646,753 $ — $ — $ 37,646,753
Notes receivable 2,450,000 2,450,000 — — 2,450,000
Line of Credit receivable 936,827 936,827 — — 936,827
$ 38493024 $ 41033580 $ — $ — $ 41,033,580
Financial Liabilities:
Mortgage notes payable $ 55637000 $ 57,012876 $ — 3 — $ 57,012,876
Revolving credit facility 14,801,197 14,801,197 — — 14,801,197
$ 70438197 $ 71,814,073 $ — $ — $ 71,814,073

As of December 31, 2011

Fair value measurements
using fair value hierarchy

Carrying value Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial Assets:
Real estate loans $ 6,000,000 $ 6,490,022 $ — % — $ 6,490,022
Financial Liabilities:
M ortgage notes payable $ 55637000 $ 56,728053 $ — 3 — $ 56,728,053

Thefair value of thereal estate loans within the level 3 hierarchy are comprised of estimates of the fair value of the notes, which
were devel oped utilizing adiscounted cash flow model over the remaining termsof the notesuntil their maturity datesand utilizing
discount rates believed to approximate the market risk factor for notes of similar type and duration. The fair values also contain
aseparately-cal culated estimate of any applicable exit fee or additional interest payment due the Company at the maturity date of
theloan, discounted to the reporting date utilizing adiscount rate believed to be appropriate for multifamily development projects.

Thefair values of the Company’stwo variable rate mortgages are believed to approximate their carrying values, aslong as market
interest rates remain below the levels of theinterest rate capsin place on these two notes. The fair value of the fixed rate mortgage
on the Company’s Summit Crossing property was devel oped using market quotes of thefixed rateyield index and spread for seven
year notes as of the reporting date. Consideration istaken of the current margin rates and spreads rel ative to the interest rate caps
in performing this analysis. The present value of the cash flows were calculated using the original interest rate in place on the
Summit mortgage and again at the current market rate. The difference between the two results was applied as a fair market
adjustment to the carrying value of the mortgage.

17. Subsequent Events

On January 2, 2013, the Company awarded 142,046 Class B Unitsto its executive officers and other key personnel for serviceto
be provided during 2013. The 2013 award carries vesting terms and features substantially similar to the Class B Units awarded
for 2011 and 2012. Thetotal compensation cost was cal cul ated to be $862,219 and will be recognized on astraight-line basis over
the one year period from the grant date to the initial valuation date on January 2, 2014.

On January 3, 2013, the 2012 Class B Unit awards totaling 106,988 Units became fully vested and earned and automatically
converted into Class A Units of the Operating Partnership.

On January 3, 2013, the Company increased the balance available on the line of credit extended to its Manager to $1,500,000.
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On January 10, 2013, the Company issued 1,098 Units and collected net proceeds of approximately $996 thousand.

On January 17, 2013, the Company issued 40,000 shares of its Series B Preferred Stack at a purchase price of $1,000 per share
through a private placement transaction. The net proceeds totaled approximately $37.6 million after commissions. The Series B
Preferred Stock will automatically be converted into shares of Common Stock following, and subject to, stockholder approval, at
aconversion price of $7.00 per common share. The conversion would result in the issuance of approximately 5,714,286 shares of
Common Stock. The Company plans to file a resale registration statement by no later than April 15, 2013 for the purpose of
registering the resale of the underlying shares of Common Stock into which the shares of Series B Preferred Stock are convertible
following stockholder approval. The Series B Preferred Stock pays dividends at the same rate as those declared on our Common
Stock, on an as-converted basis.

On January 23, 2013, the Company acquired three multifamily communities: McNeil Ranch, a 192 unit community in Austin,
Texas, for approximately $21.0 million; Lake Cameron, a328 unit community in Raleigh, North Carolina, for approximately $30.4
million; and Ashford Park, a 408 unit community in Atlanta, Georgia for approximately $39.4 million. These three additional
properties added 928 unitsto our portfolio, which now total 1,693 units. These acquisitionswere financed utilizing proceedsfrom
the Series B Preferred Stock transaction described above. The determination of the amountsto be allocated to the acquired assets
and liabilities pursuant to these acquisitions were not complete as of the date of filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On January 24, 2013, the Company declared a monthly dividend of $5.00 per share on its Series A Preferred Stock, which was
paid on February 20, 2013 to applicable preferred stockholders of record on January 31, 2013.

On January 24, 2013, the Company issued a promissory notein the amount of $1.5 million to PecuniaManagement, LL C, aFlorida
limited liability company, or Pecunia. On that same day, Pecunia drew $500,000 on the loan and drew an additional $500,000 on
February 21, 2013. The final scheduled draw of $500,000 is scheduled for March 21, 2013. The loan bears interest at 10% per
annum and interest only payments are due on amonthly basis until the maturity date of January 23, 2015. Theloan may be prepaid
at any time, in whole or in part, without penalty. The amounts payable under the terms of the loan are backed by an assignment
of dealer manager fees payable by the Company to IAA, awholly-owned subsidiary of Pecunia, pursuant to the Dealer Manager
Agreement between the Company and IAA, dated November 18, 2011.

On January 24, 2013, the three newly acquired properties were refinanced with seven-year, nonrecourse mortgages which totaled
approximately $59.0 million. Fixed rate, interest-only payments of 3.13% per annum are due monthly through February 28, 2018.

On January 31, 2013, the Company issued 2,264 Units and collected net proceeds of approximately $2.1 million.

On February 7, 2013, the Company declared a quarterly dividend on its Common Stock of $0.145 per share, payable on April 22,
2013 to all holders of Common Stock of record as of March 28, 2013.

On February 7, 2013, the Company granted 2,115 shares of Common Stock to itsindependent board members, in payment of their
quarterly meeting fees. The per-share fair value of this immediate-vesting award was $8.59, which was the closing price of the
Common Stock on the prior business day. The total compensation cost of $18,168 was recorded in full at the grant date.

On February 7, 2013, the Company declared amonth dividend of $5.00 per share on its SeriesA Preferred Stock, whichis payable

on March 20, 2013 to applicable preferred stockholders of record on February 28, 2013 and on its Series B Preferred Stock on an
as-converted basis, pro ratafrom January 16, 2013 to March 31, 2013.

On February 15, 2013, the Company issued 1,563 Units and collected net proceeds of approximately $1.4 million.
On February 28, 2013, the Company issued 1,038 Units and collected net proceeds of approximately $996,000.

On March 15, 2013, the Company issued 1,329 Units and collected net proceeds of approximately $1.2 million.
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Schedule 111

Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.

Real Estate Investments and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31, 2012

Initial Costs Ca;(J:i?'jltiied Gross Amount at Which Carried at Close of Period
. o Related Buildingand  Subsequent Building and Constructio Accumulate Date of Depreciable
Location Descriptio Encumbrance Improvement to Improvement nin d Constructio Date Lives-
(MSA) n s Land s Acquisition Land s Progress Total (1) Depreciatio n Acquired Years
]

Stone Philadelphia, Apartment
Rise PA s $ 19,500,000 $6,950,000 $ 21,456,450 $ 136,448 $ 6,950,000 $ 21,592,898 $ 3,023 $28545921  $(1,942,966) 11/2008 4/15/2011 5-40
Summit Apartment
Crossing Atlanta, GA s 20,862,000 3,450,000 27,704,648 221,801 3,450,000 27,926,447 — 31,376,447 (2,729,654) 9/2007 4/21/2011 5-40
Trail Hampton, Apartment
Creek VA S 15,275,000 2,652,000 19,099,835 436,753 2,652,000 19,536,588 — 22,188,588 (1,616,378) 4/2007 4/29/2011 5-40
Total $ 55,637,000 $3,052,000 $ 68260933 $ 795001 $13,052,000 $ 69,055933 $ 3,023 $82110956  $(6,288,998)

(1) The aggregate cost for Federal Income Tax purposes to the Company was approximately $89,230,000 at December 31, 2012.

A summary of activity for real estate investment and accumulated depreciation is as follows:

Real estate investments

Balance at the beginning of the year

Acquisitions

Improvements

Construction in progress

Balance at the end of the year

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at the beginning of the year

Depreciation (a)

Balance at the end of the year

2012 2011
$ 81,781,190 $ —
— 81,312,933

326,743 400,380
3,023 67,877

$ 82,110,956 981,781,190
$ (2,698,305) $ —
(3590,693)  (2,698,305)

$ (6,288,998) $(2,698,305)

(a) Represents depreciation expense of real estate assets. Amounts exclude amortization of lease intangible assets.
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Schedule 1V
Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
Mortgage Loans on Real Estate
December 31, 2012

Principal
Amount of
Mortgages
Subject to
Periodic Carrying Delinquent
Location Fina Payment Face Amount Amount of Principal or
Description (MSA) Interest Rate Maturity Date Terms Prior Liens®  of Mortgages Mortgages Interest
Mezzanine Fixed rate,
construction interest
loan on only,
multifamily payable
community Hampton, VA @ 8% 6/29/2016 monthly $ 10,000,000 $ 6,000,000 $ 6,000,000 $ —
Mezzanine Fixed rate,
construction interest
loan on only,
multifamily Suburban payable
community Atlanta, GA ) 8% 5/8/2017 monthly 12,384,000 6,103,027 6,103,027 —
Mezzanine Fixed rate,
construction interest
loan on only,
multifamily payable
community Charlotte, NC @ 8% 9/5/2017 monthly 18,600,000 6,029,684 6,029,684 —
Mezzanine Fixed rate,
construction interest
loan on only,
multifamily payable
community Pittsourgh, PA 8% 6/1/2016 monthly 28,400,000 7,262,343 7,262,343 —
Mezzanine Fixed rate,
construction interest
loan on retail only,
development payable
project Rome, GA 8% 9/20/2015 monthly 11,500,000 5,063,760 5,063,760 —
Fixed rate,
Land interest
acquisition only,
bridgeloanon  Suburban payable
officebuilding  Tampa, FL 8% 3/31/2013 monthly — 4,647,383 4,647,383 —
Total $ 80,884,000 $ 35106,197 $ 35106,197 $ —

@ These loans include exclusive purchase option agreements which grant the Company an option (but not an obligation) to purchase the property during specific
periodsin the future. If the property is sold to, or refinanced by, athird party before the beginning of the associated option period, the Company will be entitled to
receive an exit fee equal to the amount required to provide us with additional interest equal to a 14% simple interest return on the loan, except for Trail 11, for
which the exit fee will be calculated as a cumulative 14% IRR. There are no contingent events that are necessary to occur for the Company to realize the exit fees
related to these loans. See note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

@ Senior construction loans held by unrelated third parties.

The aggregate cost for Federal income tax purposes was approximately $35,106,000 at December 31, 2012.

Mortgage loans 2011 2012

Balance at the beginning of the year $ — $ 6,000,000
Originations 6,000,000 29,106,197
Balance at the end of the year $ 6,000,000 $35,106,197



The following exhibits are included, or incorporated by reference, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (and are numbered in
accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K):

Exhibit

No.
11
12
31
3.2

4.1
4.2

4.3

4.4
45
46
47

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

109

10.10

10.11

10.12

Reference Description

(18)
(16)
@)
@

(22)

(16)

(0]

(16)

(15)

(16)

(23)

(©)]

@

4

®)

®

(6)

(6)

@)

]

®

Dealer Manager Agreement

Form of Soliciting Dealer Agreement

Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.

Third Amended and Restated By-laws of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.

FourthAmended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Preferred Apartment Communities
Operating Partnership, L.P.

Articles Supplementary for the Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock

Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement between Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc. and
Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent

Form of Subscription Agreement, included as Appendix B to the prospectus

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued to International Assets Advisory, LLC, dated March 31, 2011
Form of Global Warrant Certificate

Articles Supplementary for the Series B Preferred Stock

Third Amended and Restated Management Agreement, dated May 13, 2011, among Preferred Apartment
Communities, Inc., Preferred Apartment Communities Operating Partnership, L.P. and Preferred Apartment
Advisors, LLC

The Company’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan

Trademark License and Assignment Agreement dated September 17, 2010, between Preferred Apartment
Communities, Inc. and Preferred Apartment Advisors, LLC

Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated September 29, 2010, between Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
and Oxford Rise Partners LLC and Williams Opportunity Fund, LLC

Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated September 29, 2010, between Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
and Oxford Summit Development LLC and Williams Realty Fund |, LLC

Assignment and Assumption of Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated October 19, 2010, between Preferred
Apartment Communities, Inc. and Preferred Apartment Communities Operating Partnership, L.P. (Oxford
Rise)

Assignment and Assumption of Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated October 19, 2010, between Preferred
Apartment Communities, Inc. and Preferred Apartment Communities Operating Partnership, L.P. (Oxford
Summit)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to the Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc. 2011 Stock
Incentive Plan

First Amendment to Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated December 14, 2010, between Preferred A partment
Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., as assignee of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., and Oxford
Rise Partners LL C and Williams Opportunity Fund, LLC (Oxford Rise)

First Amendment to Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated December 14, 2010, between Preferred Apartment
Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., as assignee of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., and Oxford
Summit Development, LLC, and Williams Realty Fund |, LLC (Oxford Summit)

Second Amendment to Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated December 28, 2010, between Preferred
Apartment Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., as assignee of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.,
and Oxford Rise Partners LL C and Williams Opportunity Fund, LLC (Oxford Rise)

Second Amendment to Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated December 28, 2010, between Preferred
Apartment Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., as assignee of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.,
and Oxford Summit Development, LLC, and Williams Realty Fund |, LLC (Oxford Summit)
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(24)

(24
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Third Amendment to Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated February 15, 2011, between Preferred Apartment
Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., as assignee of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., and Oxford
Rise Partners LL C and Williams Opportunity Fund, LLC (Oxford Rise)

Third Amendment to Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated February 15, 2011, between Preferred Apartment
Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., as assignee of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., and Oxford
Summit Development, LLC and Williams Realty Fund I, LLC (Oxford Summit)

Fourth Amendment to Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated March 25, 2011, between Preferred Apartment
Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., as assignee of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., and Oxford
Rise Partners LLC and Williams Opportunity Fund, LLC (Oxford Rise)

Fifth Amendment to Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated March 25, 2011, between Preferred Apartment
Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., as assignee of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., and Oxford
Rise Partners LLC and Williams Opportunity Fund, LLC (Oxford Rise)

Fourth Amendment to Contract of Purchase and Sale, dated March 25, 2011, between Preferred Apartment
Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., as assignee of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., and Oxford
Summit Development, LLC and Williams Realty Fund I, LLC (Oxford Summit)

Form of Indemnification Agreement

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2010, between Oxford Trail IV LLC and Trail
Creek Apartments, LLC

Reinstatement and First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as January 6, 2011, between
Oxford Trail JV LLC and Trail Creek Apartments, LLC

Reinstatement and Second Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as April 6, 2011, between
Oxford Trail JV LLC and Trail Creek Apartments, LLC

Multifamily Mortgage, Assignment of Rents and Security Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2011, between
Stone Rise Apartments, LLC and Jones Lang LaSalle, L.L.C.

Multifamily Note dated as of April 15, 2011, by Stone Rise Apartments, LLC in favor of JonesLang LaSalle,
L.L.C

Multifamily Deed to Secure Debt, Assignment of Rents and Security Agreement dated as of April 21, 2011,
between PAC Summit Crossing, LLC and Prudential Multifamily Mortgage, Inc.

Multifamily Note dated as of April 21, 2011, by PAC Summit Crossing, LLC in favor of Prudential
Multifamily Mortgage, Inc.

Multifamily Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents and Security Agreement dated as of April 29, 2011, between
Trail Creek Apartments, LLC and Jones Lang LaSalle, L.L.C.

Multifamily Note dated as of April 29, 2011, by Trail Creek Apartments, LLC in favor of Jones Lang
LaSalle L.L.C.

Note in the amount of $6,000,000 dated as of June 30, 2011 by Oxford Hampton Partners LLC to Trail Creek
Mezzanine Lending, LLC

Mezzanine Loan Agreement dated as of June 30, 2011 among Oxford Hampton Partners LLC and Trail
Creek Mezzanine Lending, LLC

Purchase Option Agreement dated as of June 30, 2011 by and between Oxford Hampton Partners LLC and
Trail Creek Mezzanine Lending, LLC

Subscription Escrow Agreement, between Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc. and UMB Bank, N.A.
First Amendment to Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc. 2011 Stock Incentive Plan

Form of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc. 2011 Class B Unit Award Agreement

Form of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc. 2012 Class B Unit Award Agreement

Intellectual Property Assignment and License Agreement between Preferred Apartment Advisors, LLC and
Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.

Trademark License Agreement between Preferred Apartment Advisors, LLC and Preferred Apartment
Communities, Inc.

Trademark Assignment between Preferred Apartment Advisors, LLC and Preferred Apartment Communities,
Inc.

Note in the amount of $6,103,027 dated as of May 7. 2012 by Oxford Summit I| LLC to Summit Crossing
Mezzanine Lending, LLC
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Mezzanine Loan Agreement dated as of May 7, 2012 among Oxford Summit |1 LLC and Summit Crossing
Mezzanine Lending, LLC

Purchase Option Agreement dated as of May 7, 2012 by and between Oxford Summit I LLC and Summit
Crossing Mezzanine Lending, LLC

Credit Agreement dated as of August 31, 2012 among Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., Preferred
Apartment Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., the lenders party thereto and KeyBank National
Association

Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of August 31, 2012 among Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.,
Preferred Apartment Communities Operating Partnership, L.P., Trail Creek Mezzanine Lending, LLC,
Summit Crossing Mezzanine Lending, LLC, Iris Crosstown Mezzanine Lending, LLC, City VistaMezzanine
Lending, LLC, City Park Mezzanine Lending, LLC and KeyBank National Association

Guaranty dated as of August 31, 2012 by each of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc., Trail Creek
Mezzanine Lending, LLC, Summit Crossing Mezzanine Lending, LLC, Iris Crosstown Mezzanine Lending,
LLC, City VistaMezzanine Lending, LLC, City Park Mezzanine Lending, LLC with KeyBank National
Association

Buy-Sell Agreement dated as of August 31, 2012 between Preferred Apartment Communities Operating
Partnership, L.P. and KeyBank National Association (Trail)

Buy-Sell Agreement dated as of August 31, 2012 between Preferred Apartment Communities Operating
Partnership, L.P. and KeyBank National Association (Summit)

Buy-Sell Agreement dated as of August 31, 2012 between Preferred Apartment Communities Operating
Partnership, L.P. and KeyBank National Association (Rise)

Note in the amount of $12,153,000 dated as of August 31, 2012 issued by Oxford City Vista Apartments
LLC to City VistaMezzanine Lending, LLC

Mezzanine Loan Agreement dated as of August 31, 2012 among Oxford City Vista Apartments LLC and City
Vista Mezzanine Lending, LLC

Purchase Option Agreement dated as of August 31, 2012 between Oxford City Vista Apartments LLC and
City VistaMezzanine Lending, LLC

Note in the amount of $10,000,000 dated as of September 6, 2012 issued by Oxford City Park Development
LLC to City Park Mezzanine Lending, LLC

Mezzanine Loan Agreement dated as of September 6, 2012 among Oxford City Park Development LLC and
City Park Mezzanine Lending, LLC

Purchase Option Agreement dated as of September 6, 2012 between Oxford City Park Development LLC
and City Park Mezzanine Lending, LLC

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated January 16, 2013, between Preferred A partment
Communities, Inc. and each of the Investors

Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 16, 2013, between Preferred Apartment
Communities, Inc. and each of the Investors

Promissory Note dated January 16, 2013, executed by J. Steven Emerson in favor of Preferred Apartment
Communities, Inc.

L oss Sharing Agreement, dated January 16, 2013, among Wunderlich Securities, Inc., Compass Point
Research & Trading, LLC, National Securities Corporation and Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.

Option Exercise Notice relating to Ashford Park and McNeil Ranch, dated January 18, 2013
Option Exercise Notice relating to Lake Cameron, dated January 18, 2013
Form of Stock Transfer Agreement, dated January 18, 2013, among Preferred Apartment Communities

Operating Partnership, L.P., Williams Multifamily Acquisition Fund, LP and Williams Multifamily
Acquisition Fund GP, LLC

Excerpts from the Liquidation Agreement, dated January 18, 2013

Excerpts from the Liquidation Agreement, dated January 18, 2013

Multifamily Deed to Secure Debt, Assignment of Rents and Security Agreement, dated as of January 24,
2013, between Ashford Park LLC and Prudential Affordable Mortgage Company, LLC

Multifamily Note, dated as of January 24, 2013, by Ashford Park, LLC in favor of Prudential Affordable
Mortgage Company, LLC

Multifamily Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2013, between Lake Cameron, LLC and
Jones Lang LaSalle Operations, L.L.C.
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Multifamily Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of January
24, 2013, between Lake Cameron, LLC and Jones Lang LaSalle Operations, L.L.C.

Multifamily Note, dated as of January 24, 2013, by Ashford Park, LLC in favor of Prudential Affordable
Mortgage Company, LLC

Multifamily Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2013, between WAM McNeil Ranch,
LLC and Jones Lang LaSalle Operations, L.L.C.

Multifamily Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of January
24, 2013, between WAM McNeil Ranch, LLC and Jones Lang LaSalle Operations, L.L.C.

Multifamily Note, dated as of January 24, 2013, by WAM McNeil Ranch, LLC in favor of Prudential
Affordable Mortgage Company, LLC

Statement of Computation of Ratios

Subsidiaries of Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Certification of John A. Williams, Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Michagl J. Cronin, Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language). The following materials for the period ended December
31, 2012, formatted in XBRL: (1) Consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2012 and December 31,
2011, (ii) consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010, (iii) consolidated statements of equity and accumulated deficit, (iv) consolidated
statements of cash flows and (v) notes to consolidated financial statements. As provided in Rule 406T of
Regulation S-T, thisinformation is furnished and not filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Filed herewith

Previoudly filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 6 to Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration
No. 333-168407) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 4, 2011
Previoudly filed with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 16, 2011

Previoudly filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration
No. 333-168407) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 4, 2010

Previoudly filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 3 to Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration
No. 333-168407) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 14,
2010

Previoudly filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 2 to Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration
No. 333-168407) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 17,
2010

Previoudly filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 4 to Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration
No. 333-168407) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 20,
2010

Previoudly filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 5 to Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration
No. 333-168407) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 26, 2011
Previoudly filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 9 to Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration
No. 333-168407) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2011
Previoudly filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 7, 2011

Previoudly filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 21, 2011

Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 27, 2011

Previoudly filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 5, 2011

Previoudly filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on July 7, 2011
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as Previously filed with the Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration No.: 333-176604) filed by the
Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 1, 2011

Previoudly filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration
9 No.: 333-176604) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 2,
2011

Previoudly filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 2 to Form S-11 Registration Statement (Registration

an No. 333-176604) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 17,
2011

ag Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on November 25, 2011

Previously filed with the Pre-effective Amendment No. 1 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11

Registration Statement (Registration No. 333-176604) filed by the Registrant with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on March 7, 2012

@0 Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 3, 2012

@ Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 6, 2012

@2 Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 28, 2013

3 Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 23, 2013

s Previously filed with the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 15, 2012

s Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 11, 2012

s Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on September 6, 2012

@n Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on September 11, 2012

(19)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 15, 2013

Date: March 15, 2013

PREFERRED APARTMENT COMMUNITIES, INC.

By: /s/ John A. Williams

John A. Williams
Chief Executive Officer

By: /s Michael J. Cronin

Michael J. Cronin

Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Treasurer

Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s John A. Williams
John A. Williams

/s Leonard A. Silverstein
Leonard A. Silverstein

/9 Michael J. Cronin
Michagl J. Cronin

/s William F. Leseman
William F. Leseman

/9 Steve Bartkowski
Steve Bartkowski

/sl Gary B. Coursey
Gary B. Coursey

/s Daniel M. DuPree
Daniel M. DuPree

/9 Howard A. McLure
Howard A. McLure

/s/ Timothy A. Peterson
Timothy A. Peterson

Title Date

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board March 15, 2013
(Principal Executive Officer)

President, Chief Operating Officer and Director March 15, 2013

Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer March 15, 2013
(Principal Accounting Officer and Principal Financia Officer)

Executive Vice President - Property Management March 15, 2013
Director March 15, 2013
Director March 15, 2013
Director March 15, 2013
Director March 15, 2013
Director March 15, 2013



CORPORATE INFORMATION

Executive Management

John A. Williams
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Leonard A. Silverstein
President and Chief Operating Officer

Michael J. Cronin
Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Treasurer

William F. Leseman
Executive Vice President — Property Management

Board of Directors

John A. Williams
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.

Leonard A. Silverstein
President and Chief Operating Officer
Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.

Daniel M. DuPree
Vice Chairman of the Board and Lead Independent
Director

Steve Bartkowski
Business Development, DPR Construction, Inc.

Gary B. Coursey
Founder, Gary B. Coursey & Associates Architects

Howard A. McLure
Executive Chairman of the Board, Change Healthcare
Corporation

Timothy A. Peterson
Partner and Chief Financial Officer, Altman Development
Corporation

Legal Counsel

Jeffrey R. Sprain
General Counsel and Secretary

Proskauer Rose LLP
New York, NY

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Atlanta, GA

Transfer Agent

Computershare
Canton, MA

Corporate Offices

Preferred Apartment Communities, Inc.
3625 Cumberland Boulevard, Suite 400
Atlanta, GA 30339

Telephone: 770-818-4100
Www.pacapts.com

NYSE MKT: APTS

Safe Harbor Notice

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
or the Exchange Act. Our actual results could differ
materially from those set forth in each forward-looking
statement. Certain factors that might cause such a
difference are discussed in this Annual Report, including
in the section entitled "Forward-Looking Statements"
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. You should
also review the section of this Annual Report entitled
"Risk Factors" for a discussion of various risks that could
adversely affect us.

On November 18, 2011, the Securities and Exchange Commission declared effective our registration statement on Form
S-11 (registration number 333-176604, the "Registration Statement') for our offering of a minimum of 2,000 and a
maximum of 150,000 Units, with each Unit consisting of one share of our Series A redeemable preferred stock, or
Preferred Stock, and one warrant, or Warrant, to purchase 20 shares of our Common Stock which is offered by the
dealer manager on a *‘reasonable best efforts™ basis. This Annual Report shall not constitute an offer to sell or the
solicitation of an offer to buy the securities offered by the Company pursuant to the Registration Statement, nor shall
there be any offer or sale of these securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful
prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. The offering will be made only by

means of a prospectus which is a part of the Registration Statement.








